ROBINSON'S PARADIGMS AND EXERCISES IN SYRIAC GRAMMAR

FIFTH EDITION

J. F. COAKLEY

OXFORD UNIVERSITY PRESS

CONTENTS

1. Introduction	I
2. The script	4
3. Pronunciation	10
4. Pronouns. Particles. Simple sentences	16
5. Nouns and adjectives: gender, number, state	21
6. Pronominal suffixes	26
7. Prepositions. The words - and A	30
8. Verbs. The perfect tense	34
9. Simple nouns with variable vowels	40
10. Participles	45
11. Other nouns with variable vowels	50
12. Miscellaneous and irregular nouns	55
13. The imperfect tense	60
14. The imperative and infinitive. The verb 160	64
15. The ethpe el	68
16. The pa'el and ethpa'al	73
17. The aph'el and ettaph'al. Other conjugations	79
18. Objective pronominal suffixes, 1: attached	84
to the perfect	
19. Objective pronominal suffixes, 2: attached to other forms of the verb	89
20. Weak verbs. Pe-nun verbs	94

viii

CONTENTS

	100			
2 I	. r	'e-	aiapn	verbs

- 22. Pe-yod verbs
- 23. 'E-alaph verbs
- 24. Hollow verbs
- 25. Geminate verbs
- 26. Lamad-yod verbs, 1: the pe'al
- 27. Lamad-yod verbs, 2: other conjugations
- 28. Pronominal suffixes attached to lamad-yod verbs
- 29. Numbers

Appendices

- A. Pronunciation of the bgdkpt letters
- B. The estrangela script. Diacritical points
- C. East Syriac writing and phonology
- D. Dates

Syriac-English glossary

English - Syriac glossary

9

103

ΙQ

III

116

120

125

I 29

I 3

139

141

144

147

149

165

I. INTRODUCTION

The name 'Syriac' comes into English from the word used by classical Syriac writers to denote their community and language, Suryaya (عَافَرُنِيا). This word had, it seems, nothing to do with the Roman province of Syria on the Mediterranean coast, and in fact it was further east, in Edessa, in Mesopotamia, that Syriac emerged as a literary language, starting in the first century CE.

Syriac is a dialect of the Aramaic language, which in turn belongs to the Semitic family of languages. Aramaic was an international language during the time of the Achaemenid Persian empire of the sixth to fourth centuries BCE; but by the time that Syriac emerged, this empire had broken up, and Aramaic subsisted only in various local dialects. Technically, Syriac is one of the 'Eastern' group of these dialects, along with the Aramaic of the Babylonian Talmud, and Mandaic. The Aramaic of Palestine, hypothetically the language of Jesus and represented in writing by (for example) some of the Dead Sea Scrolls, belongs to the 'Western' group of dialects, and is therefore a slightly more distant

¹ Historically, Suryaya has often come into English as 'Syrian' rather than 'Syriac', not only as a noun (as in 'St. Ephrem the Syrian') but also as an adjective (as in 'Syrian Orthodox Church'). The result has been a more or less incorrect association with 'Syria'. The student will usually have to explain to non-specialist friends that Syriac is not the language of the modern country of Syria (which is, of course, Arabic).

relative of Syriac.² Hebrew, a sister language of Aramaic, is more distant yet, although it belongs to the same subfamily usually known as 'Northwest Semitic'. The other major Semitic languages – Arabic, Ethiopic and ancient Akkadian – are further away linguistically, although between Syriac and Arabic there are close historical connections. After the rise of Islam Arabic became the second, and later the first language of many Syriac-speakers, and they sometimes wrote Arabic using the Syriac script. The pronunciation of the two languages also interacted.

The place of Syriac in Semitic linguistics is one reason for studying the language; but there are other and, in fact, more usual ones. In Western biblical scholarship, Syriac has been an important subject since the Renaissance, and many students come to it on account of the ancient Syriac versions of the Old and New Testaments and the tradition of commentary writing. Other students, if not the majority, want to read the works of native Syriac writers of poetry, history, and theology. Still other students have an interest in one or another of the living Syriac churches and their tradition and liturgy. This book attempts to serve those who want to learn the language for any of these kinds of reasons.

In ancient times the Syriac language-area overlapped the Roman and Persian empires. Later, this geo-political division was broadly reinforced by ecclesiastical boundaries, so that the Syriac-speaking communities in the two empires

were more or less isolated from each other. The result was two grammatical traditions, or sub-dialects, within the language, the West Syriac and East Syriac.³ The Syriac script too developed differently away from its oldest form in these two traditions. For reasons of good pedagogy an introductory grammar must choose East or West. In this book the West Syriac tradition will be followed, although with some exceptions (to do with pronunciation, on which see §3 below). An introduction to reading in the other scripts is given in Appendices B and C.

In older literature, often 'Jacobite' (West) and 'Nestorian' (East); but these names are best avoided.

jagivar.

² It is sometimes heard that Syriac is the language of Jesus. That is so only in the sense that both are Aramaic.

The script is written from right to left, and it is cursive: that is, words are written without lifting the pen between every letter, and the letters can take two, or four, different forms depending on their place in a word and the letters around them. The table opposite shows the letters in each form, with the corresponding Hebrew in the last column. The 'transliteration' roughly indicates pronunciation; but on this see the next lesson.

It will be observed that all the letters can connect to a preceding letter (that is, from the right), but that the letters on one of the left is the letters of the left is the left in the left.

The combination lamad-alaph is written μ (or μ - when connected to a preceding letter). Sometimes (although not in this book) the combination alaph-lamad is written -\(\mathbb{L}\).

A curved form of alaph (/) is used in this book at the beginnings of words, but the straight form () is also correct in all positions.

name'	translit- eration	alone	joined on left (l to anothe m both sides	r letter on right	Hebrew
alaph	2	1 or /		٠	1	*
beth	b	9	ے	_	9	۵
gamal	g		-	12	1	٦
dalath		?			•	7
he	h	61			ο,	Π
waw	w	0			٩	1
zayn	z	1			ı	3
ḥeth	ķ	٠	. •••		سا	П
ţeth	ţ	4	b	4	4	Ö
yod	у	ų.	•	-	ů.	*
kaph	k	7	ھ	۵	7	<u>ت</u>
lamaa	l l	11	7	7	11	5
mem	m	>0	ەد	70	x	∆
nun	n		t	7	٠	3
semka	ith s	ھى	.ee	•	. (02	Ö
`e	c	<i>w</i>	٨	۸	"	ע
pe	Þ	ھ	ھ	<u> </u>	ھ	Ð
şade	ż	j			J	Z
qoph	q	۵	۵	۵	ھ	P
resh	r	÷				٦
shin	š	<u>.</u>		•	La.	w
taw	t	L			٨	n

The names of the letters are spelled conventionally. For the correct Syriac forms see the headings in the Syriac-English glossary.

The following are models and hints for writing each letter,

Alaph always ends in a down-stroke (not as in Arabic), which extends slightly below the line.

Beth is wider and flatter on top than kaph.

Gamal is almost all below the line and it extends back below a preceding letter.

• Dalath always has a dot below. Cf. resh.

He is the same height as beth.

Zayn is like alaph but shorter, only as high as beth. There is no curved form.

Heth has two spikes. It is shorter than beth, but ideally a little taller than yod.

Teth. The loop goes below the line.

Yod is a single spike, shorter than nun.

Kaph is narrower and rounder than beth. The tail of the final form bends to the left.

Lamad is the same height as alaph and must be clearly taller than 'e. Some teachers say to aim for an angle of 45°. When it is at the end of a word, the finishing stroke goes up in parallel.

Lamad-alaph. The lamad loses its slant. When it is not connected from the right, the lamad begins on a down-stroke.

Mem. The tail of the final form is turned down.

Nun has exactly the height of beth or he and must be made clearly taller than yod. The final form extends below a preceding letter.

Semkath. Ideally the left loop should be slightly higher than the right.

E is like lamad but shorter. Its slant distinguishes it from nun.

Pe is taller than beth but not as tall as alaph.

Sade has a very small spike, and a large hook below the line.

Qoph always has a finishing stroke to the left, whether it connects to a following letter or not.

Resh always has a dot above. Cf. dalath.

Shin. Aim for a triangular shape, bringing the pen back to fill it in. It must be larger and bolder than yod. A rounder shape (like •) is also acceptable.

Taw finishes with a rightward stroke.

Diacritical points. Syriac is correctly written with a variety of diacritical points intended to distinguish homographs (different words that are spelled alike, for example, i.e. ayda 'which' and i.e. ida 'hand'). These points are generally redundant when pronunciation is specified by vowel-signs as it will be in this book, and they will be omitted in the lessons to follow. (Before reading an unvocalized text, see further on diacritical points in Appendix B.)

There are, however, two particular diacritical marks which will be printed here and should always be written. One of these is the pair of points known as seyame ('things placed') that indicates the plural of nouns, most adjectives, and some verb forms. For example, 'king' is written when writing, it is best to put it near the middle, and over a short letter if possible. The letter resh (i) often attracts the seyame, which then replaces its dot; thus if a 'fruit/fruits'. The other obligatory diacritical mark is the dot over on in certain pronoun suffixes indicating the feminine. (For these see §§6, 18.)

Punctuation. The practice of copyists has always varied. In this book, we follow a system usual among editors. The full point ends a sentence, as in English, and the various double points :: represent divisions within a sentence. There is no question mark.² A more major division in the text is shown by four points ...

Abbreviations may be indicated by a line over the beginning of the word, e.g. (etc.'. softhe word, e.g. (etc.'. sometimes the same line indicates that letters are to be read as numbers (see pp. 136-7); e.g. (as numbers)

Exercises

Write in transliteration, using the English letters in the table on p. 5.3

معدورا الاسم احداده ادرا حداده مدره معدد ادرا المراد المرا

Write in Syriac characters:

sly wrdyn 'lyh ywmt' mdynt' šlmyn klb' 'lyhwn klmdm mtqr' 'msw lhdd' mtl mstkl šhlp l' thw' tlyt' sbr yd' yd'twn mlk mlk' hlpwhy nby' 'm 'mm' ml'k' w'zl dyr' rd' qtl gbr' ttplh 'rkwn 'nš' 'ntt' msybrnwt'

² At least in old manuscripts; but modern writers and editors sometimes use '?'.

³ Some of these words reappear with vowels in the exercise to §3.

3. PRONUNCIATION

This lesson deals with the pronunciation of consonants and vowels, and how this pronunciation is indicated by the writing system.'

Consonants. The letters transliterated as $z \mid m \mid n \mid s \mid r$, and $w \mid y$ when used as consonants, may be pronounced as in English. The others are as follows.

- is a glottal stop; but more often it is quiescent: see p, 14 below.
- corresponds to Arabic ζ , a stronger h than o. Many students, not strictly correctly, pronounce it like ch in German ich (as in Hebrew).
- 4 corresponds to Arabic L, an emphatic t. Most English-speakers do not distinguish it in pronunciation from L.
- w corresponds to Arabic &, a stop far back in the throat, like a gagging sound. Some students succeed in making this sound; some make it a simple glottal stop like \(\).
- ر corresponds to Arabic ص, an emphatic s. The pronunciation ts, borrowed from Hebrew, is conventional.
- and is a sound further back in ق corresponds to Arabic

the throat than 7. It is worthwhile, to avoid misspelling errors later, to try to make this sound distinctive.

is pronounced sh (š).

The letters • • • • L (bgdkpt, pronounced begadkefath) have two alternative pronunciations: 'stopped' (hard) and 'spirantized' (soft). When spirantized,

- ه becomes v.
- g) becomes like Arabic خ, something like French r. Not all students attempt to make this sound.
- , (d) becomes voiced th, as in there.
- (k) becomes like Arabic $\dot{\tau}$, that is, like ch in German acht. Note that this approaches the usual pronunciation of ...
- ه (p) becomes f.
- $\mathbf{L}(t)$ becomes unvoiced th, as in thin.

(In transliteration, the spirantized letters are often shown with underlines: \underline{b} \underline{g} \underline{d} \underline{k} \underline{p} \underline{t} .) In some manuscripts and printed books, especially the Bible, the hard and soft pronuniciations are indicated by dots: a dot above the letter, known as qushaya ('hard'), or below, rukaka ('soft'). Thus, is pronounced b and is pronounced v, etc. (Notice that must be dalath with qushaya, not resh.)

Generally, a bgdkpt letter is spirantized after a vowel, and otherwise pronounced hard. Most of the time this rule is

In this lesson and occasionally in later ones, Syriac is written in English letters. This is simply to help with pronunciation, and there is no attempt at a consistent or scientific system.

² Properly, quššāyā (مَعْمُنَا) and rukkākā (الْمُعُمُّةُ). To distinguish these dots from other diacritical points they are sometimes written in red in manuscripts. In print they should ideally be smaller.

easy to apply, but sometimes it is not. An indistinct vowed (in Hebrew, vocal shewa) before a bgdkpt letter will cause it to be spirantized, and a letter that is doubled is always pronounced hard. Syriac does not show either of these things in the writing system and, unless the text actually uses qushaya and rukaka points, the reader has to decide on pronunciation from knowledge of grammar and some supplementary rules. To avoid overloading the present lesson these rules are set out in Appendix A, and they should become familiar by experience. In this book, qushaya and rukaka are supplied when the pronunciation is unexpected or might be in doubt, at least on the first occurrence of a word and in the Syriac-English glossary.

Vowels. Anciently, some vowels became part of the spelling of words, using the letters waw (for o and u), yod (for i and e), alaph (for a, \bar{a} , e, i) and he (for a and e). For example:

Later, a system of vowel-signs was superimposed; or rather, each of the two traditions of pronunication, East and West, developed its own system of vowel-signs. The West Syriac vowel-signs, based on Greek letters, are ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' In this book we use these signs, although, following the custom of scholarly Syriac, we depart from the West Syriac tradition of pronunciation in two places, in order to preserve a

more original phonology. First: the sign 'will indicate ā (as in father). Second: we will distinguish an additional vowel o and indicate it by a dot above the letter waw in place of the yowel-sign *. Thus we have the following:

sign ⁵	value	used alone	with vowel letters	value
9	ā	دُ.	حُم ,حُا	bā
(a	ځ	·	ba
7	e	3	څه , څړ , څ	be
e" #	i	خ	خ (رحة or خ	bi
4	и		حة	bu
	o		حة	bo.

Vowel letters are always used when the vowel is o, and almost always when it is u. (The common words kul 'every' and metul 'because' are exceptional in not being spelled with o. b. Likewise, the sign does not very often appear without yod or alaph. As shown above, waw attracts the vowel-sign over itself, and yod may also do this. Otherwise, the sign is written on the preceding consonant. The vowel-signs (but not usually may go upside down below the letters if there is not room above; thus

Both these points are, in fact, features of the East Syriac vowel system. For other differences in this system, see Appendix C.

⁴ That is, rather than o, the West Syriac pronunciation. So we transliterate $\Delta \Delta = k t \bar{a} b \bar{a}$, not k t o b o.

⁵ By name the signs are: 'zkāpā; 'pṭāḥā; 'rbāṣā; 'hbāṣā; 'sāṣā. (These names will not be used again in this book.)

More correctly, these are *kol* and *metol*, but the o vowel cannot be shown when the waw is not written, and the West Syriac pronunciations with u are conventional.

Occasionally it is useful to make the distinction between 'long' and 'short' vowels. The vowel ' is always long; ', 'and o are usually long; ' may be long (and is always so when spelled - a'-) or short. The vowel ' is always short.

Alaph and yod. After another consonant alaph is usually 'quiescent'; that is, it simply carries the vowel of that consonant, as in hip kipa 'stone'. Alaph can also have its own vowel (and it must do so at the beginning of a word), as in 'akel' 'akel' 'eats'. But if it is preceded by a vowelless consonant, its vowel moves over onto that consonant, as in dakel (from d-'akel) 'who eats'. Yod is somewhat the same If it would be without a full vowel at the beginning of a syllable, it assumes the vowel i, as in like ihudaye 'Jews' These rules for alaph and yod will be frequently referred to in the grammar to come.

Silent letters. Occasionally spelling does not follow pronunciation exactly. In a text with vowel-signs, a consonant that is silent may be indicated by linea occultans, a short line (lit, 'hiding line') written under the letter, for example in hiding line') written under the letter, for example in mditā (not mdintā), hid nāšā, hid āzā. In suffixes and in a few common words, silent letters are not always marked at all, e.g. hid ak (not ayk) 'as'.

The words from p. 12, supplied with vowel-signs, are:

اهُمْ Muše كُنْ $h\bar{a}len$ حَهْ $tu\bar{b}$ مِنْ sim خَافُا $kip\bar{a}$ مَنْ $kt\bar{a}beh$.

The following are further examples of words vocalized, with their pronunciation:

ا شاخل malkā

lijo wardā

المنظ yarḥā

riše Ļóm hwā<u>t</u> (or h'wā<u>t</u>) oś<u>m</u> waw m'malālu الْمُنْكُونُ urḥāṯā الْمُضْكِةُ dahḇā.

Exercises

Read the following words aloud. (They are proper names or other terms that might be recognizable.)

قَطَأُهُ هَا مُعَدِّدًا وَمُوْهَدُهِ لَهُ مَا مُعُوْمٍ مُعَدَّم الْمُووَى مُعَدَّم الْمُواكِلُمُ الْمُعَمِّدُا أَجْرَاهِ مُعَرِّلًا وَلَمَا وَلَمَالًا مَكَمًا لَمَعَ الْمُواكِلِمُ الْمُعَمِّدُا الْمُعَمِّدُا الْمُعَالِمُ الله فَهُ وَمُن اللهِ اللهُ ال

Write the following words in Syriac characters, with vowelsigns and with rukaka and qushaya. You may assume here that i and ei are to be written with yod, and o and u with waw; and that words ending in -ā end in alaph in Syriac.

rišānā šubhā galya<u>t</u> 'e<u>t</u>ḥzi hwā<u>t</u> šmayā l'aylein nmalel °abdā ţu<u>b</u>ān hālein 'amirā ahay `āmrin parşopā sawmā šlihā sā'em sagicā hayment ş<u>b</u>u<u>t</u>ā *'lawhy* sāymin 'damā mmalālu pe<u>t</u>gāmā. q<u>d</u>āmaykon malpānu<u>t</u>ā

4. PRONOUNS. PARTICLES. SIMPLE SENTENCES

Pronouns are of four kinds: personal, demonstrative, interrogative, and relative. The personal pronouns are as follows:

person		gular	plu	ıral
ıst	(ئا	I	رقم	we
2nd masculine	/ُينا	you (m.)	/أيناه	you (m.)
2nd feminine	أيكاس	you (f.)	ريثني	you (f.)
3rd masculine	őos	he	رفنة	they $(m.)$
3rd feminine	۵Ón	she	رحأة	they (f.).

For the 1st person pl. there is a longer and less common form المُسَلِّلُ (nahnan). Note also the silent letters in المُسِلِّلُ (aton) and المُسِلِّلُ (aton). المُسِلِّلُ (aton).

A personal pronoun may be used to make a simple A-is-B sentence, e.g.

You are king. مُكْمُوا /يُكِم.

In such sentences, the 1st- and 3rd-person pronouns have shorter, so-called enclitic, forms:

	sing.	pl.
ıst	<u>/</u> ئا	رثي
3rd masc.	ବ୍ର	رُسُ
3rd fem.	∟ <u>o</u>	(آئے

The 3rd sing. forms are shown with no vowel. If they follow a word ending in a vowel, they form a diphthong with -w or -y. Thus we have مُكْمُعُ (malktay) 'She is queen'. In the masculine, the diphthong -āw becomes -aw, giving مَكْمُعُ (not مَعْمُمُ) malkaw 'he is king'. Following a consonant,

these enclitics become son and con, for example after the com-('who?') giving son to and con two is he/she?' The combination son son becomes con the is' or 'it is he'.

The demonstrative pronouns are as follows:

ie aemonstratie	promise		1	
	sin	g.	pl	
	masc.	fem.	masc.	fem.
this, these	ەئر	اؤة	لمح	
that, those	ဝင်း	Lós	رفنة	حأفا

There are also shorter forms on (for 100) and on (for 130), less commonly seen. With the enclitic pronoun, 100 becomes on, and 1300 becomes on 1500, both meaning 'this is'. The demonstratives can also be adjectives, coming before or after the noun, as in 100 for this man', 100 for those women'.

The interrogative pronouns are most usually:

The combination with the 3rd-person masculine enclitics is generally written as a single word: مُعْنَا (for فَقِ مِنْ) 'who is ?' and مُعْنَا (for مُعْنَا مِنْ) 'what is ?'. With the feminine there is no contraction, e.g.

اَوْمُ نُوا اِسَا What is this?

Other words for 'what?' are في (not to be confused with في) and فيد.

Another set of interrogative pronouns is:

§4 PRONOUNS

Syriac has four *inseparable particles*, so called because they are written as prefixes to the following word.

in, with

, of

o and

> to, for.

When prefixed to a word, if the following letter has a vowel, then the particle is attached without any vowel, e.g.

If the letter has no vowel, the particle takes the vowel a:

$$-$$
 + مَمْنِيمُا = مَمْنِيمُا in the city .

The same rule applies if another particle is then attached: فَكُونَاكُونُ 'and of the king', المُونَاكِينُ 'and in the city'. If the first letter of the word is alaph, the vowel moves onto the particle, e.g.

The same thing happens with a word beginning with -2:

$$-$$
, + w ; = w ; who knew.

those who are in the city
م و المحمود الله و الله

More constructions involving - will appear later in connection with verbs (§8ff.).

In A-is-B sentences using a personal pronoun, the pronoun comes after the predicate, or at least the first word of the predicate. Thus:

Are you the king of the Jews?

Strictly, the pronoun agrees in person with the logical subject. Thus, there is a difference in meaning between

you are the queen

(which would answer the question 'Who are you?'), and

the queen is you

(which would answer the question, 'Who is the queen?'). Sometimes, however, this distinction is hard to see, as with الْمُرُا لِمُنْ 'It is I' (more usual than مِنْ الْمُرَا). There is little difference between الْمُمُنَّ عَمْاً اللهِ مِنْ مَنْ عَمْاً اللهُ اللهُ عَمْاً اللهُ عَا اللهُ عَمْاً اللهُ عَمْاً اللهُ عَمْاً اللهُ عَمْاً اللهُ عَمْدُا اللهُ عَمْاً اللهُ عَمْاً اللهُ عَمْاً اللهُ عَمْاً اللهُ عَمْ اللهُ عَمْاً اللهُ الل

Vocabulary

	مُكَمُّا . king; pl	مدرمندا	city(%)
المحدد	$\operatorname{Ring}_{f}(f)$	حكُحًا	book; pl. عماية
م حدما	queen (f.)	ھەقتارا	commandments
المار	woman, wife;		house $(m.)$
	pl. لَچٌا (f.)	نمده هما	
	man	تعده همر	servant; pl. ا
حزا	son		
حُناأ	daughter (f.)		truth
1657	God		Syriac
	teacher (m.)	•	language
	teacher (f.)	مدةها	Moses

Exercises

Translate into English:

11. وَنُهُ كُفُنًا وَهُ . هِمُؤْمُنَا وِهِ .

Translate into Syriac:

1. these kings; those books; which women? 2. I am the man; you are the king; we are the women. 3. Who are you (m.)? Are you the king's servant? 4. She is the wife of the king. 5. They are the servants of the king of the city. 6. These commandments are in the law of Moses. 7. I am a teacher (f.) to (use \(\Delta\)) the king's daughter. 8. Which one is the Syriac book? It is this one. 9. You (m.) are a teacher of the truth. 10. These are, in truth, the commandments of God. 11. What is the language of that city?

5. NOUNS AND ADJECTIVES

Nouns and adjectives are inflected according to gender, number and state. Of these categories, gender (masculine and feminine) and number (singular and plural) correspond to the same features of other languages. The three states (absolute, emphatic, construct) are a feature of Aramaic, and require some explanation.

For nouns, the absolute state is the most basic form, although in Syriac it is used in only a few constructions (see below). Most of the time, including in dictionary entries, a noun is found in the emphatic state, which almost always has an alaph (1'-), or if feminine taw-alaph (1'-), on the end. In older Aramaic this ending had the sense of a definite article, but that has been lost in Syriac. Thus, 1'-, a noun in the emphatic state, can mean either a house or the house. The third state, the construct, is a form of the noun that can be used directly before another noun to make a genitive. This state too is relatively little used in Syriac, the genitive being more usually expressed with -?

For adjectives, both absolute and emphatic states are used: the absolute when an adjective is in the predicate, and the emphatic when it is attributive. Thus, أَحُدُوا اللهُ means 'The king is good', but المُحُدُولُ أَحُدُا لُمُوا اللهُ 'a (or the) good king'. An

¹ But in J. Payne Smith's Compendious Syriac Dictionary (Oxford 1903), many (not all) nouns are quoted in the absolute state.

adjective alone in the emphatic state is the same as a noun; for example, it is the Evil One', is 'great one - master'.

The normal inflectional endings, attached to both nouns and adjectives, are the following:

	masc	uline	£ •	
about .	sing.	pl.	femi	nine
absolute		بغ	sing.	pl.
emphatic	į,	12	P	€*
construct		,	ſĹ	۱Ĺ٠
		ر <u>د</u> *	L*	12
			-	1,

In the feminine sing, emphatic the 1, being a bgdkpt letter, is pronounced soft after a vowel but also sometimes after a consonant. For some general rules see Appendix A. It is best to remember individual nouns as they are met.

Attaching the endings to the adjective & we have:

	maso	uline	. —9 w∈ 1	
absolute	sing. طم	pl. رغٰہ	fem sing.	ninine pl.
emphatic construct	اعل مل	لمَخِا لمُخِا	الم المحل المحل	المجل المجل محا

Notice that the plural forms of adjectives all take seyame except the masculine absolute.

Examples of nouns – here, Like m., and like f. ('synagogue') – in all three states are:

				
		uline	£	
_	sing.	pl.		nine
absolute	حدُم	A	sing.	pl.
emphatic		حفف	مُمْمُ	•
	مكُحُا	ممُخِا		رهُ هُنه
construct	دلُم	Ł	الممقنه	منفضد
	C112	ھگچ	مة مُع	•
				مققم

A few nouns are more or less indeclinable, notably foreign words like (εὐαγγέλιον) 'gospel'. The plurals of these words have to be learned individually.

The nouns and adjectives dealt with in this lesson are the simplest kind, in which the inflection does not change the vocalization of the stem. Other nouns and adjectives, with 'variable vowels', are treated in §§9-11, but some will be met in their ordinary emphatic form before that.

Nouns in the absolute state are used in three main constructions: after numbers (see §29); after the words $\overset{\bullet}{\sim}$ 'every' and $\mathring{\beta}_{?}$ 'without'; and in some set phrases especially where the noun is repeated. Examples are:

every city
ابْ مَاتَّد مُلْتُ
two books
stone upon stone
مُلُّا كُمُ

Examples of phrases using the construct state are:

the people (lit. sons) of the city head of the monastery – abbot.

An adjective that is attributive (as in 'the good king') goes after the noun, and agrees with it in gender, number and state. An adjective that is in the predicate (as in 'the king is good') will be in the absolute state, agreeing with its referent in number and gender. Adjectives in the predicate can take enclitic pronouns in the same way as nouns. Thus:

the holy apostles مكتشا مبتنقا متنقا متنقا مكتشا مكتشا مكتشا The apostles are holy.

§5 NOUNS AND ADJECTIVES

Some feminine nouns look, and are inflected, as if they were masculine, e.g. اِهُوْمُ 'stone', pl. عُلِقَا . (This is notably the case with parts of the body that are in pairs, e.g., اِهِهُ 'hand'.) Some other feminine nouns look masculine just in the plural, e.g. مُعْدَاهُ 'word', pl. اِهُمُّهُ. Remember, however, that any adjective modifying a feminine noun must also be feminine, e.g., مُعْدَاهُ مُنْهُ مُنْهُمُونُ 'holy words'.

Vocabulary²

ھُل	just (adj.)	أميا	hand (f.)
ھُ	old (of a person)	ۆچ	great; f. إُخْا
هُکُمز	beautiful, fine	أحمًا	head, chief
ځیم	evil	مُحدُا	word (f.); pl. مُعْلِلًا
هُزُمز	true	صلہ	good
مُنرِّمه	holy	Ú	not
منتعم	wise	,ئار	without
الْحُمُّا	blessed one $(m.)$	ُ محمَّسُا	Christ
حُافًا	stone (f.)	رمنكيوة؟	gospel
أحكئ	disciple	مكشا	apostle
دئب	blessed		

Exercises

Translate into English:

- 2. أُوَّيْكُنُ فَبُمُا ; مُكَفُنًا هَوَّتُنَا ; نَدِبًا سَفَعُدا.

3. مُثِلًا وُمِكْتِمًا لِمُجْتُلُ دَوْنًا مِمُخُلِ أَنْسِ.

4. هَلَهُ أَكْمُوا هَزْمَال هَوْمُهُ مُحِدًا وَالْكُول.

5. لَمُحْمَ وَهُمُ مُنْ مُنْ فَا وَالْكُمُا.

6. مُكفُنهُ أَا: مُفْتِمُ مُلِّا هُكي.

7. دأنف أسك ومُنكفِرُ أن وُحدُواً .

8. هُفُمُّا فَلا فَاق وِحُمرُمِيمُا.

9. حَمْدُا مَنْمِدُا مُؤْا. خَلْمًا مِنْ الْكُمُا.

١٥. شَفْعُنِ أَنِي وُمِقًا مَرْمِيكُا.

Translate into Syriac:

1. a wise woman; wise women. 2. a word in the book of the holy apostle. 3. The commandments of the law are holy and just and true. 4. We are disciples of Moses and not of the Evil One. 5. The words of the gospel are true in every language. 6. The blessed ones are in the hand of God. 7. Who are the true apostles in this city? 8. This is the book of the great teacher (m.). 9. What is the law of Christ? It is a just law. 10. The law and the gospel are in these blessed books. 11. Which woman is in the book of holy women?

² In the vocabularies from now on, adjectives appear in the masculine absolute state, and nouns in the emphatic.

6. PRONOMINAL SUFFIXES

When the possessive case of a pronoun is used in English (e.g. 'my book'), it is represented in Syriac by a shortened form of the pronoun attached as a suffix to the noun it qualifies. There are two sets of these suffixes, called 'singular' and 'plural' for short – these names referring to the noun taking the suffix, not the pronominal suffix itself.

The 'singular' suffixes are as follows. They are attached to all singular nouns, and also to feminine plural nouns.

	singular	plural
ıst	L.	₹
and masc.	7	رفع
and fem.	رفع,	جغ
3rd masc.	on ²	رفص
3rd fem.	ອ້າ	رة

The 'plural' suffixes, attached to masculine plural nouns, are as follows:

	singular	plural	
ıst	u"	ر '	
2nd masc.	"منو	'خف'	
and fem.	″معت	رثث ً	
3rd masc.	പത്ര ്	رفصت	
3rd fem.	ò"	حائد"	

Notice the diacritical point which must be written over the on of the 3rd feminine singular in both sets of suffixes.

The suffixes are attached to nouns after dropping the from the end of the emphatic state. The following shows suffixes attached to the singular and plural of a masculine noun (with invariable vowels), عمُخا, pl. عمُخا.

	sing. p	ronoun	pl. pr	onoun
ıst	ھگھ	my book	•	our book
and m.	دگخہ	your "	ممُحجن	your "
and f.	حمُحُف	your "	مذحقع	
3rd m.	حمده	his "	ممُحمن	their "
3rd f.	حكُدُه	her "	حمُحمُ	their "
ıst	مدُّت	my books	ھگجے	our books
2nd m.	ڡۿؙڿؚؖٮؠ		ڡۿؙڿؚؖٮٝڡڣ	your "
and f.	حمُّجَّــعُب	your "	ڡۮؙڿؠڡٛؠ	your "
3rd m.	4 .	his "	ڡۮؙڿؠ؈ڣ	their "
3rd f.	ڡۮؙڿۜؠۄٙ	her "	ڡۿؙڿؚؖ؈ۛؠ	their "

Notice the pronunciation of some of these forms:

 ktab
 (the suffix is not pronounced)

 ktabek
 and

 ktabayk
 (final in not pronounced)

 ktabaw
 (neither or nor final in pronounced)

Feminine nouns also drop the l'- before adding suffixes. Thus, اعنهٔ (synagogue', pl. عنهٔ عَمْدُ :

sing	. prono	un	pl. pronoun		
دنهٔ ها Ist	my sy	nagogue	عدةُ حمَّهُ ع	our syn	agogue
عدة مناب 2nd m.			منةمخمة		
عبة مأحب . 2nd f		**	حنةُمكرقِّح	your	**
grd m. ത്രീകര്ച്ച		**	حنةمكاهن	their	17
3rd f. oikaáia		"	లుక్షాత్తు	their	,,

§6 PRONOMINAL SUFFIXES

The same remarks about pronunciation apply to the feminine forms: about is knušt, etc.

The genitive relation may be expressed in Syriac in three ways: using the construct state; using the emphatic state together with the relative -•; and by the use of both the possessive pronominal suffix and -•. Thus 'the teacher's book' may be المُعَامُ مَعُمُمُ مَا اللهُ مَعْمُ مَا اللهُ مَعْمُ مَا اللهُ مَعْمُ مَا اللهُ مَعْمُ اللهُ مَعْمُ اللهُ مَعْمُ اللهُ مَعْمُ اللهُ ا

Vocabulary

حمكنا	heaven	مةحفئا	doctrine
منةحقا	synagogue 🙌	,	prophet
مكعا	peace	گە	not (= og 🌡)
هة مُدا	mouth	7َوْدُا	land, earth (f.);
وَمزُا	monastery (f.)		أَوْدُهُا . pl
	pl. Lis	ڭخا	heart
کمینمار	many (pl.);	وة جُذَا	way of life $(pl.)$
· » • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	emph. ا	شەەۋۇشا	Jew
خناا	church (f.)	ئەڭ	Greek (adj.)
,- <u>1</u> .	غَبُّاً. pl. الْجُدُّا	حثمصت	Christian (adj.)

Exercises

Translate into English:

- I. هَكُمُ ; وَمُمْعِف ; هَكُمُوه ; فَقُعِوه) ؛ أَكْمُعِب ; فَقَوْرُلُوهِ ع
 - 2. زُوْدُكُمُ مِن مَرْسِيكُمْ ; دُرِاجُم ; مَنْ مُعَمِّمُ مِنْ
 - 3. مُكلِّا وَاكْدُا حِدْمُونِ وَبَدْيًا.
 - 4. هَمْ إِلَا تُقَالُمُ وَحَبُّتُ اللَّهُ وَمِرْتُ اللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ وَمِرْتُ اللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ وَا
 - 5. هُنُا أَنِنَ وَهُ كُتَّمِهُ وَهُرَّيِّهُ الْمُكْبِ.
 - 6. مُبُهُم أَنهُ هَمُ قِيمَه وَبَكُتُوا وَوِيُّكُوا وَوَيْكُوا وَوَيْدُوهُ وَالْحَدُونِ وَالْحَدُونِ
 - 7. هَفُتنُ ﴿ ثُبَ دُبُّانُهُ وَمِرْمِيكُا وُدِهُ ضِكُرُهُ.
 - 8. مَمُدُونِ مَكْمُنُا يُونُنَا أَنِي.
 - و. عَفْيعُوا وم مُحَكِفْتِهُ وعَفْيمْتِي مَوْكَفُلْتِهُ.
 - ١٥. وَمَا اهُوان كُو خَامِهُ روم وَاكْدُوا.

Translate into Syriac, using suffixed forms where possible:

7. the law of God (write this in three ways). 2. the land of the Jews. 3. the doctrines of the Greeks. 4. Is his teacher not a prophet? 5. His way of life is good and true. 6. Words of peace are in her mouth and in her heart. 7. You (m.) are evil prophets and your words are not true. 8. Heaven and earth are God's. 9. The synagogues of that land are many. 10. The church of the Christians in the city is fine.

7. PREPOSITIONS. THE WORDS - AND A

In §4 we dealt with the prepositions -> -, -\(\times\), which are prefixed to their objects. Other prepositions are separate words, as in English.

When a preposition has a pronoun as its object, the appropriate pronominal suffix is attached to the preposition in the same way as to a noun. Some prepositions take the 'singular' suffixes, others the 'plural'. The following are some of the most important prepositions. (Prepositions with 'variable vowels' will appear in §11.)

- -\(\sigma\) 'to, for'. Singular suffixes: \(\sigma\) etc. (as for -\(\sigma\)). -\(\sigma\) is also used before the definite direct object of a verb (see §8).
- 'from'. Singular suffixes: هُنُو ,هُنُو ,هُنُو ,هُنُو ,هُنُو , فَكُلُو , هُنُو ,هُنُو , هُنُو , etc. Also expressed with مُع are the comparative and partitive:

الْمُعَمَّا الْمُعَمَّا فَعَمَا فَعَلَمُ عَلَيْهِ فَعَمْ فَعَلَمُ عَلَيْهِ فَعَلَمُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْ

'along with'. Singular suffixes: مُعد ('am) 'with me', etc.

'because of, for the sake of'. Singular suffixes are attached to the form - هُوَكُمْ ; thus,

مَعْمُولًا عَهُونُكُمُ for us and for our salvation.

With - added, مُنْ فَعُ becomes the conjunction 'because': الْمُعَامِينِ الْمُعَلِّمِينِ الْمُعَلِّمِينِ الْمُعَامِينِ الْمُعِلَّمِينِ الْمُعَلِّمِينِ الْمُعَلِّمِينِ الْمُعَامِينِ الْمُعَامِينِ الْمُعَلِّمِينِ الْمُعَلِينِ الْمُعَلِينِ الْمُعَلِينِ الْمُعِلَّمِينِ الْمُعَلِينِ الْمُعَلِينِ الْمُعَلِينِ الْمُعَلِينِ الْمُعَلِينِ الْمُعِلَّمِينِ الْمُعِلِي الْمُعِلَّمِينِ الْمُعِلِي الْمُعِلَّمِينِ الْمُعِلَّمِينِ الْمُعِلِي الْمُعِلَّمِينِ الْمُعِلِي الْمُعِلَّمِينِ الْمُعِلَّمِينِ الْمُعِلِي الْمُعِلِينِ الْمُعِلَّمِينِ الْمُعِلَّمِينِ الْمُعِلَّمِينِ الْمُعِلَّمِينِ الْمُعِلَّمِينِ الْمُعِلَّمِينِ الْمُعِلِي الْمُعِلَّمِينِ الْمُعِلَّمِينِ الْمُعِلِي الْمُعِلِي الْمُعِلَّمِينِ الْمُعِلَّمِ الْمُعِلَّمِينِ الْمُعِلَّمِينِ الْمُعِلَّمِينِ الْمُعِلِي الْمُ

مَنْمُ 'among, between'. كُنْتُ takes singular suffixes; for حُنْتُ plural suffixes are attached to the form حُنْتُ. Thus: 'among them'. Notice also

between me and you.

Another form of this preposition is (unrelated to 'house'), not used with suffixes.

- Singular suffixes: e.g., اهُكُمُ لَهُمُ الْمُعُلِمُ 'peace among ourselves and toward God'.
- 'like, as'; pronounced ak. Singular suffixes are attached to the form -لفاً ; thus المُعَامِّ , مُعَامِّ , مُعَامِّ , فعامِهُ , etc.
- الله 'upon, over, concerning, unto'. Plural suffixes are attached to the form علاء (with no vowel); thus ملكم, دكموم , دكم ,
- 'under'. Plural suffixes are most usually attached to a different form, -انما; e.g.

مَا مُعَالَمُ مُعَالِمُ on the earth and under it.

- 'before', either in space or in time. Plural suffixes.
- The preposition does not take suffixes, but singular suffixes are attached to the form to make an emphatic possessive. For example,

 verb than a preposition. Without a suffix, it means 'there is' or 'there are'. The negative is $\Delta \Delta (= \Delta \lambda')$ 'there is not'. Used with the preposition Δ it takes on the meaning 'to have'. Examples are:

there is no water there we have a law.

With suffixes (always plural), however, \triangle functions as a linking verb. This construction is an alternative to the simple personal pronoun learned in §4. Thus:

you are king مُحَمَّا الْمُسَوِّ they are Christians.

when used with suffixes (singular) means 'all' or 'the whole', and any following noun must be in the emphatic state. Notice the different expressions

every book غلا همُثان فحُلاه همُحُان the whole book all the books.

Vocabulary

فۇئ <i>ى</i> ا	spirit, wind (f.);	ھە زھىرا	salvation
•	pl. usu. 126;	مُنبَِّمر	something, what
	faith (f.)	فلاشترم	everything
•	water (pl.)	ـاًمُح	there
6	temple, palace	لمُنحة أا	grace, favour (f.)
,	امْدُوْا lord; estr. ا	ؤُمُنُا	judge
-	the Lord	مُحَمَّلًا مُعْتُل	why?

Exercises

Translate into English:

my teacher.

- دكى ; مُدَهُلاهُ وَإِ رُحِهُ أَحِهُ : مَوْمُدهِ عَامُدهِ عَامُده عَامُده عَامُده عَامُ عَلَيْ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْ عَلَيْ عَلَيْ عَلَيْ عَلَيْ عَلِي عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْ عَلَيْ عَلَيْ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُمْ عِلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمْ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلِي عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلِي عَلَيْكُمُ عَلِي عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلِي عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلِي عَلَيْكُمُ عَلِم
 - 2. فَلاشْرُم وَالم اشد معكنات
- 3. حَبَالًا أُمُم كُنه لَحَ حَبًّا وَامْمُ خُنهُ وَمُمَّا خُمِمًّا.
 - 4. مُعْنِطُ أَكْنَى وَهُ أَحْدُونِ مُعْزَا فَلا.
- كُمهُ خُداً وَقُد منى مُداره: ملا المُدعدال وسَعُمع منى مكفيه من .
- 6. أمد وَهُ شَا صَحْدَالًا: ومُدنة وه وَالطُّونِ وَمُنا حُدنُدهُ مِ
 - 7. كَنْمُونِ نَحْنًا مَّنْمُوا فَنَهُم إِحْمَاؤُوا كُنْمَ دُوه.
 - 8. حَمَّدَهُ أَا وَالْكُوا أَسَمَّ عُوْم وَاسَمًا.
 - و. حنس أيم شهلا بالمكر معنفاً.
 - 10. أَسَمَ هَجِّدًا وِوَسَكُ أَنِي قَالِمَ وَوَسَكُور.

Translate into Syriac. Use 🗘 + suffix where possible.

- Unto him; from you (f. sing.); before her; for my sake.
- 2. Everything that is in the water and under it. 3. There is a city in which there is a beautiful palace. 4. You blessed ones have the spirit of God among you. 5. I am queen of this city. 6. The land is not ours, and we have no peace. 7. Every city has a synagogue. All kings have wives. 8. We have a wise God. Is there a God like him? 9. Lord, you are the judge of all of us. 10. All my doctrine I have from

8. VERBS. THE PERFECT TENSE

As in other Semitic languages, verbs in Syriac have a root, or stem, consisting of three letters, or 'radicals'. (Some exceptions will appear in §16.) The inflection of the verb is by means of different vowels or doubling applied to these radicals, and by suffixes ('afformatives') and prefixes ('preformatives'). These inflections indicate: 1. conjugation; 2. tense; and 3. number, person, and gender.

r. Conjugations, a feature of Semitic languages, correspond somewhat to the inflections known as 'voices' in Indo-European languages, but they have a wider scope. The names of the conjugations are based on the verb ('to labour') and each name comes from the way that conjugation modifies the three root letters. The names and meanings of the six principal conjugations in Syriac are thus as follows:

pe'al the simple form of the verb;
ethpe'el the passive of the simple form;
pa'el the intensive;
ethpa'al the passive of the intensive;
aph'el the causative;
ettaph'al the passive of the causative.

(Some other less common conjugations will be met in §17.)

The verb used in paradigms is not but but 'to kill'. This verb does not actually appear in all the six conjugations (nor, probably, does any other verb), but it is useful to keep the same root throughout the next few lessons. The various conjugations of look like this in their basic form, the 3rd masc. sing. perfect:

	active	passive
simple	مؤلا	ألممهما
intensive	ڡؙۿؙؗٚ	/ُامُـهُ
causative	?مؤلا	/الأمكلا

The verb is a 'strong' verb: all the root letters are ordinary consonants (not alaph, waw, yod) and the third is not a double of the second. Many other verbs are 'weak'. These fall into classes known as, for example, pe-yod verbs, in which the first radical (corresponding to pe in weak letter yod. In this book the strong verb is treated in all its conjugations first, then each class of weak verb in turn.

- 2. Within each conjugation there are properly two tenses, called perfect and imperfect. The perfect corresponds roughly to the past, and the imperfect to the future. The present is usually expressed by the participle, which is not, formally, considered a 'tense' (see §10). The other forms of the verb are the infinitive and the imperative.
- 3. The perfect and imperfect (the so-called 'finite' forms of the verb) are inflected to make the same distinctions of gender, number, and person as the personal pronouns.

These names are spelled conventionally. More correctly they would be: p'al, etp'el, pa"el, etpa"al, ap'el, ettap'al.

The perfect. This is inflected by adding to the stem the following lowing afformatives:

	sing.	pl.
3rd masc.		٥
3rd fem.	ب با	
2nd masc.	Ŀ	رفإذ
2nd fem.	c k	بأب
ıst	۲,	ę

The pe'al perfect of \sigma is then as follows:

sing.		pl.	
مؤلا	he killed	مهُده	they $(m.)$ killed
فهكم	she killed	مها	they (f.) killed
مجُّدۃ	you (m̃.) killed	رةلاكية	you (m.) killed
ممُّحت	you (f.) killed	مگلام	you (f.) killed
مُجْكِم	I killed	ممكك	we killed.

The ending a- on the 3rd m. pl. is not pronounced. The and m. and f. sing, are both pronounced qtalt. The 1st pl. is ataln. It will be seen that in the 3rd f. sing, and the 1st sing. the vowel is shifted to the first radical. If the third radical is a bgdkpt letter, it then takes qushaya; e.g. مُحْدُهُ 'I wrote'.

The 3rd fem. pl. of the perfect is curiously identical to the 3rd masc, sing. This is the form in older manuscripts and in the East Syriac tradition. In later West Syriac texts it is موت , a spelling intended to distinguish it in writing from but still pronounced qtal.

There are longer forms of the 1st and 3rd plural that distinguish them in pronunciation. These forms, which are not very common, are:

A number of verbs, like 12, 'to fear, be afraid', have the wowel e instead of a in the perfect, and so appear as follows:

Verbs in a like \searrow are mostly transitive. Those in e like are mostly intransitive. There are exceptions, like 🔌 'to fall' and 'to worship'. Verbs with a guttural letter (o, w, or w) or ; for the third radical always have the vowel a rather than e, even if intransitive like out 'to wonder'.

Syntax. There are no hard and fast rules about the order of words in a Syriac sentence. Very generally, if the subject is short, then the predicate, or at least the verb, goes first; but the subject or some other part of the sentence may be moved forward for emphasis.

The particle -> often introduces a direct object that is definite (in English, the instead of a). Thus:

from God.

. كَنْ كَفُمْنُا أِنْكُم. We have kept the command. ment that we received.

Vocabulary²

هذُف	write	څېما	crowd
مؤلا	kill	فَاؤُا	fruit
وشباً (مُنح)	fear, be afraid (of)	مُحلُا	parable
مقدلا	hear	تمة	Jesus
ىخب	do, make	أينزا	letter (f.)
ىھ:	keep	حُب	when, while
امكه	wonder	16;aZx	₄Jerusalem
ക്ഷ	take, receive	ەكنۇمەر	Mary
مكز	cross, transgress	مُلُز	voice
-200	worship	المُحمة	childhood (f .)
ىقَىٰ	fall	ا أُؤْمِر	Adam
عَـــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــ	Eve	•	

Exercises

Translate into English:

يَ أُوْمِ مَنْ وَا حَدُوهِ حَكُمُونِ مَا هُوَمِرُنُهُ وَالْكُولُ.

2. فُلمه مُكْم حَهُ قَبْلًا ثَهِنًا مَع لَمُكلفًا.

§8 VERBS. THE PERFECT TENSE

- 3. ممكح من نعده من أحدث المحدث المعدد عدد المعدد ال
- 4. معَده لَعَمَلًا وِمَلا وَعُلَا حُمِمًا وَايِفِأًا كُحِمُّا.
 - 5. قَمَدُم لَحِمْ مُنْهُلًا مُسْتَقَالًا بُالم لَقُكِ.
- - 7. مُنتِم ثَهِبًا فَكَأْمَ مُثَلِّا هُكُم حَكْدُهُ.
 - 8. مؤده دمدكا مُدخده من تحرَّمون منعده مربيداً.
 - و. /هُزُمكم /هُزُمكم مهَّده، كنختِرا،
 - ١٥٠ احده كلا قلاقموم وبكره مكتشا مكلا فكتهفى.

Translate into Syriac:

were afraid when they heard the voice of God near them.

The women wrote many fine words to the king. 4. God did not keep Jerusalem from the Greeks. 5. In my youth I did not fear God. 6. When I heard those words I fell (down) and worshipped. 7. This fruit that I have is from her, the woman that you made. 8. In Jesus's parable, who are the servants and who is the master? 9. We have heard the commandments of the apostles and have done them. 10. What did he write concerning those who transgressed against the law of Moses?

² In the vocabularies, weak verbs may appear whose full conjugation has to await later lessons (here بهت بهت , المحت ; see §20). The exercises use only forms of these verbs that are regular.

9. SIMPLE NOUNS WITH VARIABLE VOWELS

Unlike the nouns seen in §5 (such as المُعَمَّةُ and الْمَعَمَّةُ), many nouns change the pattern of their vowels when inflected. This lesson deals with the nouns in this class that have three root letters but only one short vowel besides the l'- or الله- of the emphatic state. The masculine and feminine nouns of this kind behave differently.

Masculine-type nouns. Examples are مُحَمَّا (with the vowel a), المُحَمَّا 'body' (with u), and الله 'foot' (with e). (Like some other nouns of this kind, الله أَنْ أَنْ أَنْ actually feminine.)

In the inflection of these nouns, the only difference from nouns like is in the absolute and construct singular. In these two forms, which are the same, the vowel is on the second root letter instead of the first. Usually this vowel is e, thus, i. But there are exceptions.

- a. When the third root letter is a guttural or ;, the vowel is a, as in عشد (abs. of الشعة 'flesh').
- b. When the vowel in the emphatic state is u, this vowel is kept, as in sa. (abs. of).
- c. Some words that had historically two vowels (e.g. إَهُ كِا 'gold', from an original dahabā) keep the vowel a; thus, عَمْنِ Another example is خَا (abs. of أَمَا 'time').

Notice also that, following the rule on p. 14, words starting with a or / need to be supplied with an initial vowel in the

pronominal suffixes are added to these nouns in the familiar way and there is no change of vowels. On مُحَكُمْ, for example, the suffixes are مُحَكُمْ مُحَكُمْ مُحَكُمْ مَحَكُمْ مَحَكُمُ مَحَكُمْ مَحَكُمُ وَمَعَلَمُ مَحَلَمُ مَحَلِمُ مَعْلَمُ مَعْلَمُ مَعْلِمُ مَعْلَمُ مَعْلِمُ مِعْلِمُ مَعْلِمُ مُعْلِمُ مَعْلِمُ مَعْلِمُ مَعْلِمُ مَعْلِمُ مَا مُعْلِمُ مُعْلِمُ مَعْلِمُ مَعْلِمُ مَعْلِمُ مَعْلِمُ مَعْلِمُ مَعْلِمُ مَعْلِمُ مَعْلِمُ مُعْلِمُ مُعْلِمُ مُعْلِمُ مَعْلِمُ مَعْلِمُ مَعْلِمُ مُعْلِمُ مُعْلِم

Feminine nouns. These have the vowel on the second root letter only in the emphatic singular. In all the other forms it moves to the first root letter. Thus the following paradigm is produced. The examples are 1.5 'companion' (with the vowel a; the fem. of 1.5 'male companion'), 1.5 'heifer' (with the vowel e), and 1.5 'measure' (with u).

	sing.			pl.	
emph.	abs.	cstr.	emph.	abs.	cstr.
حدّناًا	ئدا	عدنا	عُذَبُأُا	ئختر	عَدُنا
الجمكرة	بلهد	مكهة	ثقكما	ثتك	ثتكد
محمةسمُا	مدةحشا	مدةمشح	مدةخشما	مؤخثح	مدةششط

The vowel that appears in the other states is usually the same one (a, e, or u) as in the emphatic singular; but there are exceptions, like 1412, abs. of 1414 'groan', so one other form of these words needs to be learned along with the emphatic singular.

Suffixes are added to this group of nouns in the usual way, by removing the ending from the emphatic state. There is

www.malankaralibrary.com

no further change of vowels. Thus for example: سَحَبَالُم 'my companion', سَحَبَالُم 'your (m. sing.) companion', عَجَالُم 'my companions', عَجَالُم 'your (f. pl.) companions', etc.

It is convenient to deal here with another set of feminine nouns which look similar, although strictly speaking they have 'invariable' vowels. Examples are إِصْلِهُمْ 'fear', and أَصْدُوهُمُ 'blessing'. In these words, the vowel stays on the first root letter throughout the inflection. Thus:

sing.			pl.		
emph.	abs.	cstr.	emph. abs. cstr.		
مُحمدُا	مُكفُر	مَحدَد	مُكتِم مُكتِي مُكتِدُا		
ۋسىكدا	ۇسلا	ۋسكك	أبتكم أبتكم أبتكما		
حةوممُا	•	•	حَةَ وَهُمُ حَةَ وَحُ حَةَ وَهُمُ الْمُ		

These forms are all regular. With suffixes, however, there is a variation: on singular nouns an extra vowel a appears before the 1st sing, and the 2nd and 3rd pl. suffixes. The suffixed forms of are thus:

مَا مُعْمَمُ our queen مُاهُمَّمُ our queen مُاهُمَّمُ your (m.) queen مُاهُمَّمُ your (m.) queen مُاهُمَّمُ your (f.) queen مُاهُمُّمُ his queen مُاهُمُّمُ their (m. pl.) queen مُاهُمُّمُ her queen مُاهُمُّمُ their (f. pl.) queen.

Various other feminine nouns that are otherwise inflected regularly like is also follow this pattern of suffixes. These are words in which the suffixes produce a cluster of consonants that is then resolved by the extra vowel: e.g.,

אינאֿם (not אַבְּאַב) 'my city', עַאַּלָּב (not עַלְּאַב) 'my wife', מּבְּאַב (mellat; the lamad is doubled') 'my word'.

With all these feminine nouns, the suffixes on the plural are regular: هَدَهُمْ 'my queens', وَكُنُهُ 'your queens', etc.

Vocabulary

think, suppose	حزَّم	flee
draw near	حثدكك	enemy
companion;	وُجُوْ	here
fem. المكنبأا	مةرحُا	holiness
fear (f.)	محمةسماً	measure, age $(f.)$
blessing (f.)	ككئرا	world, age
gold	اة	again, next
difficult;	لأاةد	no longer
emph. نصفا	ثرحجًا	plant (f.)
body	شمعداً	wisdom (f.)
groan (f.);	ج ۇ	however, but (usu.
pl. المنتشة	2	and word in a clause)
	fear (f.) blessing (f.) gold difficult; emph. الْمُعَمَّدُ body groan (f.);	draw near المُكْرُثُ companion; المُؤَوْمُ fem. الْبَحْدِ الْمُعْدِمُ الْمُعْدُمُ الْمُعْدِمُ الْمُعْدُمُ اللّهُ الْمُعْدُمُ الْمُعْدُمُ الْمُعْدُمُ الْمُعْدِمُ الْمُعْدِمُ الْمُعْدُمُ الْمُعْدِمُ الْمُعْدِمُ الْمُعْدِمُ الْمُعْدُمُ الْمُعْدِمُ الْمُعْدِمُ الْمُعْدِمُ الْمُعْدُمُ الْمُعْدِمُ الْمُعْدِمُ الْمُعْدُمُ الْمُعْدُمُ الْمُعْدُمُ الْمُعْدُمُ الْمُعْدُمُ الْمُعْدُمُ الْمُعْدُمُ الْمُعْدُمُ الْمُعْدُمُ الْمُعْمِعِمُ الْمُعْدِمُ الْمُعْدُمُ الْمُعْدُمُ الْمُعْمِعِمُ الْمُعْمِعِمِ الْمُعْمِعِمُ الْمُعْمِعِمُ الْمُعِمِعِمُ الْمُعِمِعِمُ الْمُعْمِعِمِ الْمُعْمِعِمِ الْمُعِمِمِ الْمُعِمِعِمُ الْمُعِمِعِمُ الْمُعِمِعِمُ الْمُعِمِعِمُ الْمُعِمِمِ الْمُعِمِعِمُ الْمُعِمِمُ

Exercises

Translate into English:

د. مَكَمَمه ; مُحَمَمه ; مُحَمَمه ; مُحَمَمه ; مُحَمَمه .
 د. مُحَمَّه هُنْ نُرِجَمُ مَقْتُ نُحَمَرة .

3. أِسَكُمُا أَحِدُا نُعِكُم مَلًا قَامُا قُكُه.

On doubled letters see Appendix A, p. 139.

- 4. مُكَفِّلًا أَمَا كُم شَمِعُهُمُ مُمَا جُمِهُ جِمِعُهُ.
- 5. مْح حثْكْرْخُكُسەن دُنُمە لُاوْدُهەن زُكەن.
- 6. مَع لُو الله عَمَد شَتَهُمْ وَلِمُ خُلُون صَحَة خُدَمًا وَصَمَّل كُوه.
 - 7. مدهُسُا أَسمُّه وَم شَعِهُمُ إِلَّاهُ أَسْرٍ وَحَمَّد مكسُل.
 - الله وَهُدُّاهِ وَهُ مُنْ حَمُّكُ وَسِكُم أَكُوا أَسُكُم أَكُوا أَسُمُّمُ .
 - و. لَمْحَدُأًا وَالْحُوا ثَهِمًا كَعَرْمِيمًا وَمكى وَلَعَلَقَ وَلَعُلَمَى مَا لَكُوا وَاللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّ اللَّهُ اللَّا اللَّهُ اللَّلَّ اللَّهُ اللَّا اللَّالِي اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّاللَّا اللَّهُ اللَّ
 - or. هُلَّفُ كَيْحَفُمْ لَكُمْ أَنْكُنِهُمْ: حَنَّمَ أَنِي حَلَيْرُكُمْ فَي حَلَيْرُكُمْ أَنْكُنِهُمْ أَنْكُنِهُمْ اللهُ اللهُ

Translate into Syriac:

1. Peace (be) upon you, my companions (f.). 2. They fled from the evils (f.) of the world to a monastery. 3. We Christians are in this world as the body (use the construct) of Christ. 4. The queen took her companion's letter and kept it. 5. I have heard about (use) the measure of your (f. pl.) faith and your wisdom. 6. Every land has a palace for its kings and queens. 7. They kept the body of the blessed one in the monastery. 8. It is a difficult parable, but (use ?) I supposed that it (was) Jesus's own words. 9. Did you (m. sing.) suppose that the teacher (f.) has many disciples? 10. You (f. sing.) have preserved us from our enemies.

10. PARTICIPLES

The verb in the pe'al has an active and a passive participle. For they are:

active killing, a killer passive being killed, one that is killed.

Participles share some characteristics with nouns (or better, adjectives) and some with verbs. In their inflection they are treated like adjectives; but they often function as verbs, and in particular they are used to express the present and other continuous tenses.

Inflection. The forms shown above are the m. sing. absolute. The whole inflection of the active participle is as follows:

sing. pl.
abs. emph. cstr. abs. emph. cstr.
m. الْهُوْ الْمُولَا الْمُولَا الْمُولَا الْمُولِدُ الْمُلِكُ الْمُلْكُونُ الْمُكُونُ الْمُكَلُونُ الْمُكَلُونُ الْمُكَلُونُ الْمُكَلُونُ الْمُكَالُونُ الْمُكَلُونُ اللّٰهِ اللّٰهُ اللّٰهِ اللّٰهُ اللّٰهُ اللّٰهُ اللّٰهُ اللّٰهُ اللّٰهِ اللّٰهُ اللّٰمُ اللّٰهُ اللّٰهُ اللّٰهُ اللّٰهُ اللّٰهُ اللّٰهُ اللّٰهُ اللّٰهُ اللّٰمُ الللّٰمُ اللّٰمُ اللّٰمُ اللّٰمُ اللّٰمُ الللّٰمُ اللّ

In these forms, the first syllable $-\hat{a}$ is unchanging. The vowel e on the second root letter appears just in the masculine sing. absolute and construct, and in the feminine sing. emphatic. When the third root letter of a verb is a guttural or \hat{a} , the occasional vowel in this inflection is not e but a, as in \hat{a} (not \hat{a}) 'keeping'.

The seyame points shown on the masculine absolute plural are written only when this form is used as a noun, and not when it is used as a verb or adjective.

www.malankaralibrary.com

For the passive participle, the inflection is as follows:

This inflection is just like that for مُمُكُما or مُمُكُما, that is, with no changes of vowel.

Active participles as nouns and adjectives. The active participle is formally a kind of nomen agentis ('agent-noun'; in English: killer). It is not, however, the usual one, which in the pe'al is light. (So we have, for example, light 'keeper'.) The participle is more often found in such phrases as:

every killer کُمْ مُکْمُ وvildoers مُحْبَّمُ وُمْمِ مُكْمُورُ وَمُعَالِمُ وَمُعَالِمُ الْمُعَالِمُ الْمُعِلِمُ الْمُعِلَّمُ الْمُعِلَّمُ الْمُعِلِمُ الْمُعِلِمُ الْمُعِلَّمِ الْمُعِلِمُ الْمُعِلِمُ الْمُعِلِمُ الْمُعِلِمُ الْمُعِلْمُ الْمُعِلِمُ الْمُعِلْمُ الْمُعِلِمُ الْمُعِلِ

Ordinary nouns that are active participles in form usually have special meanings, e.g. أَضُمُ 'bird' (f. ptc. of مُنَّه 'fly') and نُعْم 'friend' (m. ptc. of مُعْم 'love').

Active participles as verbs. In the absolute state, the active participle serves to express continuous action in the present. In the 1st and 2nd persons, the subject of the verb is denoted by the enclitic personal pronoun. Some contractions take place between the participle and the pronoun, which may also be written as one word. Thus:

كِيْدٌ كُهُمْ or كَمُهُمْ you (m.) are killing مُهُمُّدٌ وَمَا لِمُهُمْ you (f.) are killing لِمُعْدُلُونُ الْمُعْمُ I (m.) am killing

الْمُ الْمُ الْمُ اللَّهُ مِنْ اللَّهُ الْمُلْمُ الْمُلِمُ اللَّهُ اللْمُلْمُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللْمُلِمُ الللْمُلِمُ اللْمُلْمُ اللْمُلْمُ الللْمُلْمُ اللْمُلْمُ الللْمُ اللْمُلْمُ اللْمُلِمُ اللْمُلْمُ اللْمُلْمُ اللْمُلِمُ اللَ

In the plural forms the -n ending of the participle is not pronounced, even if it is written. The 2nd person pl. forms are thus qāṭliton and qāṭlāten whether written as two words or one. In the 3rd person, the pronoun is omitted if the subject is simply 'he', 'she' or 'they'. Examples of active participles used in various ways as verbs are:

we hear your voice
مَكُ مُكُمْ بُعُمْ we hear your voice
the God whom you worship

آگُونُونُ بُعُمْ اللّٰهُ اللّٰلّٰ اللّٰهُ

The subordination of a participle to a main verb by means of ('when, while') is very frequent, as in:

They approached, running.

Passive participles are used in much the same way as the active. Examples are:

it is written in the law one who is heard of – a famous person.

In a passive construction with the participle, the doer of the action may be introduced by -2, as in

it is heard by us – we hear مُسُمَّهُ كُتُ مِ لَا أَنْ اللهُ اللهُولِيُولِ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ ال

§10 PARTICIPLES

Vocabulary

			7.		
નજું નજું	run		١ُڡٞ٧		
(مد:	say	مُنْ	أكا	accuse, slander	
كبت	know¹		وشعر	love	
ھقص	be enough		ۇستكا	friend (m.);	
وشعر	love			(f.) ؤشعجًا	1.5
مُدامداً	memra,2 treatise		تُعمُ	soul, self $(f.)$;	
مُدن	(my) lord, sir			يُقِمُّمُ <i>pl.</i> إ	14.7
	(vocative), Mar3		حُاؤًا	festival	
خفن	well, finely		څھاڑا	flesh, meat	
تعدا	hope) နို ကိုး	now	
7ُفأِسم	Ephrem		0/	o(vocative)	
تنعفت	Jacob, James			one, a (m.); ⊱	(f.)
فأسفا	bird(s)(f.)			•	

Exercises

Translate into English:

I. كىم كە كىدىا ۋىلىدا كاندە وكە.

2. قَلَّ مَعَ وَهُمَّلًا مُكَت هُكُم مِلًا كُثْمِ لِنَهْمِ أَمْر يَحِمَّا وَهُ وَلِقُلًا كَمْهُم.

3. وُهُمَا عُبُّ إِيثًا وِوُسِلًا أَرِيمَ وَاكْدُوا.

- 4. ئەەۋۋا لُا اُمكى فى فرغار.
- 5. أَمَا وَاحْدَنِي وَحَصْرًا أَيْنَا الكَمَاكُمِينَا: سَلَى فِي أَحْدَبُلُ وَهُي سَبِ وَ لَمُعَتَرَاهِ وَهُ سَبِ وَهُم سَبِ فَي الْحَدَدُونِي .
 - 6. وسُمكن أنف أمكن وهُ لكن كلهمًا في هُ فَكُلُ يَهُ مَعُلًا.
- رَهُ وَهُمْ أَيْهِ أَلِهُ اللَّهُ اللَّالِي اللَّهُ الللَّهُ اللَّهُ الللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ ا
- 8. هَعْمَا كُل وُامِكَ مُعْدَفَى وَوُسِكُم كُم صُحَبًى وَكُمْكَ خَاهُ مُحَدًّا.
 - و. هَهُمْ اللهُ اللهُ عَنْ . هُنِي أَلِ اللهُ عَنْ اللهُ اللهُ عَمْدُوا وَهُ هُكُمُّ .
 - ١٥. دأهه فلاهن مُ هُدأَت ومُنكب حثلت حُديث كعربيه هن.

Translate into Syriac. Use some masculine and some feminine forms.

1. My friends, what are you doing? 2. We are doers of the word, as the blessed James has written in his letter. 3. Are you worshipping the true God? 4. It is enough for her that she has done well. 5. That which I am writing is not for all of you. 6. We keep the festivals, supposing that we have them by God's commandment. 7. Next (51) we write memre composed by Mar Ephrem. 8. I am not afraid of those who accuse me. 9. I suppose that you are the one about whom the prophets wrote. 10. O Lord (lit. my lord), you know everything; you know that I love you.

^{&#}x27; Until §§21-2 these weak verbs will be used only in their active participle forms, which are the same as for strong verbs.

² Or 'metrical homily', a long poetical composition in lines of equal length. The spelling *memra* is East Syriac: see p. 145.

³ The title of a bishop or male saint. The feminine is مُنزِك .

II. OTHER NOUNS WITH VARIABLE VOWELS

The pe'al active participle is an example of a noun with an invariable vowel in the first syllable. There are other such nouns, all inflected in a similar way:

- a. nouns like the participle with a long vowel in the first syllable, e.g. دُكْمُرا.
- b. nouns in which a short vowel is followed by a consonant that is doubled. The writing system in Syriac does not show doubled letters, and nouns of this type, like (see) 'emmrā 'lamb', are not readily distinguished at sight in the emphatic state from nouns like مُكَذُوا .
- c. nouns in which the first syllable contains a short vowel followed by two consonants, e.g. كمهنا 'tent'. Normally nouns of this type are formed by the prefixing of one or more letters to the original root (in this case 🖦).

Masculine nouns in all these three classes add a short vowel (normally a) on the syllable beginning with the second root letter just in the abs. and cstr. sing. (the same pattern as in the active participle, §10). This vowel also appears before the 1st sing, and 2nd and 3rd pl. suffixes. Examples are:

with suffixes emph. abs., cstr. بككمية منكم منكمي منكمي بككميا , etc. ئكم ككفا دنده رُمَدنی، مناهد بر مناهدی بر المناه بر مناهدی المناهدی المناهدی و المناهدی المن (مذا مَدَمَدُهُ , مَدْمَدُهُ , مَدْمَدُهُ , مَدْمَدُهُ , مَدْمَدُهُ , مَدْمَدُهُ , etc. مُحدثًا . etc. مُدامُدنِهِ مُدامِدُوم، مُدامِدُنِي مُدامُدنِي وَدامُدنِي مُدامُدنِي مامئا

plural forms of these nouns do not exhibit the extra vowel. with or without suffixes; thus: نَكْمُعُ , نُكْمُعُ , نُكْمُعُ , نُكْمُعُ , نُكْمُعُ , نُكْمُعُ , نُكْمُعُ , نُكُمُّ , .etc , دُكَعُموني ,

Feminine nouns of this kind, that is, with an invariable vowel at the beginning, include words like / 'widow', 'food', أهجفها 'praise'. They are inflected like the feminine active participle in that the vowel on the second root letter disappears in all forms except the emphatic singular. Thus:

sing, emph. abs. pl. emph. abs. cstr. أنمكم أزملا أزمكما أرَّةِ مِنْكُمْ أَرَّةِ مِنْكُمْ أَرَّةِ مِنْكُمُ أَرَّا مِنْكُمُا ا شامكم شاملًا شامة حماً مداقكم مواقك مواقكما أحتنم أمتئ أمتنكا أحجشه أحجشا أحجفسكا

A quite separate class of feminine nouns with variable vowels are those nouns, for the most part abstract, that end الفك, 'prayer', المناه 'story'. The o and u in these endings are vowels (u, o, i) in the singular, but become consonants (w, y) in the plural. The result is the following paradigm:

	sing.		pl.
emph.	abs.	cstr.	emph. abs. cstr.
مُحْمَةُ أَا	مُحمة	مُحدة	مُحقَّهُا مُحقَّهُ مُحقَّهُا
الفعي	قع	لقع	الْمْحَنُ رَمْحَنُ لَمْحَنُ
ركفأا	ركة	ركفا	الْقِكْنَ رَكِّنَ الْقِكْنَ
أُمنَمُا	أُمن	أُمنَّى٨	أمتنه أمتن أمتنما

Notice how in the plural the change of vocalization can produce a cluster of consonants that is then resolved by an

extra vowel near the beginning of the word. This happens in different ways in اِجْهُا and اِجْهُا .

§II OTHER NOUNS WITH VARIABLE VOWELS

Suffixes are attached in the regular way to all these feminine nouns, starting from the emphatic form minus the ending ألحادة (my food), مُعَامِعُ 'their prayer'.

More prepositions. A few prepositions have vowels that vary when suffixes are attached. Among these are:

'after'. This takes singular suffixes, and the second vowel " disappears before all except د, رغم, رغم, رغم, رغم. Thus: مُكَرُوبُ مِنْ مُكَرُوبُ مِنْ مُكَرُوبُ مِنْ مُكَرُوبُ وَكُمُ وَمِنْ مُكَرُوبُ مِنْ فَعِيْدُ وَلَيْ وَلَيْ مُكُرُوبُ مِنْ وَلَيْ وَلَيْ وَلَيْ مُكُرُوبُ مِنْ مُكَرُوبُ مِنْ وَلَيْ وَلَيْ وَلَيْ وَلِيْ وَلَيْ وَلِيْ وَلَيْ وَلِيْ وَلِيْكُونِ وَلِيْ وَلِيْ وَلِيْ وَلِيْ وَلِيْ وَلِيْ وَلِيْ وَلِيْكُمْ وَلِيْ وَلِيْكُونِ وَلِيْ وَلِيْ وَلِيْكُمْ وَلِيْكُمْ وَلِيْ وَلِيْ وَلِيْكُمْ وَلِيْكُونُونِ وَلِيْكُمْ وَلِيْكُمُ وَلِيْكُمُ وَلِيْكُمُ وَلِيْكُمْ وَلِيْكُمُ وَلِيْكُمْ وَلِيْكُمْ وَلِيْكُمُ وَلِيْكُمُ وَلِيْكُمُ وَلِي وَلِيْكُمُ وَلِيْكُمُ وَلِي وَلِيْكُمُ وَلِي وَلِيْكُمُ وَلِيْكُمُ وَلِي وَلِيْكُمُ وَلِيْكُمُ وَلِي وَلِيْكُمُ وَلِي وَلِيْكُمُ وَلِي وَلِي وَلِيْكُمُ وَلِيْكُمُ وَلِيْكُمُ وَلِي وَلِي وَلِي وَلِي وَلِيْكُمُ وَلِي وَلِي وَلِي وَلِيْكُمُ وَلِي

Some further prepositions that take 'plural' suffixes are: ملك 'instead of, on behalf of'; and ملك 'without'. Also, the expression خلسة؛ 'alone' takes these suffixes, as in:

سومة والمستورة المستورة المست

عَمْ كُمْ اللَّهُ below عَمْ مَلْ below عَمْ مَنْ أَنْ outside عَمْ مَنْ inside, within عَمْ مُنْ أَنْ هُمْ except, aside from.

Vocabulary

	kingdom (f.) go up	- 4	widow (f.) sin (f.)
مُدمدة وُمكُا	baptism (f.)	•	also, even
•	mountain	ەۋۇلمىغا	heretic
	food $(f.)$	مُدامدة وُا	psalm
μĺγ	but	بحمأا	prayer (f.)
<u> دُد</u> اً ا	dust	-	take, take away
مخمحئا	tent		praise, hymn
عُه مُدا	day (m.); abs. مفع	; ó	behold
	ئەشكا . pl. usu	(ُمداً ا	lamb
ئكىلا	a little, a few	اهُمُ	the inside; cstr.
_	(indeclinable)		priest
أمنكا	history, story $(f.)$	بُلْسِةً	foot (f.)

Exercises

Translate into English:

- قراعة حدم أهم فلا شأر وشع عة منا والخدة ا.
- 3. حُمَّة مُكس مُوتِمُا مِنْ كُن كَعرَبِيمًا مَا لَا بُرِّ الْ بُرِّ وَمُكرِحُدُا مِنْ اللَّهِ وَمُكرِحُدُا مَ
 - 4. مُحدة أو مُناز حالًا من مُحدة عَدة عكامة وأل لَعلان مُحدة أل المال المال محدد المال ا
 - خَمْز مُدهنة مُرهاه معنى معنى الكاما حمْمتعُم أحكامته أا
 مُركة الشيئالاً المعنى الكاما معنى الكاما معنى الكاما المعنى الكاما الكا

- 6. معكم المهور كالمنا وموا المنا وموام عدموه.
- ركة أا وقباط كنماش مكفسه وأكمتره وم فكسة والمستورية المسلم مكنون فكسة فكس فكما.
 - 8. أه أمُح حَدَمة ومنه أمكع وَحَمْد حَدَمُ وَالدَا.
 - و. لَمْ حُلُا / مُدَّاهِ عَدَّهُ عَدْدًا مُعَدَّقِنًا فَم عَمْدًا مُحَدِّدًا فَم عَمْدًا فَهُ الْمُحَدَّدِ الْمُحَدِّدِ الْمُحَدَّدِ الْمُحَدِّدِ الْمُحْدَدِ الْمُحْدَّدِ الْمُحَدِّدِ الْمُحَدِّدِ الْمُحَدِّدِ الْمُحَدِّدِ الْمُحَدِّدِ الْمُحَدِّدِ الْمُحَدِّدِ الْمُحْدَدِ الْمُحْدَدِ الْمُحْدَدِ الْمُحْدِي الْمُحْدَدِ الْمُحْدُدِ الْمُحْدِي الْمُحْدُدِ الْمُحْدُدِ الْمُحْدُدِ الْمُحْدُدِ الْمُحْدُدِ الْمُحْدَادِ الْمُحْدِي الْمُحْدُدُ الْمُحْدُدِ الْمُحْدِي الْمُحْدُدِ الْمُحْدُدُ الْمُحْدُدُ الْمُحْدُدُ الْمُحْدُدُ الْمُحْدُدُ الْمُحْدَادِ الْمُحْدُدُ الْمُحْدَادِ الْمُحْدَادِ الْمُحْدِي الْمُحْدِدُ الْمُحْدِي الْمُحْدُدُ الْمُحْدُدُ الْمُحْدِي الْمُحْدُدُ الْمُحْدُدِ الْمُحْدُدُ الْمُحْدُولِ الْمُحْدُدُ الْمُحْدُدُ الْمُحْدُدُ الْمُحْدُولُ الْمُحْدُولِ الْمُحْدُدُ الْمُعْدُولِ الْمُحْدُدُ الْمُحْدُدُ الْمُحْدُلِ ا
 - or. مقده قكسلا دُها شي اشده أيكه ومُبَاعَا مُكُلاً وَ وَمُبَاعَا مُكُلاً اللهِ وَمُبَاعَا مُكُلاً اللهِ وَمُرا

Translate into Syriac:

1. every priest; all the priests of God. 2. Christ is like us apart from sin. 3. After my baptism I went up on the mountain by myself. 4. There are many widows in the church. 5. All the kingdoms of the world have fallen and are as dust. 6. He has written letters to all the churches in the kingdom. 7. Praise (to) God, who kept the blessed one (on) that day without ($\hat{\mu}_{i}$) sin. 8. Behold the lamb of God, who takes away the sin of the world. 9. We have our tent in this world, but we have also a tent in heaven made by God. 10. We do not eat every (kind of) food. Some foods are within the law, and some foods are outside it.

12. MISCELLANEOUS AND IRREGULAR NOUNS

Two groups of nouns remain to be dealt with:

- a. short nouns like براً برائل برائل. Not all the absolute and construct forms of these nouns are attested. See the list of irregular nouns below.
- b. adjectives ending in -ān and nouns in -ānā. The former is a large class, e.g. 'heavenly' (from hisa); the latter include nomina agentis like hisa 'teacher'. All these have feminine forms with a yod. For the feminine forms are: abs. hisa, cstr. Aiisa, emph. hisa; pl. abs. 'iraa, cstr. Aiisa, emph. hisas, Likewise, hisas 'female teacher'; pl. hisas.

The following are the most important irregular nouns.

- 'someone, one'. اَ إِنَا 'no one'. (or written together هُذَا اللهُ 'everyone'.
- 'people'. Formally this is the emphatic of مناً but it is usually written with seyame and construed as plural, as in النقاء 'many people'. The absolute pl. مرافقة 'many people'. The absolute pl. مرافقة 'people say'.

 There is also a construct مرافقة 'with suffixes e.g.
- 'man, person'.' The abs. کن اِلْمُا (or as one word, کن اِلْمُا) is used in the same way as اِلْمُانِيُّة. There is a

^{&#}x27; Never 'son of man'.

- 6. هكف حجة وا كلسة ومون حريرًا ومُن عدمه ص.
- ركة أا وقرسها كهماش سكفه وأحكتروس كسةون ألا أف سكف حدد وكدوس قسك فكه فكها.
 - 8. أنم أمُّ خُلسة وسه أسكم وعمُنخب حَعمُخا والمنا.
 - و. لَمُخَلَا أَسَمُوهِ حَمَّدُلًا كَمُا فَمَنَا مَمَّكَةِنَا كَمِ شَعَهُ وَ. كَمُرَّدُهُ مِنْ .
 - 01. مقده مُكملا مُعنا شي اشه تُركه وم بَعَبَاها شَمَّلاً وَهَذَه وَإِهِ هُو حَوْدِهُا.

Translate into Syriac:

1. every priest; all the priests of God. 2. Christ is like us apart from sin. 3. After my baptism I went up on the mountain by myself. 4. There are many widows in the church. 5. All the kingdoms of the world have fallen and are as dust. 6. He has written letters to all the churches in the kingdom. 7. Praise (to) God, who kept the blessed one (on) that day without (1/2) sin. 8. Behold the lamb of God, who takes away the sin of the world. 9. We have our tent in this world, but we have also a tent in heaven made by God. 10. We do not eat every (kind of) food. Some foods are within the law, and some foods are outside it.

12. MISCELLANEOUS AND IRREGULAR NOUNS

Two groups of nouns remain to be dealt with:

- a. short nouns like براً بوفدا, إناً . Not all the absolute and construct forms of these nouns are attested. See the list of irregular nouns below.
- b. adjectives ending in -ān and nouns in -ānā. The former is a large class, e.g. 'heavenly' (from lika); the latter include nomina agentis like lia's 'teacher'. All these have feminine forms with a yod. For the feminine forms are: abs. lika, cstr. Atika, emph. laika; pl. abs. 'iraa, cstr. Atika, emph. laika; pl. abs. 'iraa, cstr. Atika, emph. laika, Likewise, laika's is 'female teacher'; pl. laika's.

The following are the most important irregular nouns.

- 'someone, one' لَا كِلْمَا 'no one'. كُلُونُمَ (or written together هُذَاهُمُّهُ) 'everyone'.
- 'people'. Formally this is the emphatic of مناً but it is usually written with seyame and construed as plural, as in إِنْقَا مَا اللهُ 'many people'. The absolute pl. رُنْقَا مُنا 'people say'. Occurs in such phrases as مُنْقَا 'people say'. There is also a construct مُنْقَالُ 'his people'.
- 'man, person'.' The abs. كَنْ الْعُلَا (or as one word, أَنْ الْعُلَا) is used in the same way as الْحَالُف . There is a

Never 'son of man'.

§12 MISCELLANEOUS & IRREGULAR NOUNS

Note buy Vous W/- 1575. por. Saltox

feminine حُنْدِهُم (or حُنْدِهُم 'people') وَمُنْدُمُ (or كُنُم) جتم /نُهُا .fem.

- 'father' ($a\underline{b}\bar{a}$). With suffixes المُحْمَة ($\bar{a}\underline{b}$), المُحْمَة ($\bar{a}\underline{b}$), المُحْمَة (أَحَةُ المُحْمَة المُحْمَة المُحْمَة (أَحْمَة المُحْمَة ا رُحْمَةً, حِمَّمُ There are two plurals, أَحُدُةً and الْحُدُمُّ, both masculine, but the latter takes suffixes like a feminine plural.
- 'brother'. Inflected like 站 in the singular; thus with 7شا suffixes أُسمَّر, etc. Pl. إِنْسَارً. Notice the pair of words مَعْوَى / مُعْوَى 'his brother'/ 'his brothers'.
- 'sister'. With suffixes عُمُّر, مِعْم، etc. Pl. اُسْفُاًا. عُمُا
- 'mother'. Cstr. المرابع with suffixes مرابع , etc. Pl. /ُمُدَا أمنهاً.
- 'son'. Cstr. خز with suffixes خزم , هأم , مأم , مأم , مأم , مأم , حزا حِنْهُ, etc. Pl. emph. حِنْهُ, abs. حَنْهُ, cstr. حِنْهُ Words like this one having the emphatic plural in L' (this is an older Aramaic ending) take suffixes as if the ending were the usual \?-: in this case, حبّ ('my etc. حيّه , حيّه وع etc.
- 'daughter'. Cstr. نظر (bat); with suffixes خناً مناء حناء حُزاً خزامه etc. Pl. حَبِّم; cstr. حَبِّم; with suffixes حَبِّم، .etc ,حتمُّ م , حتمُّ م
- 'woman, wife' (attā or atā). Cstr. اُلِيمًا. With suffixes الْقِيا with suffixes إِنْهَا , etc. Pl. إِيْمَام , أَيْمَام , أَيْمَام , etc. تقمم

- 'name'. Abs. and cstr. ممد , with suffixes ممد , ممد , هيرا معجمة, etc. Pl. امعجم or المعجمة, the former with sufetc. حکرة ماه و fixes
- 'other' (hrin). This is thoroughly irregular: sing. abs. emph. cstr. pl. abs. emph. cstr. السري المرائل المرابع المسأثس f. المنافع ال المستثلث المستثلث المستثلث

This word should not be confused with a different adjective المؤاد (hrāy) 'latter, last'. 'The latter' (f.) is الْمُأْمُّرُ: 'the other' (f.) is الْمُرْمُّرُ.

- 'house' (m.). Abs. (rare) څخې; cstr. څخې; with suffixes سَمِّى بِكُمْ , etc. Pl. الْمُحْ.
- مناه 'village' (f.). Abs. إمْ وَيَا; cstr. مَوْزَدُه ; with suffixes مناها etc. Pl. مَهْوَيْد, with suffixes usu. مِهْوَيْد, مِهُوَيْد, مِهْوَيْد, etc.
- 'hand' (f.). Cstr. Z. Pl. 127 or 127. The combination or خُاتِبَ (lit. 'by the hand(s) of') means generally 'by means of, through'. This can take suffixes, e.g. 'through them'.
- 'kind, type'. Abs. J. The abs. pl. occurs in the phrase ľμ -Similarly in الله 'various kinds'. Emph. pl. الله Similarly inflected are ومُدر , ومد 'blood' (with suffixes ومُدر, ومد , etc.); and | 'breast' (pl. | ; 1).
- هُندُال 'year' (f.). Abs. اهنام; cstr. منه Pl. منه; abs. منه; cstr. ميّس, with suffixes ميّس, etc.

www.malankaralibrarv.com

'heaven'. Usually construed as singular, but like a plural in its inflection; thus abs. معنى, cstr. معنى.

Vocabulary

command, bid	ھڈھ	leave, dismiss,
be pleasing		allow, forgive
amen	ىقە	cling, adhere,
thus		cleave, follow
ecclesiastical	حةوؤثا	help
how, as	حثثم	heavenly
in the beginning;	ۇحسۇا	sacrifice (f.)
Genesis	الْ مُعِي	thing, matter (f.)
John	وَهُمُا وِهِوْمِهُا	Holy Spirit
blood	• •	(usually m.)
	be pleasing amen thus ecclesiastical how, as in the beginning; Genesis John	be pleasing amen thus ecclesiastical how, as in the beginning; Genesis John هُمُوا الْمُحِيْدُ الْمُعْمِيْدُ الْمُعْمِدُ الْمُعُمُودُ الْمُعْمِدُ الْمُعْمِدُ الْمُعْمِدُ الْمُعْمِدُ الْمُعِمُ الْمُعْمِدُ الْمُعُمُونُ الْمُعُمُ الْمُعُمُ الْمُعْمِدُ الْمُعْمِدُ الْمُعْمِدُ الْمُعْمِدُ الْمُعْمِدُ الْمُعْمِدُ الْمُعُمُ الْمُعْمِعُ الْمُعُمُ الْمُعْمِعُ الْمُعْمُعُ الْمُعْمُعُ الْمُعْمُعُ الْمُعْمُ

Exercises

Translate into English:

- مهُم وُفَا حُمهُ أَ إِحرَامُه عَلَى الله الله عَمل اله عَمل الله عَمل ال
- 2. حبّ حة وؤلًا وهُنمًا هُمَحْتَ أَحِدْمُ الْحَكُنهُ خَيمًا دَبأنكمًا.
- 3. أَسَمَ كُلَ هَوْوَفُنُا لُا حَبِمُوا وَوْحَتِهُا أَلُوا حَبْ وَمَعُنهُ أَا حَبِهُ وَمِعْتُهُ أَا حَبِمُوهُ وَوَحْتُهُا أَلُوا حَبْ وَمَعْتُهُمُ اللَّهُ عَبْدُوا وَوَحْتُهُمُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَّمُ اللَّهُ عَلَّمُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلِيهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَاهِ عَلَي
- 5. مُدسدة ومد در مص كالمناه المراه من الما والما والما
 - 6. حَدَا: لَا أَكِرُهُ الْمُحَى أَلَا سَعَ حَتِ الْمُعَا فِي أَحْمَا مِنْ أَحْمَا عِنْ أَحْمَا عِنْ

- 7. أَلْ هُلَا مُمَا مُعَدِّد وَمُرْمَدُ مَا مُعَدِّد وَالْمُونِ وَالْمُعَالِ وَالْمُعَالِ وَالْمُعَالِ وَالْمُعَالِ وَالْمُعَالِ وَالْمُعَالِ وَالْمُعَالِ وَالْمُعَالِ وَالْمُعَالِقِينِ وَالْمُعِلِّ وَالْمُعَالِقِينِ وَالْمُعَالِقِينِ وَالْمُعَالِقِينِ وَالْمُعِينِ وَالْمُعَالِقِينِ وَالْمُعَالِقِينِ وَالْمُعَالِقِينِ وَالْمُعِلِّ وَالْمُعِلِّقِينِ وَالْمُعِلِّقِينِ وَالْمُعِلَّ وَالْمُعِلِّقِينِ وَالْمُعِلِّقِينِ وَالْمُعِلِّ وَالْمُعِلَّ وَالْمُعِلِّ وَالْمُعِلَّ وَالْمُعِلِّ وَالْمُعِلِّ وَالْمُعِلِّ وَالْمُعِلَّ وَالْمُعِلَّ وَالْمُعِلَّ وَالْمُعِلَّ وَالْمُعِلِّ وَالْمُعِلِّ وَالْمُعِلِّ وَالْمُعَلِّلِ وَالْمُعِلِّ وَالْمُعَلِّ وَالْمُعِلَّ وَالْمُعِلِّ وَالْمُعِلِّ وَالْمُعِلَّ وَالْمُعِلِّ وَالْمُعِلَّ وَالْمُعِلِّ وَالْمُعِلَّ وَالْمُعِلَّ وَالْمُعِلِي وَالْمُعِلِي وَالْمُعِلِي وَالْمُعِلِي وَالْمُعِلِّ وَالْمُعِلِينِ وَالْمُعِلِي وَالْمِنْ وَالْمُعِلِي وَالْمِنِي وَالْمُعِلِي وَالْمُعِلِي وَالْمُعِلِي وَالْمُعِلِي وَالْمُعِلِي وَالْمِنْ وَالْمُعِلِي وَالْمُعِلِي وَالْمُعِلِي وَالْمُعِيلِ وَالْمُعِلِي وَالْ
- 8. أَمَا مُكَامَا وَمُرْتَمُ وَهُمَا مُوالًا وَمُرْتَمُ وَهُمَا وَمُرْتَمُوا وَمُرْتَمُوا وَمُرْتَمُوا وَمُرْتَمُوا وَمُرْتَمُوا وَمُرْتَمُوا وَمُرْتَمُوا وَمُرْتُمُوا وَمُرْتُمُوا وَمُرْتَمُوا وَمُرْتُمُوا وَمُرْتُمُوا وَمُرْتُمُوا وَمُرْتُمُوا وَمُرْتَمُوا وَمُرْتُمُوا وَمُرْتُمُ وَمُرْتُوا وَمُرْتُمُ وَمُوا وَمُرْتُمُ وَمُرْتُمُ وَمُرْتُوا وَمُرْتُمُ وَمُوا مُرْتُوا وَمُرْتُمُ وَمُرْتُمُ وَمُوا وَمُرْتُوا وَمُرْتُوا وَمُرْتُمُ وَمُوا وَمُرْتُوا وَمُوا وَمُوا وَمُرْتُوا وَمُوا وَمُوا وَمُوا وَمُوا وَمُرْتُوا وَمُوا وَمُوا وَمُرْتُوا وَمُوا وَالْمُوا وَمُوا وَمُرْتُوا وَمُرْتُوا وَالْمُوا وَمُرْتُوا وَالْمُوا وَالْمُوا وَالْمُوا وَالْمُوا لِمُوا لِمُوالْمُ لِمُوا لِمُوالِقُوا لِمُوا لِمُوالِمُ لِمُوا لِمُوا لِمُوا لِمُوا لِمُوا لِمُوا لِمُوا لِمُوا لِمِا لِمُوا لِمِلْمُ لِمُوا لِمُوا لِمُوا لِمُوا لِمُوا لِمُ لِمُا

 - 10. هُدُوْا لُلْحِدُدِي مَعَنُنُا وِإِنْمَا مُحْدِي لِلْمَوْمِ، وَكَسُمُّهُ.

Translate into Syriac:

1. She took a little of her brother's food. 2. We have kept the faith of our fathers and mothers. 3. God is wiser than men. 4. We know the name of their mother, and their father is in our village. 5. The blessed one went up by himself as his parents (lit. fathers) commanded. 6. There is no other gospel than (lit. aside from) the one that we heard from the apostles. 7. My daughter, it is well that your sons and your daughters cleave to you. 8. I suppose that others have not heard about this matter. 9. Our heavenly father knows what food is enough for us. 10. In all their houses there is no one who has a Psalter (lit. book of Psalms).

13. THE IMPERFECT TENSE

The imperfect tense is primarily future in meaning, but it also functions in purpose clauses, negative imperatives, and jussives.

sing.

3rd m.

3rd f.

3rd f.

2nd m.

3rd f.

2nd f.

Notice that in those forms that have no afformative, a vowel appears between the second and third root letters. In the case of this vowel is o. Other cases will appear below.

If the second root letter is a bgdkpt, it has the hard pronunciation. Thus, for the verb the impf. is also.

For the 3rd feminine singular there is another (West Syriac only) form with a yod at the end, e.g. which distinguishes it in writing (but not pronunciation) from the 2nd masculine.

All the fem. pl. forms of the impf. are written with seyame.

The stem vowel in the impf. may be o, a or e. In general, those mostly transitive verbs that have the vowel a in the perfect have o in the imperfect, as with \triangle above. Verbs

that have the vowel e in the perfect normally have a in the imperfect, e.g. (pf.) / (impf.). Exceptions are:

- a. some verbs that have a in both perfect and imperfect.

 These include most verbs with a guttural or i as the third root letter, e.g. الْمَدَارِيَّةُ ; and a few others, e.g. الْمُدَارِيِّهُ ('have authority').
- b. the verbs ثَوْمُ/ مَدُّ and ثَوْمُ ('buy'), which have a in the perfect and e in the imperfect.
- c. a few verbs that have e in the perfect and o in the imperfect, the most important of which are perfect, the most important of which are perfect, the most important of which are perfect and o in the imperfect, the most important of which are perfect and o in the imperfect, the most important of which are perfect and o in the imperfect, the most important of which are perfect and o in the imperfect and o in the imperfect, the most important of which are perfect.

The paradigm for verbs with impf. in a and e is as follows:

in a: sing. pl. in e: sing. pl.

3rd m. الشيئ المسكة المس

Usage. The imperfect is used for indicating an action that is incomplete or in the future. In a subordinate clause, the future is relative to the main clause. Thus:

she went up to worship (lit. that she might worship).

A clause expressing purpose, as in this example, can be introduced more explicitly by - مَثَاءِ - or - مُثَاءِ أَنْ أَبُو اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهِ اللهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهُ عَلَيْهِ عَلِيهِ عَلَيْهِ عَلَ

سَمُعُمُ الْهُمُنَا الْمُعَلِّا الْمُعَلِّمُ الْمُعِلِّمُ اللّهُ الْمُعِلِّمُ اللّهُ الْمُعِلَّمُ اللّهُ الْمُعِلِّمُ اللّهُ اللّ

V41.*

Stra

§13 THE IMPERFECT TENSE

The negative is إَذَهُمُ أَنْهُمُ أَلَهُمُ اللَّهُ اللَّا اللَّهُ اللَّاللَّا الللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّا

The imperative (§14) is not used with $\hat{\mu}$, and the imperfect is the only way to express a prohibition. Thus:

الْ أَمْ هَمْ لَا أَمْ اللَّهُ اللَّا اللَّهُ اللَّا اللَّهُ اللَّا اللَّا اللَّهُ ال

The imperfect also expresses the jussive ('let ...'), as in:
الْعَانُونُ كُونُ عِلْمُ اللَّهُ اللَّا اللَّهُ اللَّا اللَّهُ اللَّا ال

Vocabulary'

buy, e اکم separate, o عزي sing, a امکن news, report إِنْ الْمُوا dwell, a دمکن especially bread کسکا week, sabbath (f.) lawful مَكْمَ before دُ لُو while; کُم thing, deed دخا (و- until (+-ك or -ورکزا people, nation; death مُديْزُا حُمْتِمُوا .pl where أيضًا lest, perhaps وُلَمُوا

Exercises

Translate into English:

أل معدفا وم مُلامة كما: أراخ مكس كسمرا.
 حةه عملا أسك وحسرته أله أنه ثدرمة كهة إل.

3. قَمْدُم كُمِنَ وَكُمُوا لِيُم تُمكِم كَمُوادُا مَن لِسَوْدا.

4. لُا أَهدَى وَالْا أَفُلا أَيْلا مُترَبعَف عَبْم أَجًا.

5. أَمْمَ النَّهِمْ أَوْفِهُ وِلَّا تُهدمونَ مُعالًا مِرْمُا وِأَعرَهُم مُكْمَدُ أَل

6. أَوْمَا كُو مُانِا عَوْم مُكَفًّا. أَصِيفُو حَمَّدِاً وَمَوْمِمُو.

8. هُنِيًا هُنهُ ثَنهُمْ دهُمعنُم وُصهَوْم فَإِسمًا.

و. أَسَفُا وِلْمَعِزِي أَمَعُونِ وَهُواً كَلَسَةُو تَفَوَقُهَ كَسُلُمٍ.

10. كُمْ أَحْلًا أَمْ كُمْ تُحْمَّ لُحُمَّا كَمُا فَكُنُمَا: مَمَّالُتُمْ كَمُا مَا حُمَّا وَمُنالًا وَهُوَا . كَمْ لُا تُعوَاتُ مَعْدُا وَمُنالًا وَهُوَا .

Translate into Syriac:

I. Some say it is not lawful for a man to divorce his wife.
2. How shall we sing to the Lord in a land that is not ours?

2. How shall we sing to the Lord in a land that is not ours?
3. Do not do this evil thing, my sister. 4. Let this story that we shall write be pleasing to God. 5. We will not be afraid as long as (lit. while) we have the blessing of the saint (f.). 6. The women went up to the city to buy food for themselves (use [22]). 7. By the grace of God we shall taste the fruits of the land. 8. Let them do as I have commanded. 9. My brother, I have a little time and I shall write this letter to you and to our sister. 10. Other gods, the gods of the Gentiles (lit. nations), you (m. sing.) shall not worship.

^{&#}x27; From now on, the vowel of the imperfect is given for each verb used in the pe'al.

14. THE IMPERATIVE AND INFINITIVE. THE VERB 1600

The imperative. The masculine singular of the imperative is formed from the imperfect by dropping the preformative. The other forms, masculine plural and feminine singular and plural, are then made by adding endings. For the various classes of verb we have:

(perfect)		مؤلا	وشسا	ىد
(imperfect)		<i>الف</i> همة	أبئلا	ثنث
imperative	m. sing.	WáBa	وشالا	حثب
	f. sing.	مكفهم	وشك	ىگب
	m. pl.	مكفكم	وشكه	حثبه
	f. pl.	مكفهم	وتشك	ىچې

The endings are silent: all these forms are pronounced qtol or dhal or 'bed. There are, however, longer forms of the plural which do distinguish it in pronunciation:

Notice that seyame points go on all feminine plural forms.

The meaning of the imperative is straightforward: هغافه, etc. 'write!'. (Remember that the negative imperative is expressed by the imperfect: معافد لل أعدن 'لم أعدن

The infinitive. All infinitives in Syriac begin with -w. The infinitive pe'al is Lad. The vowel on the second root

perfect or imperfect. If the second root letter is a bgdkpt, it takes qushaya, e.g. and to write'.

The infinitive is prefixed with -\(\simega\), somewhat like the 'to' of the infinitive in English. Examples are:

she went up to worship

it is fitting for me to sing

they were not afraid of writing

it is for us to listen – we have

to listen (or we can listen)

Syriac also has an 'infinitive absolute'. In this construction the infinitive, without Δ , goes alongside (usually before) a verb or participle for emphasis; e.g.

they were completely silent مُعَمُّمُ مُعُمْ عُمُونَ فَعَبُرُ لَكُونَ لِعَامِي they were completely silent we strictly command you.

The verb 160. The verb 160 'be' will be met in §26, but it is helpful to learn now the pe'al perfect in its enclitic form. The conjugation is as follows, with pronunciations. As indicated by the *linea occultans*, the initial consonant on is silent throughout.

	singular		plural	
3rd m,	اؤور	wā	ဝင်တ	พลพ
3rd f.	Ļóo	wā <u>t</u>	င်္ခဲ့ရ –	พล็ง
2nd m.	يەۋمىڭ	wayt	رة كشة م	wayton
2nd f.	وةمكا	wayt	جگدة م	wayten
1st	ھِهُ حَجُ	wi <u>t</u>	رة ق م	waynen wayn.

§14 THE IMPERATIVE AND INFINITIVE

The verb in this enclitic form coming after (not before) a participle, adjective, or noun has the meaning 'was/were' After A it likewise puts the meaning of the expression into the past. Thus:

we were writing Iesus was silent the man was a priest يُحنّ فُونًا فِهُ ا مُنتُنا أهد يوةه هده they had water أَوْمَتَكُمُا أَمْمُمُ مِ وَوَي they were widows.

log can also appear after finite verbs, pf. and impf., and occasionally elsewhere in a sentence, but in these constructions it is almost meaningless. After a pf., it may put the action further into the past; e.g., هم هم الله الله الله على الله 'Joseph too went (or had gone) up'. But, as in this example the pluperfect sense is often hard to detect.

Vocabulary

ھلم	be silent, o		(ptcs. of in right
وَهُ إِلَىٰ	anger, wrath	أأخمضوأ	righteousness (f.)
	time; abs. خ	'آمکنا	tree
	(ptcs. of 10) fitting	Ì	if
أمعاأسا		خْبُنُا	time, season,
المنا	human (adj.)		moment
مأكا	war, battle	ة كفيًا	Elkanah²
عَملًا	force, power,	خمك	Shiloh
,	mighty work	مُأْب	Cain

2 I Sam I: 1-3. 1 Luke 2: 4.

Exercises

Translate into English:

- أل مَكم كر حقمها الأس.
- 2. وَعُم حَمْدُو حَدُو نُعُم أَم تَعَمُّو.
- 3. مُنتَ وُامَّدُ حَمِّنَ حَمِّنَ مَعْدُونَ مِنْ وَقَيْلًا وَحَرِهِ هُلُوَا وَأَوْمِهُمُ اللهِ
- 4. فَتَمَّا نُمْفَى هَوْهُ كُنْ كَمَكُمِنَا أَبِ وَنُمْمِدُمُ كَمْكُوهِا.
 - ى امَّتُور كَمُنَا فَكَفُر مُكَفَّالُ وَاوْذُا.
- أكامُ مِن قُكُم كُمُ .
 - 7. معفق فَرَا مَع المُكلُون اللهُ مُحكِدُم اللهُ الْمِتَعَى مُعْلَم.
- 8. أؤه ك والمعد حدة قائدوه والكور والرحدة قائدون إنقيار
- و. وَلُو كَ كَمُعُمُوهُ فَرِ هُمِنْتُ كَمُ هَدُوهُ وَفُرُتُهُمْ وَفُرُتُهُمْ وَمُتِنَالُ وَمِدُوهِ .
- ١٥٠. أه وهُ إِحَدًا سَمِ وُحِدُه مُكَفًّا، وهُكُم وهُ الله عِدُ عَنْهُم مْع ئى خائى خىسى دخىخە.

Translate into Syriac:

1. We were singing hymns. 2. There were other women with him. 3. All her sons were priests. 4. It is right to worship God alone. 5. Draw near and take (use \as\a) this letter that I have written. 6. The fruit was beautiful, but she was afraid to taste. 7. The sacrifice of Cain was not pleasing to God. 8. Forgive us as we have forgiven others. 9. If one city will not listen to your doctrine, flee to another. 10. There was a village there in which people were dwelling who had fled from the war.

www.malankaralibrarv.com

15. THE ETHPE EL

The ethpe'el is formed from the pe'al by using the preform. ative -L?. This preformative has counterparts in other Sem. itic languages, where it has a reflexive meaning (as in 'he hurt himself'). In Syriac, however, forms with -L? took over the function of the passive (as in 'he was hurt'). The ethpe'el is thus primarily the passive of the pe'al.

Inflection. The ethpe'el perfect ('he was killed', etc.) is:

	sing.	pl.
3rd m.	آ.امهٰ	'امهُد
3rd f.	٨٤٩٥٤٨	(أعلَمُك) أعلمُا
2nd m.	آلمهُّك	رة ١٨٨٨ أ
and f.	ألمهجم	أعطمك
ıst	ألمهكم	⁷ اممُح

Notice that in the 1st sing. and the 3rd f. sing. the vowel on the first root letter is a. Just as in the pe'al, if the third radical is a bgdkpt, it takes qushaya in the 3rd f. and 1st sing; e.g., محمداً. There are the same longer forms for the 1st pl. محمداً, and the 3rd m. and f. pl. محمداً ما محمداً ما المحمداً على المحمداً

The imperfect ('he will be killed' etc.) is as follows:

•	•	
	sing.	pl.
3rd m.	الممؤلا	ثمقهدة
3rd f.	(أَامِهُكُ) أَامِهُا	ثمفهك
2nd m.	المُهمالاً	أاقهكق
2nd f.	بكهقاأ	أافهك
ist	Whol?	ثھمھے

In the imperative, the vowel unexpectedly shifts to the first radical, and is a. The second radical may disappear in pronunciation and have linea occultans written below it. Thus:

m. sing.	المُهُمُّ الْمُعَالِينِ اللَّهِ اللَّ	or	<i>أ</i> لمُهُلاً .
f. sing.	ألقهك	or	أامهك
m. pl.	أ امَّ هُذه	or	٪امُهَّلاه
f. pl.	ألقتهك	or	آامُجَك

All these forms are pronounced <u>etqatl</u> or <u>etqal</u>. As in the pe'al there are also longer forms of the plural, اَهُوَلَاكُ (m.) and المُعَالَكُ (f.).

All participles except the pe'al have the preformative ____ production of the ethpe'el (there is only one) is

being killed. مُعَمَّمُهُا

This is inflected like other nouns with an invariable vowel in the first syllable (§11). The plural is then مُعْمَوْمُ , the feminine المُعْمَوْمُ , etc.

If the last root letter of a verb is a guttural or i, the vowel just before it (in various parts of the pf., impf., and ptcs.) is a instead of e, as in i (not i) 'he was kept'.

The infinitive follows a pattern that will appear in all the \Box other conjugations (that is, all but the pe^cal), with the two final vowels $\bar{a} - u$. For the ethpe^cel it is

to be killed.

If a verb stem begins with any of the letters ! as, this letter changes places with the L of the ethpe'el preformative.

In the case of ! or , there is a further change and the L becomes , or L respectively. Thus, from we have

www.malankaralibrarv.com

'it was taken' (not المقاد). Other examples of this transposition and change are:

ا ثرياك or even المرشى let it be bought (not ألموث to be crucified (not معركمة or معريككة).

Meaning. The meaning of the ethpe'el can usually be inferred from the pe'al, but not always. For example, and both mean 'be baptized' (but the ethpe'el form is the more common). Some verbs in the ethpe'el do not occur in the pe'al, for example 'is' 'go around'. Other ethpe'ele have particular meanings, e.g., ممكنه (from معده) 'obev' The vocabularies will signal verbs like these as they are mer

Usage. With the ethpe'el the logical subject of the action is introduced by \mathcal{L} (rather than -\(\sime\) as with the passive participle); e.g.,

أاهق من مكسا it was commanded by the apostle.

Vocabulary

ethp. obey pe. (a), ethp. be baptized be finished, a in ethp. take care (+-a of), ethp. go around هزيد against) شر+) guard form, fashion, o bishop العبوموقا lead, a وځن crucify, o رکت lới sin soldier رُمُولِيْ الْمِعْلِيْلِ reckon. o سقم (f.) place وقطر (m.) or وقطر blasphemy کَوُفُوا first, beforehand today تومُثا child; pl. usu. الكثار Abraham کے اُؤمر f. JÁŽL, pl. JÁŽL idol همدا

Exercises

granslate into English:

- ومةومًا لَا تُمَكَّمُ كُنُّكُم.
- 2. عمْت روة دُاة بهُ لائف وَالمُونِ وَهُا مُعلَمُا لَدُ لُا أَلْمُ المُدَادِةِ عَلَى اللَّهُ اللَّ
 - 3. مُحَدُوفِ وَهُو حَكْتُمُا حِمَةُونًا وَخُمِرَتُكُمُّا حِفُلا وَهُمِ.
 - 4. أُرائِم أِنَّم وَانِمَأْمِ وَحَنَّمِ وَحَنُمُ وَفَكُرُو حَمَمُ مِ
- و. مُحَكِّكُم أَلِعَهُم فَلَا فَلا : أَلَا فَحَ أَسِ أَمِدُوا عَامِ فَكُلَ.
 - 6. أَ إِنكُنَى أُسِ وَهُدُنِا مِنْ لِبُحِهُ أَنِهُ وَاكْنُوا حَرَمُوا كُنُهُ مُثُلًا.
 - 7. أَمِهِكُمْ مُنَّى قُلْمُهُ وَسُمِلًا وَكُلِ أَلَاثُمْ رُووًا كُمِنُهُ الْأَنْ
 - 8. أحمق لَكنا من أخذه ووس دَر لُا ألما دهر.
 - و. حُكَّرُ هِزُدُا أَرُ لِلْكُدِهِ نُعِمَّوْنُنَا هُيَخْتُوا فَي أَهْجَرُبُلُوهُ إِلَّ الْعَجَرُبُلُوهُ إِلَّ
- 10. أوْمَ حُفُى وِأَاوَهُوفُى حَلَقِمِهُمْ وَحَفَّكُهُ وَمِزًا مَّى أُسْكُم وُاهِنِّم ۇنچئا (نق.

Translate into Syriac:

1. You have been reckoned the people (lit. sons) of the kingdom. 2. Children, obey your parents in the Lord. 3. It is fitting for me to be baptized by you. 4. Take care lest you be led into unfaith (lit. not faith). 5. Heaven and earth were formed first, and after them we were formed. 6. For the sake of my name you shall be led before kings

is naturally masculine in this context. (Why?)

and be accounted evildoers. 7. To women the bishop says in his letter, Your sins shall be forgiven. 8. Abraham's faith was reckoned to him for righteousness. 9. From there Jesus was led by the soldiers to a (certain) place to be crucified. 10. You were no longer allowed (use worship idols formed by human hands.

16. THE PA'EL AND ETHPA'AL

The pa'el and its passive the ethpa'al are formally known as intensive' conjugations – expressing, that is, a stronger or repeated sense compared to the pe'al. (This description, however, turns out to fit these conjugations in Syriac only very incompletely: see p. 75.)

Inflection. In the pa'el and ethpa'al the second letter of the verb stem is doubled. This doubling is not seen or pronounced except when that letter is a bgdkpt, in which case it takes qushaya; or when the third letter is a bgdkpt, in which case it takes rukaka after the doubled second letter. (Examples of these cases are given below.)

In the pa'el, the preformatives and afformatives are the same as in the pe'al. The vowel a remains on the first radical throughout the conjugation. The preformatives for the imperfect, participles, and infinitive have no vowel (except for the alaph of the 1st sing. impf., which must have one). The paradigm is as follows:

erfect	sing.	pl.
3rđ m.	ðå#	ఎస్టీ or ్రఫీ డ్
3rd f.	مُهكم	مُهْرِّے or (مُهُرِّ) مُهُلا
2nd m.	مُمُّكۃ	مُهُلَاهُ
2nd f.	مُمْكِدَ	مَمُكمُ
rst	مَهُكُم	مُهُمْ or مُهُمْ

p

infinitive:

75

imperfect 3rd m. 3rd f. 2nd m. 2nd f. ışt imperative masc. fem. participles: (f. معَهُمُ (f. emph. اِمعَهُمُ (f. etc.) معَهُمُ اللهِ active (f. مِعُكِّكُمُّا, f. emph. مِعْكِلُلُا (f. مِعْكِلُلُا (f. مِعْكِلُلُا (f. مِعْكِلُلُا (f. مِعْكِلُلُا (f. مِعْدُلُلُا passive

If the third radical of a verb is a guttural or ;, the e vowel before it becomes a; e.g., فَيَّةُ 'send', impf. بَمْرَةُ, ptc. بَعْرَةُ, etc.

مقطكة

A nomen agentis in the pa'el has the form مفهكنا 'killer'. Showing مزسك 'showing' مؤسك 'showing mercy - merciful'.

For the ethpa'al the paradigm is:

perfect	sing.	pl.
3rd m.	″لمة أ	مكۇفلۇ or رۇكۇفلۇ
3rd f.	۵۲۵۵۵۵۸	المُعَلَّمُ مِن (الْمُعَلِّمُ مَا الْمُعَلِّمُ مِن الْمُعَلِّمُ مِن الْمُعَلِّمُ الْمُعَلِّمُ الْمُعَلِّمُ الْ
2nd m.	ألقهكم	رهٰک ڴ ھٰلہُ اُ
2nd f.	ألقهكتم	جمُكهُهُ\ أ
ıst	ألقهكم	كِهُفْلِدُ or رِنْكِهُفْلِدُ

3rd m. الْهُ هُذَا الله الله الله الله الله الله الله ال	imperfect	sing.	pl.
2nd m. الْهُ فَالَاً رِفْكُهُ فَالَاً 2nd f. حِكْهُ فَالَاً حِكْهُ فَالَاً 1st الْهُ فَالاً الْهُ فَالاً imperative: masc. الْهُ فَالاً حَلُ فَالاً مِنْ فَالاً fem. الْهُ فَالاً الْهُ فَالاً الْهُ فَالاً الْهُ فَالاً	3rd m.	<i>"</i> هقه <i>لا</i>	ثكههه
and f. كَهُفَاذً كُهُفَاذً كُهُفَاذً الله الله الله الله الله الله الله الل	3rd f.	(أَافُهُك) أَامُهُمُ	ثمقهك
rst گُوْلُدُ گُوْلُدُ گُوْلُدُ كُولُولُ مِنْ كُولُ كُولُولُ مِنْ كُولُولُ كُولُولُ مِنْ كُولُولُ مِنْ كُولُولُ كُولُ كُولُ كُولُولُ مِنْ كُولُولُ كُولُ كُولُولُ كُولُ كُولُولُ كُولُولُ كُولُولُ كُولُكُ كُولُكُ كُولُكُ كُولُكُ كُولُ كُولُكُ كُلِكُ كُولُكُ كُلِي كُولُكُ كُلِكُ كُلِكُ كُلِكُ كُلِكُ كُلِكُ كُلُكُ كُلِكُ	2nd m.	المُفَالُ	رفكهفاأ
imperative: masc. گهُفْلُ مَ مُكُفُلُا مَ مُكُفُلُا مَ مُكُفُلُا مَ مُكُفُلُا مَ مُكُفُلُا مِنْ مُنْ مُنْ مُنْ مُنْ مُنْ مُنْ مُنْ مُ	2nd f.	جكه فاأ	كْلَمُوْك
masc. الْفَوْرُدُ مِنْ الْفَوْرُدُ مِنْ الْفَوْرُدُ الْفَوْرِ الْفَارِ الْفَالِيَّذِي الْفَارِ الْفَالِيَّذِي الْفَالِي الْفَارِ الْفَالِي الْفَارِ الْفَالِي الْفِي الْفَالِي الْفَالِي الْفَالِي الْفَالِي الْفَالِي الْفَالِي الْفَالِي الْفَالِي الْفِي الْفِي الْفِيلِي الْفِي الْفِي الْفَالِي الْفَالِي الْفَالِي الْفَالِي الْفِيلِيِيِيِيِيِيِيِيِيِيِيِيِيِيِيِيِيِي	ıst	المُهُمَّا اللهُ اللهُمَّا اللهُمُمَّا اللهُمَّا اللهُمَّا اللهُمَّا اللهُمَّا اللهُمَّا اللهُمَّا	المقميا
	imperative:		
	masc.	القَحَّلاً اللهُ الله	أِافَجُكُ or أَافَجُكُ
(There are also forms المُعَلِيلُ etqal etc.)	fem.	﴿ امْمُ	المُحَمَّلَةِ or رِحَمَّمُ المُحَالِقِ المَّامِّلَةِ المَّامِّةِ المَّامِّلَةِ المَّامِّلَةِ المَّامِ
	(There are	also forms امُولِ اللهُ واللهِ على الله	qal etc.)

participle:

infinitive:

In the ethpa'al, initial 1 can change places with the L of the preformative, just as in the ethpe'el.

Examples of verbs with bgdkpt letters are مُحْدُ 'receive', in which the is doubled throughout; and مُنْت 'offer', in which the is pronounced soft after the doubled in forms like مُنْدُم 'I offered' and الْمَادِدُم 'it (f.) was offered'.

Usage and meaning. Verbs in the pa'el can be classified as follows.

a. A minority of verbs actually exhibit the difference set out at the beginning of this lesson, that the pa'el is an intensified pe'al. is one of these; hence 'slay 'slay many'. Another is نقه 'kiss' - تُمْه 'cover with kisses'. Just as often, a verb is used in both pe'al and pa'el

www.malankaralibrary.com

without much difference in meaning, e.g. بنه and بنه 'help'; فَعَمْ and فَعْمَ 'command'; فَعْمَ 'sing'.

- b. The pa'el may make the pe'al transitive, as with be comparable' al' 'compare'.
- c. Some verbs have a new meaning in the pa'el, for example مُنْتُ 'offer, present'.
- d. A number of verbs occur in the pa'el but not the pe'al.

 Examples include several in the vocabulary on the next page, e.g. is and so.
- e. A special class of these pa'el-only verbs are the 'denom. inative' verbs, formed by putting the vowels of the pa'el onto a noun. Examples are کند 'strengthen' (from المند) and عند 'encourage' (from المند)

The verb is used in front of another verb, without waw intervening, to give the sense of 'beforehand', as in

اَؤُمْ مُكُمْ مُثَالًا كُلُّا وَاللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّالِي اللَّهُ اللَّالِمُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ

Puadriliteral verbs. Some verb stems have four letters. These verbs may be denominative, e.g. 'فَكُمْ 'evangelize' (from الْكُمْ), ' or loan-words, e.g. 'accuse' (from Greek κατηγορεῦν). They are conjugated like pa'els in which instead of a doubled middle root letter there are two different single letters. Thus for الْكُمُ we have

pf. مُكْمَا, أَكْمَا, أَكْمَا, وفارية أَلْمَا أَلْمَا أَلْمَا أَلْمَا واللَّهُ واللَّهِ واللَّهِ واللَّهِ اللّ

Vocabulary

هېۋ	pa. send	محلا	pa. receive
عزت	pa. offer	أكثب	evangelize
همع	pa. expound	س.ف	pa. blaspheme
هبعد	pa. do beforehand	معز	pa. honour
² لحت	encourage	<i>"</i>	pa. strengthen
هجيب	pa. glorify	'م <i>ىللا</i>	pa. speak
وعصون	believe	اه کنیو	pa. walk
07	or	شممت	far be it!
ارة وشر	way, road (f.)	وْمنز	judgement
مُنسبًا	at once	أُمَاؤًا	place (m.);
ۇسەر	pa., ethpa. have mercy		pl. 116517
	(+ \\\ on)		

Exercises

Translate into English:

قَوْم عَمَّد لَمِن أَسِر وَلكَدْد أَنن .

2. مُعْنَا نُمْنَانَا: وَتَهَدُى أَوْفَهُمُ وَإِحْرِ أَوْنَا نُو وَتَتَمَّزَ كَمَ كُفْنُهِ. عُمَا.
 3. لُا ا كَمُوْف وَكَمُا لُا أَاتَهُمْ دَبْنًا.

4. هكتشا أهمَّؤوه وَلمَّلِعرِهُ حَفًّا وَهُم مُحَفًّا أَرْادِ.

5. أَوْشِع مُلَا أَمِنًا وَمِدَاشِع / لِنَا. أُمَّدَ مُدَاعًا مدَّسِمُدُلًا.

¹ In dictionaries this verb is apt to be treated as a taph'el conjugation of عدد. See pp. 81-2.

² Properly these are geminate verbs (§25).

مُعَيِّداً عُرِيدًى وهُمعُنه مُحَمَّدِه مُحَمَّدُهُ مُحَمَّدًا مُحَدَّدُهُ حَدُمُوا هُه.

7. قُلَهُ فَا تَعْتِمُا وَحَدُما نُعْهِم فَى كُم مُنامًا وُلِقَدِيق كُمعُم.

8. مَعْ وِخُدْرِ أَوْمِعُمُا وَوَمُلَا مَوْمُلًا مِعَدُلًا فِيهُ لَكُونِنَا مَعْ وُحسمُا.

وَ. أَهُ سُغُ وَسِرًا وَمُنْا وِهُنِكُلُهُ أَا أَمِم كُم. أَمْنِ وَهُمُنِتَ، وَهُنظَا: هُمُلاهُ لَا أَف مُكَدِّم، مَنْ مَنْنَا: مُنْفِّلاً هُلَا أَف مَكَدَّما.

مَا. أَهِمْ وَهُو لَكَمُتِهُمْ وَمُومَكُفِي وَهُو حِافَوْشُا: وهُسبًا تُمَوَّلًا خَمِدونِ وَهُوا لَمُونِ لَكُلُ الْمُومِ لَكُلًا اللهُ وَمُوا لَمُونِ لَكُلًا لَقُوْمُ فَعَ خَلُونُ هَمُّجًا.

Translate into Syriac:

1. The king sent them to the city, and commanded them to speak to the bishop. 2. This is the acceptable (lit. accepted) year of the Lord. 3. Take courage (use the ethpa.) and speak for () the widow. 4. Let the words of the prophet be expounded unto us. 5. I will not send anyone. There is no one to be sent. 6. Whoever blasphemes against the Holy Spirit shall never be forgiven. 7. I spoke beforehand about all this but at that time you did not accept my words. 8. Honour (f. pl.) your father and your mother. 9. Far be it from (use -) me to show mercy on a blasphemer. 10. Have mercy (use the ethpa.) upon us, o Lord, and send the Holy Spirit to strengthen us.

17. THE APH EL, ETTAPH AL AND OTHER CONJUGATIONS

The aph'el generally forms the causative of the verb, as in المؤلف 'he caused to kill'. The ettaph'al is its passive: المؤلف 'he was caused to kill'.

Inflection. The whole paradigm of the aph'el is as follows. Notice that with preformatives (i.e., in the imperfect, infinitive and participles) the initial / is dropped, and the preformative takes its vowel.

perfect:	sing.	pl.
3rd masc.	rafu .	مُهْدَى or مُهْدَى $^{\prime}$
3rd fem.	أمهكم	رُقَمْ کے or (رُقَمْ کے اُسُمُ اُسُ
2nd masc	أملهكم .	المراجعة
2nd fem.	أملمكن	/َمَمْ لَكُمْ ع
ıst	أمهكم	المُورِّدَةِ or المُورِّدِيِّةِ أَمْرُ كُورِّدِيِّةٍ أَمْرُيْرِيْ

imperfect:

3rd masc.	ئممُ	تمهكة
3rd fem.	لَهُمَا (مكةً	تمريّك (أم
2nd masc.	اًمهُٰ	أمهكة
2nd fem.	أمهك	أممك
Ist	⁄مُمْمًا ا	ئَفَيُّلاً

imperative:

masc.	مُمَوِّلًا	مُولِمُكُمُ or مُعَلِّمُهُم
fem.	/ُمهُّ	′مُمْهُدِّہِ or مُمْهُدٌ

participles:

မြန်သင် (f. မြန်သင်, f. emph. မြည်ခုံသင်, etc.) မြန်သင် (f. မြန်သင်, f. emph. မြည်ချင်, etc.) active passive

\$17 THE APH'EL AND ETTAPH'AL

infinitive:

If the second radical is a bgdkpt, it is pronounced hard everywhere, e.g., حَمْدُ, etc. As in the parel, if the third radical is a guttural or ;, the vowel before it is a; e.p. 'cause to pass', أَدِحُوْر

A nomen agentis in the aph'el has the form . An example is مفتئ مُدهارُا 'John the baptizer'.

The paradigm of the ettaph'al is as follows. (The usual other longer forms exist but are omitted here.)

perfect:

3rd masc.	1/1مگھ	ألمأمؤك
3rd fem.	ألأمهكم	/ُالمُولَىٰ
and masc.	1/أمرَّكم	ألمككم
2nd fem.	11أمخُكك	رأك أم ألارًا
ıst	ألمأمهكم	/اأمهُم

imperfect:

ٽمأم <i>ؤ</i> لا	نمأمهكة
أأمها	نمأممك
الأملأ	أنأمهكة
أأمهكم	أتأقهك
/اأمهًا	نمأمهلا
	ٽھأمؤلا أأمؤلا أأمؤلا أأمؤلا ثاأمؤلا

imperative:

masc.	/Lأملًا	مكلمة ألم من من من ألم
fem.	أالأمؤك	(المُقَوِّكُم or كِلْمُقَالِدِ)

(أَهُمَا مُولِلًا f. الْمُمَامِكُلُا participle:

infinitive:

In this paradigm, the sequence -LL'-, properly -LL'-, is promounced eta, not etta; so that \\(\) is etaqtal. Notice that the forms in the impf. beginning with -LL are actually reduced in spelling to -LL.

Usage and meaning. The causative sense of the aph'el is the most usual, for example حكم 'be baptized' - مُحمر 'baptize'. But some verbs in the aph'el do not fit this description.

- a. Sometimes pe'al and aph'el are more or less the same in meaning, e.g. معن and معن 'think, suppose'; معن and 'testify'.
- b. Some verbs have new meanings in the aph'el, e.g. 'fight'.
- c. Some verbs occur only in the aph'el, e.g. 12/ 'preach'.

The anomalous verb "find, be able' may be taken to be an aph'el of an in which the vowel of the preformative is e instead of a. Thus the imperfect is and the par-شمصُه and infinitive شمصُه .

The ettaph'al is, in fact, somewhat rare. For the passive of the aph'el, many verbs use the ethpe'el or ethpa'al instead. e.g. المُحدِّد 'be preached' (passive of الحدِّد).

Other conjugations. A number of verbs of four letters are, etymologically, a three-letter root plus a prefix or infix. For example, مَده 'subjugate' derives from the root عدم and is

www.malankaralibrary.com

accordingly called a shaph'el. The passive فه أنه الله وshtaph'al. The shaph'el/eshtaph'al conjugation, which is causative in meaning, is the most common of the minor conjugations. Others include the saph'el (e.g. مَعْبَةُ 'hasten' from مِعْبَ) and pay'el (مُعَمِّهُ 'endure' from مِعْبَ). All these verbs have the a-e vowel pattern of the pa'el and are conjugated like other quadriliteral verbs (§16).

Vocabulary

			1 - DA (946)
ڪنزا	aph. preach;	بحز	shaph. subjugate
	ethp. be preached	مبكع	aph. reign
حمد	aph. baptize	لثم	be dressed, a;
(مقس	find, be able		aph. clothe
فصحه	aph. bear witness	هزد	aph. fight, attack
سكف	shaph. change	مكع	aph. deliver, hand
حُمْاؤًا	demon		over, commit
أحذ	if (contrary to fact)	شُهُو	white
مثسكم	Solomon	1:5-1	emissary
عمدا	how much, how many	جُ	then, next
lôś	wretched, un-	لحةمًا	garment, clothing
	happy; emph. 1209	شعة أا	animal(s) (f. sing.)

Exercises

Translate into English:

- i. ة والمكر مكسف كلا فكاه أسمارًا سكك أحدَوه،
 - 2. لُو بُرِّه رُيه هِ مُعَا مُعِمهُ وَبِ وَكُم مكس .

- 3. أُمكشُه كمن شَبْع وقَدَكه: وُقُنُا صَدائِمٌ وَوُقُنَا وَمُشَارِهِ
- 6. أَحْهُ لُمْ شَحِ أَكْدُهُ إِيهُمْ اوْمُلَا: لُمْ شَحَمُتُ وَهُوا حَدُوْهِا حَشَدَمِ.
 - 7. أَلَا مُنَا أَمْنًا فِي مَازُوا حَفَّاكِي.
- 8. مُعمدُ أيم ومُعمَّ أيم كعمَّكه كنعه ها وادوباً.
 - و. أحكم هوةه منزه بهذكلا. والمأحكم كرنلا.
- 10. مَدْمِ أَكْدُهُ لَمُعُدُهُ سُمَا أَل هَكُدُهُ فُرُّسِمُ اللَّهِ مِنْ مِكْدُول.

Translate into Syriac:

1. He will preach; we are able; they were attacked. 2. She reigned over the whole nation after her father. 3. I bear witness to you that my word is true and believable (lit. believed). 4. Our fathers have handed down (use) this wisdom to us. 5. John baptized with water, but he will baptize with the Holy Spirit. 6. The wretched (man) was unable to speak. 7. He clothed his teaching (in) the clothing of fine words. 8. Christ is preached, whether (lit. if) by us or whether by others. 9. The demons fought against the blessed one, but it was they who were subjugated by him. 10. I know the scriptures, and let him not suppose that they should be changed (use the eshtaph'al).

¹ For the palpel conjugation, see p. 118 below.

18. OBJECTIVE PRONOMINAL SUFFIXES, 1

We have seen that the direct object of a verb may be indicated by the preposition - with either a noun or a pronoun suffix following. Thus: كَ الله الله بين 'he will kill us'. There is, however, a more idiomatic way of expressing a pronoun as a direct object, and that is by a suffix on the verb itself. These objective pronominal suffixes are similar to, though not identical with, the possessive suffixes treated in §6. This lesson covers suffixes on the perfect tense of the verb.

The forms of the suffixes are as follows:

	sing.	pl.
Ist	Life Control	•
2nd m.	*	رفع
2nd f.	جم	جُعَ
3rd m.	თ, სტ, სტა, სტა	
3rd f.	ėn .	******

There are no suffixes for the 3rd plural, the enclitic forms من and مناً being used in their place. (Remember that the other personal pronouns are not used as direct objects.)

The forms of the verb to which the suffixes are attached have to be learned separately. For the pe'al pf. these forms are as follows. The vowel that connects verb to suffix is shown separately from the form. For most of the forms it is constant. For others, marked *, it is the same as the vowel in the familiar paradigm of attach, except that the 1st singular suffix is attached.

	sing.	pl.
3rd m.	44 2-	مُهلاه- *
3rd f.	*- <u>42</u> 40	مُهٰلاً-'
2nd m.	مهُلاه-'	ممَّكهة، '
2nd f.	مهُلاه- ً	مَمُّكِمُنه-'
Ist	<i>مؤ</i> كة-*	مهد-'

The entire paradigm for the pe'al perfect is as follows:

singular verb

	suffix	3rd m.	grd f.	2nd m.	2nd f.	ıst
	no suffi	ağu x	فهكه	مهُلاه	مهٔکت	ڡٞۿػڡ
:	ıst	مُهكُس	مهُحبُ	ممككك	ممككمس	
	2nd m.	مُهكر	مهُحجُر		_	ممككم
	2nd f.	مُهكم	ڡۿڬۿؚڡ			مؤكثم
*	3rd m.	ئهكه	ممككبي	مهكندي	مهُكمُم	
				ممككة		ممككةه
:		_		•	مگلک	
		-	فهكمهف			مگلاهف
	2 f. pl.	مهٔکمُم	فهكهفي			مؤلاقه

plural verb

no suff	مگده xi	مؤلا	مهُكمُه	مهٔکهٔم	مگح
rst	مَهْكةَك	مَهَك	مُمُكمةنُس	مهُكمْسُ	
2nd m.	قهدة	<u>مُه</u> کر			مهكئبر
2nd f.	ئهلاؤما	مُهِدُمِي			مؤكلما
3rd m.	، مُهلمُهِ ه	، مَكهكس	مهٔکههٔ نسو،	مهكشيوء	مهکئیو،
3rd f.	فهكةه	مُهكہ	مكمك	ممُحمُنه	ممككة
ı pl.	مُهْكُمُ	مُهُكُ	مگحده	ممككمن	
2 m. pl.	مُهَكُّمُهُمُ.	مهُّلجه	_		ممككئم
2 f. pl.	مُّهكةڤم	مگُخفِي		_	ممكنف

www.malankaralibrarv.com **§18** OBJECTIVE PRONOMINAL SUFFIXES, I

87

Notice in this paradigm:

- a. The form of the 3rd m. sing. suffix is determined by the vowel connecting it to the verb: after a consonant it is after it is um (the whole ending is then pronounced u) after 'it is LoL $(\bar{a}y)$, and after Lit is Logo (iw).
- b. In the 3rd m. and f. sing. (but not the 1st sing.) and 3rd f. pl. of the verb, the forms with the and and suffixes are just the unsuffixed forms with معنى and عند added.
- c. In the 3rd f. pl. and 1st pl. of the verb, which otherwise connect to suffixes with ', the 2nd. f. sing. suffix retains the vowel $^{\circ}$, as in معنیفی, 'we heard you (f.)'.

The longer forms of the 3rd m. and f. pl. perfect, and As, can also take suffixes. They have the connecting vowel'; thus وَمُكَرِّهُم سِينَاهُ مَهُكُوم سِنْتَكُمْ مِينَالًا بِهِم وَلَا يَانِهُم etc

For verbs with perfect in e, the vowel becomes when on account of a suffix it moves onto the first syllable; e.g., "he worshipped it' (but of the worshipped it').

In the pa'el and aph'el pf., the attachment of suffixes is similar; but in these conjugations the vowel on the second root letter disappears in the 3rd m. sing, and 3rd m. and f. pl before most of the suffixes. Examples of suffixed forms are

> he baptized her they (m.) sent him they (f.) received him she strengthened me we baptized him.

pronominal suffixes on verbs cannot be used in a reflexive sense. This sense has to be expressed otherwise, e.g. with 'he humbled himself' مُدُمْر نُهُمُ أَن self', as in مُدُمْر نُهُمُ أَن أَن اللهُ ا

A pronoun suffix is often used to anticipate an object al-"he bought the book'. أجنه كمكُذا as in أجنه كمكُذا

Vocabulary

	ശക്ക	cut, cut off, o	ھڏ	do, perform,
	حمدم	pa. serve		visit, o
	مڪز	bury, o	فيكا	be angry, a.
	هزاه	ethp. be sick		aph. anger
	هنمه	sick, ill	أمُّك	when?
دُا	منشع دأب	punishment	حُالُاً ٨	justly
1	حُملاً أَهُمْ	(in) prison	٨٠٠ و و و و	Judith
	ۇەب	David	ۇرو ۋەكى	Roman (adj.)
	و معدورًا	governor	كمكنا	robber
	ئنهك	naked	أفسةً أ	Ephesus
ei Si	سزيمة	(adv.) much,	<i>j</i> i	for (conj.; usually
i.		greatly	2	nd word in a clause)
	أحصئنا	stranger	- - •	introduces direct
	مددّناًا	cave (f.)	•	and indirect speech

Exercises

Translate into English:

 مُنَا بِحُم صَدَن بِمُكَدِّه مَكْدُه مَكَدُهُ. 2. وَاحْ أَحِنُوم مِدَّنِأًا وَأَمْحِ مُحَرِّهُ لَالِهِأُهِ. 3. مُنة عمَّت لَلهَناً اللهُ لَلْ لَلْ عمَّدهُ .

- ، مَكَدَهُ أَا كُمْ كَوْنَ : شَجِّلًا وَاحْكَثُنَ وَوَا مُكِلُطُ كَنِوهُ وَجُدًا.
 - ي معا معمل فر أحمًا ووقه خافسوص نراه أيه.
 - 6. أَمَدُهُ اللَّهُ مِنْ وَهُمْ مُنَالُكُمُ أَهُ أَحْصَلُمُ أَهُ حَبْدَهُ أَهُ حُدِهُ اللَّهُ حُدِهُ اللَّهُ م رَحَدُوْا وَلُو حَدْمِنُونَ
 - و بُدرَة وم عند شريعة لا معكن من أمدن بمحدلسون لا يُحدَد ا مُعالِم معكن معكن المكاللة المعلمة المعلمة
 - 8 المقسلة مكسلا شمع العشار متبورات عيس.
 - و. لُا هَمُّت: وَحَمَّ حُمْ رِكْفَا اللهِ كَفَرَاهِ مُنْفِعًا . أَيِهِ فَيَ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ الله
 - 10. أَحَدُبِأُه مُحَدِّهُ . لَا تُرَمِّنُا أَنِ النَّم السَّنِ أَحدَثِا. لَا يُعن عَبَرُك صفيعًا حكمة أَلُو حكمةً أَنَّ المُعدِّرة .

Translate into Syriac, using suffixed forms where possible:

1. Did you (f. sing.) receive our letter? We sent it to you.
2. She took the gospel book and expounded it. 3. That is the commandment. Have you (m. sing.) heard it? I have heard it and I have kept it. 4. The Romans fought against the Jews and subjugated them under their emperor (lit. king). 5. Our emissary was sent to you (m. pl.) and you did not receive him. 6. Judith cut off his head, and took it to her companions. 7. If you (m. pl.) have killed him, you will not be able to flee from punishment. 8. We have justly angered thee; but thou hast loved us. 9. The emissary was attacked by robbers. They took all that he had and left him. 10. The king was angry toward David because the people were glorifying him.

19. OBJECTIVE PRONOMINAL SUFFIXES, 2

Objective pronominal suffixes may also be attached to the imperfect, imperative, and infinitive of the verb.

Attached to the imperfect. The suffixes are the same as those on the perfect, but the connecting vowels are different.

we shall visit him

رفعذ فها به we shall visit you (m. pl.)

you (m. pl.) will visit him

we shall visit you (m. pl.)

you (m. pl.) will visit him

they (f.) will visit you (f. sing.).

The whole inflection is set out in the paradigm on the next page. This shows all the different endings and suffixes; the forms not shown that begin with -\hat{\mathbb{l}} and -\hat{\gamma} can be inferred from it.

 3rd m. s.
 2nd f. s.
 3rd m. pl.
 3rd f. pl.

 no suffix
 گفین
 حکماً
 حکماً

let us send him مُجْرُفُونُ he will baptize you.

Attached to the imperative. The suffixes give the following forms. Notice the unexpected connecting vowels in the masculine singular. In the plural, suffixes may be attached to both the short and the long forms of the imperative. In both forms of the masculine plural, there is the unexpected vowel 5 between the first and second root letters.

		singular	verb	
		m.	Í	f.
1st sing	;.	مهفكس	کیب	مكف
3rd m.	sing.	مهمكسوب	كسوي	مكة
3rd f. si	ng.	مكفكه	كبة	مكَّة.
ıst pl.		مگفگم	کے	مكه
plural ve	rb: sho	rt form	long	form
	m.	f.	m.	f.
ist sing.	مةلمكة	منهفكك	مةلمكةنس	مجةكش
3rd m. sing.	مةلمكة	مهكفهم	مؤلمكأنس	مخفكشوه
3rd f. sing.	مةلمكةه	مكمكه	مة لمكة نه	مخفكنه
ıst pl.	مقهلاق	مهٔمک	ڔ۬ڡٝػ <u>ڋ</u> ڡٞڡ	مظَّفكنهُ

In the pa'el and aph'el, suffixes are attached to the ordinary forms of the imperative, using the same suffixes and connecting vowels as shown above for the pe'al. In the masculine singular and the masculine long form of the plural, the vowel on the second root letter remains. In other forms it vanishes. Thus:

send (m.) me! but مُبَوِّنك send (f.) me! مُجَوِّنك or مُحَدِّدُتُك receive (m.) me!

The 2nd sing. m. impf. when used with 1 as a prohibition can take the vowel and suffixes of the imperative, as in

do not kill me! لُا أَمْهَوْكُنِيهِ كُلُ الْمُذُكِّدِيُّومُ do not receive him!

Attached to the infinitive. The infinitive is considered as a noun and the suffixes are the ordinary possessive suffixes (§6) except that the 1st singular suffix is ω' . Thus from

the infinitive مُعَمِّكُم we have مُعَمِّكُم , مُعْمِكُم بُعُم بُعُم بُعُم بُعُم بُعُم بُعُم بُعُم بُعُم بُعُم etc. (For this kind of inflection recall §11, p. 50 above.) In the pa'el and aph'el, the infinitives add a L before taking the suffixes, and so become feminine nouns like we have. Thus from the infinitive مُدُمُونُهُ we have سَامُكُمُ مِنْ مُكُمُ مِنْ مُكُمُ مِنْ مُكُمُ مِنْ مُكُمُ مِنْ مُكُمِّلُ مِنْ مُكُمِّلُ مِنْ مُكُمِّلُ مِنْ مُكُمِّلُ مُن اللهِ الل fixes are still objective: شميك means 'to kill me' and not 'for me to kill (someone else)'.

Vocabulary

اح	pa. sell	وحمه	pe., pa. sacrifice
ھکس	work, till, serve, o	مُلَافًا	angel
کم	particle indicating	كثلا	Babylon
	direct speech	ثحمًا	reason, cause,
ئڭمە	old		explanation (f.)
	field (f.)	ائيزآ	merchant
أوئمكا	opinion, mind (f.)	وَمَزُمُوا	monk
نصَّهُ	Potiphar	لمُتلَّدُ	(pl.) price

Exercises

Translate into English:

- أَنْ مُحَنِّعِ: لَا أَقِيمُوهِ لَا كُنَا. مِحَوْمُنِهِ وَلُقِكُسُوهِ عِنْ
 - 2. أُن أُخَرَوْمِن كُمِزُمِكُن لُا تَمُدِكُونُ أُذُواُنُ . 2
 - 3. استك مدادة كما رهوا وتقعيف مدنا.
- 4. أي أمم كر وحسمًا كعرَّحْسة : لُا القَاْحُرة كَر وَهُ إِذَا أَمِمَ حُسُب ولَاحُوْب.
- 5. هَكُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ مُعُلِّ وُمِكُن وه وَوَمَرًا وَلَا هَكُمِ كَرَبُّهُمْ كَمِرَكُنهُ أَنَّ . 5

- م رُسير رُونُه مِوْ لَهُ مِن رُونُه مِنْ اللَّهُ اللَّهِ مُعْدُم اللَّهُ اللَّهِ مُعْرُم مُنْ اللَّه اللَّه مُعْرُم مُن اللَّهُ اللَّه مُعْرُم مُن اللَّه اللَّهُ اللَّه اللَّهُ اللَّه اللَّه اللَّه اللَّه اللَّه اللَّه اللَّه اللَّه اللَّهُ اللَّه اللَّه اللَّه اللَّه اللَّه اللَّه اللَّه اللَّه اللَّهُ اللَّه اللَّه اللَّه اللَّه اللَّه اللَّه اللَّه اللَّه اللَّهُ اللَّه اللَّه اللَّه اللَّه اللَّه اللَّه اللَّه اللَّه اللَّهُ اللَّه اللَّهُ اللّ مُحَدُ مُثِنُهِ لُا امُخُكُنُهِ .
- ح. حلت عُدمون أحدة وم للبدة من حكم الله الله عنه أحدُه عن أحدًا
- 8. مُدَمَّلًا وَانْقُبِ أُمِدُبِ مُدُا روم كُم مُكْدُا وِهَوَعَالًا وُلًا: حِدَوْوُلًا وَالْكُولُ لِعُكُمُ عُكُمُ مُكُمُ الْمُعُمِّلُ عُكُمُ الْمُعْمَدُهُ.
 - و. فقر وَنَا وِنْمُعِلَقُلُمِومَ كَيْحَالُ مِنْ عَبْمُوهِمَ. وَهُحَادُهُمَ كُمْ كَسُمُنُا وَلُا حُمْ أَهُمُا.
- ١٥. هَيْدَأُلُ وَمِعْدِهِ مِنْ الْمُعْدَرُهِ وَمُونِ الْمِعْدِ وَوَهِ : مُعَمِّلُ وَمِ مُدَالُمُ اللهُ عَدِينًا وَالْ مُناهُ مُدعِدُه للشَّعْمُ لَهُمُ عَلَيْهُ .

Translate into Syriac:

1. The Lord is God; let us worship him and glorify him, 2. This is the son; let us kill him. 3. I have handed you (m. pl.) over to the king of Babylon, you and the whole people, that you should serve him. 4. Let them buy the fruit and taste it. 5. He knows my opinion, and he cannot change it. 6. I shall be betrayed (handed over) into the hands of the Romans, and they shall kill me. 7. She had a field, and her brother used to say to her, 'Sell it for (-2) a good price.' 8. My daughters, fear not. They will not find you and they will not kill you. 9. The governor commanded his servants, 'Take her to prison.' 10. This teaching is blasphemy and I cannot accept it.

20. WEAK VERBS. PE-NUN VERBS

Weak verbs. Variations in the conjugation of verbs are generally produced by the presence in the stem of (a) a nun as a first radical, (b) one of the letters alaph, waw, yod, or (c) a doubled or repeated second radical. The resulting classes, with examples, are:

Ι.	pe-nun	ىقم
	pe-alaph	'مُفلا
3.	pe-yod	نثم
4.	'e-alaph	شاللا
5.	hollow (or 'e-waw)	(ھەھ) ھُھ
6.	geminate (or double 'e)	(دا۱) ځا
7.	lamad-yod	المش، ميث

Verbs with a guttural letter or ; as the third radical, like and بَدْمُ, are sometimes considered as another class of weak verbs, but their peculiarities are slight and we have already treated them along with the strong verb.

It is possible for a verb to be doubly weak (e.g., 12) 'come'), though certain peculiarities are never found together. For example if a verb beginning with a nun has a vowel letter as its second radical (e.g., wa 'rest'), it is not weak in the same way as the pe-nun verbs.

Pe-nun verbs. As will have been already noticed in such words as Not and will have been already noticed in such words as similated to a following consonant when no vowel-sound intervenes between the two. (The effect of

this assimilation is to double the following letter, as shown by the qushaya on L in 2 for example.) In pe-nun verbs, the assimilation takes place in the pe'al imperfect and infinitive and throughout the aph'el and ettaph'al. In these forms the assimilated nun is not written at all. Additionally, in the pe'al imperative, the nun disappears altogether.

The following paradigm gives the affected forms of رفعه ('go out') in the pe'al:

imperfect	sing.	pl.
3rd m.	ثغفما	ثعمة
3rd f.	(لففعاً) أعفف	
2nd m.	أهف	أعمة
2nd f.	أفمُح	لُقفُ
ıst	<i>رُ</i> ففو	تعفعن
imperative	sing.	pl.
m.	ھفھ	مەفع, رقەفع
f.	فغمب	سقفع, سقفع
infinitive:	بۇم	2 S 0

In the aph'el ('put out, expel'), we have:

perfect هُوْمَ، كَفُومْ، كَالْمُومْ، كَالْمُومُ، كَالْمُومُ مُومْ، كَالْمُومُ مُومُ كُلُومُ كُلُومُ كُلُومُ كُلُومُ كُومُ مُومُ كُلُومُ كُلُمُ كُلُومُ كُلُومُ كُلُومُ كُلُومُ كُلُومُ كُلُومُ كُلُومُ كُلُو

The ettaph'al is مُلاًفُه، etc.

www.malankaralibrarv.com

The verb \mbox{N} ('give') is used only in the pe'al imperfect, where it takes the vowel e (\mbox{N} \mbox{L} \mbox{L} , \mbox{L} \mbox{L} , etc.), and in the infinitive (\mbox{N} \mbox{L}). For other forms, a different verb, (§22) is used.

The verb ('go up') is irregular in that it assimilates the lamad just as a pe-nun verb assimilates the nun. Thus in the affected forms it is conjugated in the same way: impf. ('bring up, send up') pf. ('bring up, send up') pf. (inf. ass, participle act. ass, pass. ass.)

Vocabulary

نھُم	go out, o; aph. expel	تقلا	(impf.) give
ىشىم	go down, o	ىقىلا	fall, e
لحكمو	pour, o	ı Ğ ;	keep, a
لڪڪ	take, a	ھڭم	go up; impf. هها
-	draw, e	ىقە	adhere, cling, a
	promise	متحشا	oil
16.67	roof	منقب	anoint, o
رُهُ وَمُ	Aaron	عُزهٰعُا	saviour
-	(pl.) life, salvation		

Exercises

Translate into English:

- I. حدَّه مُدهُوا رَّه وِدُلِيْءًا لُا تُسمَا كَشَعَت شَرْم وَحَدَّمُه.
- 3. فَلاَ مُع وَفُقَ لِلْهَا وَاللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَا اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ اللَّا اللَّا اللَّالِمُ اللَّاللَّا اللَّهُ اللَّا اللَّا اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّا اللَّهُ

- 4. أي أنقم شي أزدًا أي فلا إنما حكام.
- 5. مُعكم شمة الاحتمال مُاقع لَاحكم وأحلم مُعتَحلَم وهُ أَعَلَم
 - 6. حُزِي قُف كشَمِعِكُمُ وَلُل أُمِحِوْقِيهُ وَأَلْمُ فُكُوهِ عُتُسِ.
- 7. أَعَلَمُهُ أَمْرَيُهُمُ وَأَهْمُهُ كَبُمُا وَوَأَعَلَهُ لَلَّهُمُا الْأَوْمُومُوا إِلَّا اللَّهُ
 - 8. مُرَاوُا أَممُ بِحُرِه كُمكُتِمُا وَاقْعِه صَيْتُوا دُمِمُوه وِمُحُرُوهُ .
 - و. هُم شَمسًا معفر دزُلقه وُاهوَف وُصففسُول.
 - 10. أم يوهُ أَنْ مَ حَمَدَهُ مِنْ مَكُمُ أَنْ هُوهُمُ وَاهْرَوْ كُم سَمِ مَنْ أَنْ مُكَمَّا وَاهْرُوْ كُم سَمِ مَنْ أَنْكُمُ الْمِر مُحَمَّدُهُ أَمْ مُحَمَّدُ وَعَتْلًا.

Translate into Syriac:

r. Be careful lest you fall. 2. It is fearsome to fall into the hands of God. 3. Bring out the oil and pour it. 4. Come down from the roof and go out into the field. 5. If you (pl.) love me, keep my commandments. 6. It is not fitting to go up to the temple without a sacrifice to offer. 7. Do not expel (use (use)) me from the church. 8. The priest said to the women, I shall receive whatever you give me. 9. I am speaking to those of you who suppose that you can keep the whole law. 10. If we can give good (things) to our children, then (use 2) will not God give us the Holy Spirit?

21. PE-ALAPH VERBS

This class includes some very common verbs such as 'eat', 'say', and 'go'. The peculiarities of pe-alaph verbs can be considered under four headings, of which the first two are general rules, already familiar (§3), involving alaph.

r. Alaph must have a vowel at the beginning of a word or syllable. (This is the same rule that dictated the form syllable. (This is the same rule that dictated the form with the same rule that dictated the form alaph verbs this rule affects some forms of the perfect, the passive participle, and the imperative. In the perfect the vowel to be supplied is e, as in (not), 'he ate'. In the passive participle the vowel is a, as in 'if 'destroyed'. In the imperative, it is usually also a, e.g. 'if 'eat!'; but it is e for those verbs whose stem vowel in the imperfect is a, e.g. 'if 'say!'. This rule also affects the perfect and imperfect ethpe'el: the vowel on alaph is e, as in if (or rather, is).' see the next rule), 'he was bound'.

2. Alaph gives up its vowel to a preceding consonant that has no vowel. (This rule is familiar from words with an inseparable prefix, e.g. المائة 'of the father', §4.) Thus we have المائة for المائة 'as just mentioned. It also affects the pa'el imperfect generally: e.g. المائة (not المائة) 'he will compel'.

Besides these two general rules, there are two more specific peculiarities of *pe-alaph* verbs.

4. In the aph'el, after the preformatives - أَ - أَ - أَ - أَ الْ alaph changes to waw, giving - هَا - هَا - هَا - هَا . The same waw appears in the ettaph'al, shaph'el and eshtaph'al. Thus from أَهُمُ 'perish' the aph'el is أَهُمُ 'destroy, lose' and ettaph'al المَاهُمُا . The root نسا is only found in the aph'el نعماً and eshtaph'al مَاهُمَا اللهُ ا

In all these verbs the 1st sing. imperfect is written with only one alaph, e.g. مُحَدُّز (not مُحَدُّز) 'I will say'.

The following paradigm summarizes the peculiarities of these verbs.

Pe'al perfect هُمْرُ، هَمْمُ، هَمْمُ، هَمْمُ، مَمْمُ وَدَد. imperfect in o هُمْرَةً هُمْرُاهِمْهُ مُرْاهِمُهُمْ مُرْاهِمُهُمْ مُرْاهِمُ وَالْمُمْرُ مُرْاهُمْ مُرْاهُمُ وَلَا مُرْرَاهُ وَلَيْمُ مُرْاهُمُ وَلَا مُرْرَاهُ وَلِي اللّهُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُونِهُ وَلِمُونُ وَمُونُوا وَمُونُوا وَمُرْرِقُونُ وَلَا مُرْرَاهُ وَلَا مُرْرَاهُ وَلَا مُرْرَاهُ وَلَا مُرْرَاهُ وَلَا مُرْرَاهُ وَلَا مُرْرَاهُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَمُرْرِقُونُ وَلِمُ وَالْمُونُ وَلِمُ وَالْمُونُ وَلِمُ وَالْمُونُ وَلِي وَالْمُونُ وَلِمُ وَالْمُونُ وَلِمُ وَالْمُونُ وَلِي وَلِي وَلِمُ وَالْمُونُ وَلِي وَالْمُونُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُونُ وَالْمُونُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُونُ وَالْمُونُ وَلِمُ وَالْمُونُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَالْمُونُ وَلِمُ وَالْمُونُ وَلِمُ وَالْمُونُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَالْمُونُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُونُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُونُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُونُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُونُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُونُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُونُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُونُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُونُ وَلِمُونُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُونُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُ ولِمُونُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُونُ وَلِمُونُ وَلِمُونُ وَلِمُونُ وَلِمُونُ وَلِمُونُ وَلِمُونُ وَلِمُونُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُونُ وَلِمُونُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُونُ وَلِمُونُ وَلِمُوالِمُونُ وَلِمُونُ وَلِمُ وَلِمُونُ وَلِمُوالْمُولِقُونُ وَلِمُونُ وَلِمُونُ وَلِمُونُ وَلِمُونُ وَلِ

^{&#}x27; In one verb, الما 'come', the aph'el has - أ instead of - أ ; thus, 'bring'. This verb is treated with verbs lamad-yod (§27).

www.malankaralibrarv.com

Ethpe'el perfect \\alpha\langle\langle\chi\rangle, \alpha\alpha\langle\langle\chi\rangle, \alpha\alpha\langle\langle\chi\rangle\rangle, \eta\alpha\alpha\langle\langle\chi\rangle\rangle, \eta\alpha\alpha\langle\langle\chi\rangle\rangle\rangle.

imperfect الْمُاوِكُم الْمُرَافِكُم الْمُرَافِكُم بِهُمُ وَلَيْ imperative m. sing. الْمُرَافِكُم أَلُوكُم الْمُرَافِكُمُ participle m. هُمُّاوُكُمُ , f. الْمُحَافِكُمُ infinitive

Pa'el imperfect گاگر, باکر (1st. sing.), فراکر, etc. participle active m. مَاكر , f. إمّالكز; passive مَاكر infinitive مُعَالِكِنَةِ.

Ethpa'al pf. الكراكر etc.; impf. الكراكر etc.; inf. هُمُاكِرَة etc.; inf. هُمُاكِرة

Aph'el pf. جُونٌ, لَبَعَوْ, etc.; impf. جُونٌ , etc.; inf. وَهُونُهُ. Ettaph'al pf. جُونًا وَاللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ اللَّا اللَّهُ اللَّ

The verb گُدُّ 'teach' is conjugated like a pa'el verb in this class, except that after a preformative the alaph is not usually written; e.g., عَدُلُ (rather than عُدُلُ) 'she will teach', and مُدُفُّ 'teaching' (compare المُدُفُّلُ 'teacher').²

The verb منه 'hold' has an irregular ethpe'el, in which the / changes to L; thus, عدا (ethed) 'was held' or 'was closed'.

In the verb $\sqrt{1}$ 'go', some forms have an elided pronunciation in which the $-\Delta$ - is silent and its vowel moves back to the 1. This happens in such forms as $\Delta \sqrt{1}$ (ezat; not $\Delta \sqrt{1}$) 'she went' and $\Delta \sqrt{1}$ (āzā) 'going' (f.). This verb also has the irregular imperative $\Delta \sqrt{1}$ 'go!'.

Passive participles can sometimes be active in meaning. This is the case with the verb المائة 'they were mourning'. The passive participle of the verb المنا را المائة 'they were mourning'. The passive participle of the verb المنا را المائة 'held in sleep fast asleep'; but more usually it is active, as in المنا المائة منا المائة منا المائة منا المائة 'holding to the truth' and المنا أشا أشا أشا أشا أشا أشا المائة 'holding all – omnipotent' (a common epithet of God).

Vocabulary

1/1	go, <i>a</i>	; <i>/</i>	aph . $delay$
تمشب	hold, seize (+ع),	7ُمَّذَ:	say, a
	close, o	7ُ کُف	teach
/حل	pe.(o), pa. press,	\\ \	pass.ptc. گخت
	compel, oppress		mourning;
	eat, consume, o		ethp. mourn
آځ,	perish, be lost, a;	/هَب	pour out, shed, o
_	aph. destroy, lose	; 45)	bind, o
ھگس	open, a	أَوْدُا	gate, door
•	when	مؤهماً	truth $(m.)$
L <u>?</u>	new; <i>emph</i> . الْمِينَة,	مةۈكئا	offering, eucharist
٠	f. emph.	فكشا	soldier
ۋىدىدۇا	tear (of the eye; f.);	لةُؤُوْ	fire (f.)
	pl. أَمْكُمُا	شت	living

Exercises

Translate into English:

مَن وَاهِ وَ كَرِمُوا وَالْتَهَا : حَالَتُهَا الْكُرَاهِ وَهُوه .
 أَمُون مُدن عده ود : أيلا أَمُون اللَّهُ وَسَمًا حَدَالُه .

² But in dictionaries this verb is usually found under the root (learn', and treated as an irregular aph'el or pa'el.

- وَ فَهُو كُمُكُنِهُمُ : فَلَا مُدُومِ وِأَاهِزِقَ طَافِدًا لَمُأْلِعُو دُمِعُمُلِ.
 - مَ رُخُمُ لِي وَهُو مُلا لِمُخْلِا حَنْقِدًا هَيْ الْأَالِ
- ء مُوا وَمَعُنْتُ دُولًا مِهُودُنُا حَمُونُوا: نُهُدَمُ لِ أَوْدُلُ وَرَّعُمُ وَأَنْسِ
- 6 فَهُ مُنْ لِ كُنْ مُنْ اللَّهُ مُنْ مُنْ مُنْ اللَّهُ مُنْ اللَّهُ مُنْ اللَّهُ مُنْ اللَّهُ مُنْ اللَّهُ اللَّا اللَّهُ الل وم ومعددة احد المعدد ال
- مِ لَسِكُمَا يَوْوَا مُتِي مِعِمُا وَاحِكُم كِمَوْدُمُوا. وَوَسِكُمُا وَحِكُم أَسْمِوا
 - 8. وَاكْف أَنِي وَامَّدُ حَمَّدَهُمُ وَلَا أَلَا مُحْفَى مُم أَلَا كُرَى : مُحَمُّلا وهُفَا أَكُره كَنَتُنا.
- و. أُمكِيه كُم أَنْ وَاسِرةُ وَم وَاهْزَةُ وَم وَدَوْوُه عَدْ أَهُمُوا .
- or. لُا أُومَة مُحْفُل حَمَّماتُوهُ حَمْمَكَ حَمْدَتُهُ وَمِي مُسرًا وَمِ أرًا لله فكتموها وتوقر كمرسهون.

Translate into Syriac:

I. Do not say, 'What shall we eat?' 2. I have found the book that was lost. 3. Let us hold to (use -a) that which we have received, lest we fall. 4. She said to him, 'Eat!' But he was not able to eat anything. 5. She came out and the door closed after her. 6. Pour out the blood from the offering before you offer it. 7. Christ was handed over to death, but death could not hold him, 8. Go, flee, and do not delay; for he who delays will perish. o. They were going to seize the saint and bind him and lead him before the governor. 10. The governor commanded him, 'Say what this new doctrine is that you are teaching.'

22. PE-YOD VERBS

This (not very large) class of verbs is sometimes called peand waw. A waw does appear in the aph'el and ettaph'al of most of them, but in the pe'al, all the verbs in this class begin with vod.

The first peculiarity of these verbs arises from the rule for vod already met in §3. When a yod would not have a full vowel, it assumes the vowel i. This happens in some forms of the pe'al perfect and imperative, and throughout the ethne'el; thus, Li (not Li) 'he inherited'. As a matter of snelling, alaph is sometimes prefixed to -2 at the beginning of a word, e.g. Lil (= Lil). If there is a consonant before the yod, the vowel i is pronounced with it, as in $\angle i$ etiled 'was born'; Li; diret 'who inherited'.

In those forms in which the yod is a consonant with a vowel already, the conjugation is regular, e.g. Liu'I inherited'. 'she was born'. This is the case throughout the pa'el

The vowel of the pe'al perfect is e for all pe-vod verbs except those that end in a guttural or i, e.g. نَمُن 'be heavy'. The vowel of the imperfect is always a.

In the imperfect and infinitive pe'al, the first root letter vod is replaced by alaph, and the vowel on this syllable is i.

The only verb forms in Syriac that actually begin with waw are list 'be fitting' (§14) and مُدُ 'appoint'.

Thus we have الْمُؤَا 'he will inherit' and المُعَادِّن 'to inherit'; alsn 157 'I shall inherit'. This is a borrowing from the pe-alaph verbs and imitates verbs like :............................../...

In the aph'el and ettaph'al, most pe-yod verbs change the yod to waw. Thus we have Ao? 'cause to bear - beget' Two verbs, عند 'suck (milk)' and الله (which occurs in the aph'el only), retain the yod: المناه 'suckle' and مناه 'wait'

The following forms will serve as a guide to conjugation:

peʻal	perfect		Li (Li/)	
	imperfect		نُاؤً ا	
	imperative		(لَيْدُ) مُثَلًا	
	infinitive		مُداؤً ا	
	participles	act. 🕰	pass. 🕰	آناه) الم
ethpe ^c el			LLL?	
pa'el a	and ethpa ^c al	"	ئځلا ,ئڅلا	1.7
aph'el		L}07		أمنه
ettaph	·sal	LjolL	<i>?</i>	ألمألته

The two verbs 'sit' and 'know' are irregular. In the pe'al imperfect, imperative and infinitive they lose the vod and are conjugated like pe-nun verbs. si further irregular in having its impf. in e. Thus for these verbs we have:

peʻal	perfect	نگد	W#
	imperfect	ثيَّت	w _f i ²
	imperative	اُد	W.
	infinitive	شنأت	مُّنتِّ
	participles	ئمُنت ,ئمُت	شُرُّماً, الْمُرَّنَا

The verb con 'give' appears only in the perfect, imperative, and participles. (For the imperfect and infinitve, recall that the verb 🐿 is used instead.) The imperative is irregular: In the pe'al pf. the or is written with linea occultans and not pronounced in the following forms: عصد کم کیود کم کید کم کید کم کید کم کیود کم کید کم کیود کم کید عمت, رئمے and that is, all except عمت and This irregularity does not extend to the ethpe'el, which is would etc. as usual for a pe-yod verb.

Vocabulary

ئگة	gain, abound,	ئتلا	know; aph. in-
,	remain over	•	form, make known
مُمُ	burn (intransitive);	محلا	aph. bring, carry;
·	aph. transitive		pa. transmit
مُرْف	be anxious, take care	₽	aph. stretch out
ئْد	give birth to; ethp.	Li	inherit
	be born; aph. beget	مُون	give
ئڭت	sit, dwell	ئڭھ	learn
حُالةً أَا	justice, righteousness	μ̈́Ž	unless
مُعُمثًا	right, right hand (f.)	شعطأ	left, left hand (f.)
حُنهُا	womb (f.)	فها	body
سةكا	love	المُعلَّمُ	garden (f.)
مُكْمن	than) شے+	فتزشقا	Pharisees
20.20	Herod		

Exercises

Translate into English:

أَهنُـهُ أَوْو أَلْتَحكُم كُو مُح أَدُولً.

- المُكارُ مِنْ مُفالِمُ لِلْهُ مُؤْمَدُ مُنْ مُعْرِدًا مُنْ مُعْرِدًا لِللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ
 - 4. أَأُمَرُ الْمُؤْمِ وَمُحْلِ الْكِنَارِ مِتَمَّنَالًا.
- 5. أَمَّنَا لَا عَلَى وَاللَّا اللَّهُ فَالمَّاعِمَ تَكُمَا فَى وَقَامِهُمُ لَلَّا الْوَاقَ لَلْ الْوَاقَ لَلْ الْوَاقَ لَلْ اللَّهُ اللَّالِي اللَّالِي اللْلِلْمُلِمُ اللَّهُ اللَّالِي اللَّالِيْلِمُ اللَّلِيْمُ اللَّالِي اللْمُلْمُ اللَّهُ اللَّالِمُ اللَّلْمُ اللَّالِمُ اللَّلِمُ اللَّالِمُ الللْمُلْمُ اللَّالِمُ اللَّالِمُ الللْمُلْمُ اللَّالِمُ اللْمُلْمُ اللَّالْمُلْمُ اللَّالِمُ اللَّالِمُ الللْمُلْمُ ا
 - 6. أُه وِجُ هَكُ وَالْمَكْمِ هُنَّى ثَمِ عَم الْهُ وَوَقِه مُعَكَفًا.
- رُمَّا مُناا: ثَمِ لُا أَأَمْكُم تَبْدهُم مثَم لُا أَففه من قَنها توحهُم
 مثا حكنيشا.
 - 8. أن أَهدُم فَهذه بِنَاهَم مستَحُل كُمه دُع : هُنِه لُا مُمَّو /لُا.
 - و. أَهُمُ هُنهُ لَمُعَمِّرُ كَعَارُف كُم مُكْمِدُ إِنْ أَلِ
 - ٥١. وُكِنَا كُف كَعْبُه شَكَّكِكُنُا أُوكُنُف كَوْوُا.

Translate into Syriac:

1. The woman gave the fruit to the man. 2. Take (pl.) the food that remains over, so that nothing may be lost (perish).

3. The priest stretches out his hand over the offering and says this prayer. 4. Give (pl.) praise to God, who has caused us to inherit eternal life. 5. The Lord said to my lord, Sit at my right hand. 6. They found the book and brought it to the bishop. 7. Does the promise belong to others? No, we have inherited it. 9. You should know that some deeds are more honourable than others. 8. Adam begot other sons and daughters, who were born outside the garden. 10. In those days they will not say 'Know the Lord' because they shall all know me.

23. E-ALAPH VERBS

The same rules about alaph that affected the pe-alaph verbs (§21) also affect these verbs. An alaph without a full vowel either acquires one, or if it comes after a vowel, it becomes quiescent. An alaph with a vowel gives it up to a preceding vowelless consonant and likewise becomes quiescent.

In the pe'al perfect all the verbs in this class have the vowel e. For the verb ha'ask', the 3rd m. sing. is therefore ha's (from ha). The quiescent alaph makes all the other forms of the pe'al perfect start the same way, with has: Ala, Ala, Ala, etc.

In the imperfect pe'al, the vowel is always a, but in those parts with an afformative the alaph (or rather, the preceding consonant) takes the vowel e. The imperfect is thus:

	sing.	pl.
3rd masc.	ثمًا ٧	غالكة
3rd fem.	أخلا	غاك
2nd masc.	لْمَالا	أهركن
2nd fem.	أغاكح	أغاتك
ıst	(مَعَلِي	نَمُالاً

The other forms of the pe'al follow from the same rules for the quiescence of alaph:

imperative	11/2	
infinitive	مُنمُلِلا	
active participle	مُرالًا f. مُرَّلًا m. هُرَالًا	
passive participle	خاسا	

www.malankaralibrarv.com

forms of the 3rd fem. sing. and 1st sing. are ASIAA and المُعَالِمُ (not كَالْمُهُ) and كَالْمُهُ) as expected). In the ethpe'el imperfect, as in the pe'al, the vowel e appears in forms with an afformative, e.g. دُممُالِكُهُ.

The aph'el is $\sqrt{\frac{2}{\epsilon}}$, $\sqrt{\frac{2}{\epsilon}}$ (notice the e), etc. In the fem active participle the vowel e is likewise found: مُدُمُالًا (for مُعَمَالًا). The aph'el passive participle is not used.

The verb had' is used impersonally in the pe'al, as in

مُذَا اللهُ your own hurt (lit. so that it would be bad for you).

The ethpe'el المالك (also an alternative form المالك) 'be displeasing' likewise has this impersonal use, as in

Cain was very displeased.

The aph'el خام is 'do evil'.

The form This, the passive particple of , iprepare, is used before an infinitive or imperfect with the sense of 'is going to'; e.g.

مُنَا حَمَّتُنَ حَمْدَمُ what are they (f.) going to do? فَلا أَإِنْ وُحِكُم يَوْوُا كَعُوالًا every place he was going to go حدُّمُ وأوقو حدُّمُ she is going to return home.

Vocabulary

ask; pa. interrogate; be wearisome شاب ethp. decline (+گه) grow old, be old شاحه greet هُلِا (دُ)هُكُعُلِ be bad; aph. do evil pe. (o, a), pa. kiss ethpa. be done. be good; take place aph. do good return, go back, o صُعب eye (f.) dispute, contention شنفنا أمفا honour gift (f.) perhaps (in rhetorical احفومًا . small; f احفواً questions) very (much)

Exercises

Translate into English:

- لُل مُعمق الله قاله حقع وُه حُل وَهُ الكَمْعِ.
 - 2. لُل أَحُلِم دِنْتُس وَهُلِكُم مُنْس مُعَمُّوهُأ.
- 3. وَإِمَّا مُنْءًا كُمُعُمَّاتِ وَهُمْ لِلْوَجَّا وَاحْتِمْ وَالْمُراتِ عُلَيْاً مُعْرِمِ وَالْمُراتِ
- 4. وهُم لِهُ كُنُا حَجَهُ وَا مَكْمَدُنِأُوهُ فَمِ مُدَمَمُ اللَّهُ مِنْ أَمْفُوا وَحَلَتُكُمُا.
- 5. مُحمَّلِك وَهُو كُنُو شَكِّلًا أَحَمَّتَ وَوَى وَمُكَلِّ مُحَكِّدُهِ وَهُ أه مُعمُلِكَ أُعمُلِكَ شَع وَكَمُوامِّذ مُوْمِر.
 - 6. لُو الْمِرْائِينَ حُمُّو /كتوا السَّرْثُونَ حَمُوكُم أَنِينَ مُحَمِّعِينِ حُرهُنَى وَلُو غُوْرِهِ وَلُكُ كُنِكُمْ لُتُرْمِعُونَى وَلُو لُكُوهِ حُمِونَى ـ وَلُو لُكُومِ حُمِونَ
- 7. هم مُكفَا لَامِرَيْزا: هُمه كمزينيمُا وأكه كما أس وهاكه ځمکنه حقصي

IIO

8. أَفْسَعَقَدُقَا أَمَدُهُ: سُلُعُ كَمَ شَائِكًا مُنَا وَشَمَعُمُمُ وَ شَائِنًا وَثَلَمُ وَشَمَعُمُمُ وَ حَدَالًا وَالْكُوا.

و. حدَّه آحنًا شَاحَه مُحمدًا اللهَ الله مَاكَم وه مُعدَسِمًا الله مَاكَم وه مُعدَسِمًا الله من عَداْه ومُنه حمَّر ولزَّا حدَحدة أا.

١٥. حُلُّ : هُادُهُ شَعِ وِاهُ لَا أُمْتِ إِلَاهًا.

Translate into Syriac:

1. I have not given you (m. pl.) the land because you have done evil in my eyes. 2. If you (f. pl.) have done good in your youth, when you grow old it shall not weary you.

3. If you ask anything in my name, it will be given to you.

4. The servant said to his master, 'It is a small (thing) that I have asked of you, and you cannot refuse.' 5. She is going to give me the book for which I asked. 6. Do not be displeased that I have given food to these people who have nothing to eat. 7. There was a dispute about the gift and she declined it. 8. She greeted her father and kissed him.

9. Do (pl.) not ask 'Where are you going to go?' 10. Did God perhaps not know that Cain was going to do evil?

24. HOLLOW VERBS

These verbs are so called because the middle letter of the root is a vowel. Their peculiarities are best explained if this vowel was originally waw, and so they are also known as 'e-waw verbs and are listed in dictionaries with this spelling, e.g. xaa 'rise, stand'. There are, however, no verbs of this class that show the waw in the pe'al perfect.'

Hollow verbs, like the 'e-alaph verbs, start their inflection from a monosyllable. In the pe'al perfect, the vowel of this syllable is always \bar{a} , except in the verb Law 'die' where it is i. In the impf. and imv., the vowel is u (not o as in the strong verbs) except in the verb was 'put' where it is i.' Thus:

	perfect		imı	perfect
3rd m. sing.	مُم	مُعج	ىمەم	بضبعر
3rd f. sing.	مُمُ	مُعجًا	اهةمر	أشمعر
2nd m. sing.	مُمخ	مكما	امةمر	المصيع
2nd f. sing.	فمحت	مكسمنات	امةمني	إششا
ist sing.	مُمْم	مكم		/ُهُمد
3rd m. pl.	مُمده	مُنمجه	ىمۇمدۇر	نصّمنت
3rd f. pl.	مُعر	مُنعب	بقةمح	ىمُتمُ
2nd m. pl.	فمحف	منحنه	رفية	رمُممخة ا
2nd f. pl.	مكتمه	منبهأح	اقةمح	إضتخ
ıst pl.	جمؤ	مسم	نعةمر	لضمر

Verbs that actually have a middle letter waw in the perfect, such as 16; 'rejoice', treat it as a consonant and so are strong verbs.

Notice in the foregoing paradigm³ that there is no vowel on the preformative of the imperfect, except in the 1st sing.

The other forms of the pe'al are as follows:

imperative		مُصمر ,هؤمر
infinitive		مدهٔ مر
active participle	m.	مُمحُّح .pl مُأْمر
	f.	مُتمُّح , pl. مُعمُّزا
passive participle		مُعر

Notice the unexpected alaph in the masc. sing. active ptc This is dropped in the fem. and pl., which have a yod.

In the pa'el and ethpa'al, the middle root letter appears as consonantal yod, so that the verbs are conjugated regularly e.g. from عمد we have منت 'convict' and its passive مناه

In the aph'el pf. and imv. the vowel of the stem is i and the vowel of the preformative a. In the aph'el impf., inf. and ptcs. there is no vowel on the preformative: this is a difference from all other classes of verb. In the impf., the aph'el thus resembles the pe'al, except that the stem vowel is i instead of u. The infinitive is the same as the pe'al except for the ending &-. The following is the paradigm for the aph'el:

		sing.	pl.
perfect	3rd m.	أُمُم	أمّحده
	3rd f.	7مُعك	أمعر
	2nd m.	/مُمدد	أمُستكن
	2nd f.	/مُسمده	/ٌفُمعدهُ ح
	ıst	/مُعشد	/ُمُمَ

³ The paradigms in this lesson omit the longer forms of the verb.

imperfect	3rd m.	غمعر	ע	بقسف
	3rd f.	مُعد	L	بغيغ
XX X	2nd m.	مُعد	L	امُسمة
	2nd f.	فىمتى	L	لمُتمُ
i B	ıst	مُمع	7	ىمُحر
imperative	m.	مُحد	7	أمُنعه
:	f.	مُبعث	7	/ٌمُتمب
infinitive			مدمُمدهٔ	
participles	act.	مخمم	pass.	.محمَّم

The ethpe'el of hollow verbs properly speaking does not exist, its place being taken by the ettaph'al,4 which therefore may be the passive of the pe'al or the aph'el. It is formed from the aph'el in the usual way (see pp. 80-1). Thus we have المُعلم (etgim) 'he was raised', المُعلم (etgimat), etc. The two 1-s may be reduced to one in spelling, as in المقدم (أ المُعر =).

The verb is a loan-word from Greek $\pi \epsilon i \sigma \alpha i$ 'persuade'. (The \(\text{\text{a}}\) takes qushaya throughout.) It is used in the aph'el and ettaph'al only. The aph'el and can mean 'persuade, convince, instruct, request', and the pass. ptc. مخصه 'persuaded' or (with -a) 'knowing, acquainted'. The ettaph'al (more usually spelled المُلِاقِيمِ) has the additional meaning of 'consent to, obey'. Examples are:

he persuaded us not to go

⁴ This form is, however, called the ethpe'el in the Compendious Syriac Dictionary.

Vocabulary

Lasa die rise, stand; pa., aph. establish; be high: aph. exalt, lift un abh, raise up, set up 4 curse put, lav judge وي woi shake, move (intrans.); look at (+-=) aph, set in motion owe, be wrong: col repent اهگاهگا foundation (f_{-}) ; pa. convict pl. bắ lỗ \hat{A} priest مُمْنِمُا suddenly شے شکیا near مُثبت wages covenant منعكا movement, quake أُوكُلُّا altar مُدِحسًا

Exercises

Translate into English:

- تَعْمَلُ وَهُنَا / وَمُعَلِّى وَلَا أَمْمَلًا.
- . رَفْدَةُ إِنَّا الْمُعْرِدُ مِنْ إِنْ الْمُعْرِدِ وَمِنْ إِنْ الْمُعْرِدِ الْمُعْرِدِ الْمُعْرِدِ الْمُعْرِدِ
- 3. وَهُ هُكِنَا وَهُلَا وَهُلَا وَهُلَا وَهُلَا مُكُلِّهُمُ مُكُلِّهُمُ وَهُمُ أَهُمَا وَهُمُ أَهُمَا اللهُ مُكَافًى . وَهُلِي مُكِنَا اللهُ مُكِنَا اللهُ مُكِنَا اللهُ مُكِنَا اللهُ مُكِنَا اللهُ مُكْنَا اللهُ مُكِنَا اللهُ مُكِنَا اللهُ مُكْنَا اللهُ مُكِنا اللهُ مُكِنا اللهُ مُكِنا اللهُ مُكْنَا اللهُ مُكِنا اللهُ مُكِنا اللهُ مُكِنا اللهُ مُكِنا اللهُ مُنْ اللهُ مُكِنا اللهُ مُنْ اللهُ مُنْ اللهُ مُنَا اللهُ مُنْ اللهُ مُنْ اللهُ مُنْ اللهُ مُنْ اللهُ مُنْ اللهُ مُنَا اللهُ مُنْ اللهُ مُنْ اللهُ مُنَا اللهُ مُنْ اللهُ مُنْ اللهُ مُنَا اللهُ مُنْ اللّهُ مُنْ اللّهُ مُنْ اللّهُ مُنْ اللّهُ مُنْ اللّهُ مُنْ اللّهُ مُنَا اللّهُ مُنْ ا
 - 4. هَنْتُ وَهُمْ لَكُمُمُ كُمِيمُ مُافِيهِم الْكُنَّهُ وَوَا لَكُمُمُ كُنَّهُ وَوَا لَكُمُمُمُ الْعُمْمُ الْعُمْمُ اللهِ وَالْمُعْمُ اللهُ الله
- 5. في كُور كُون مرحسًا مفأم منقص كه مُعزَع فكه مُاكن كالمخرد فكه مُاكن كريكفاً مؤور.

- 6. مخده اينًا كر خن ولا اعدم حدد هدم الله ومكر مكدا.
 ولا أن ك يعدد كمر.
- مُعده حكتشا الكناه الحدد الكناه على المحملة على الكناء المحكمة على الكناء الكنا
 - ٤. ٤٠ كنّ حُـه كَـهُ أَوْكَ لَـ كُن لَكُ فَاكْمَا عَوْمَك وَهُـ وَهُـ وَهُـ وَهُـ فَعُـ فَا فَكُن الله عَلَم عَلَم الله عَلَم عَلَم الله عَلَم الله عَلَم عَلَم عَلَم الله عَلَم عَلَم
- و. حكى وفكس وَب: لُا شهسفت كه آياه آسر وَدَهَست أَلُو آبِ شَوْم وشهاست كه .
 - 10. أَنُوا لُوا شَمْمُمُمُمُ إِيْلًا كُمِنَّ مُعْلَةً أَلُوا أَنِي أَلَا هُمُمُمَّاً.

Translate into Syriac:

1. Repent, that God may not judge you in his anger. 2. I have laid a foundation, and another foundation than that which is laid, can no one lay. 3. Lift up your heads, o gates, and be lifted (up), you gates that are from eternity.

4. We believe that he who was raised from the dead will also raise us up with him, and will set us at his right hand.

5. You are cursed by the earth which has received the blood of your brother.

6. I am persuaded that I shall not be convicted by the judge.

7. He raised his voice to curse the enemy, but it was a blessing that came out of his mouth.

8. The Lord commanded the Israelites (lit. sons of Israel) that they should not set up covenants with the peoples of the land.

9. Are you acquainted with (use (lit. written things, f.) of Mar Ephrem?

10. He is cursed by all who look at him.

25. GEMINATE VERBS

These are verbs in which the second and third root letters are the same (twins, gemini). They are also called double-te verbs. Generally, in those parts where both the second and third root letters carry vowels, both are written and the verb is conjugated regularly. Otherwise, the latter root letter is only written once and the stem becomes a monosyllable. In dictionaries these verbs are listed (following the 3rd m. sing. pe-al form) as though they had only two letters in the root.

In the pe'al perfect the stem is monosyllabic and has the vowel a. When the the second root letter is a bgdkpt it takes qushaya (a sign of being doubled) only when it is between vowels. The following are the forms for 'plunder' and 'let down':

	sing.	pl.	sing.	pl.
3rd m.	ځا	ځاه	هُد	ځجه
3rd f.	حُدًا	ڪُا	هْدُ۵	هُج
2nd m.	دُ انا	كنان	-	رةلاجة
2nd f.	ڈانات	حُنأُب	خجم	جڤجھ
ıst	حُاْلا	کر	ĄŠÃ	جث

In the pe'al imperfect, the vowel may be o or a, just as in the strong verbs. Curiously, the first root letter is doubled: that is, if a bgdkpt it takes qushaya, as in the pe-nun verbs. The same happens with the infinitive. Thus:

impf.	3rd m. 3rd f. 2nd m. 2nd f.	sing. 1021 1021 1021 1021	pl. رفاعتُ رفت ل فاعدُ رفادُ رفاد
imperative	m. f.	افعا حفا سافع	امحنا مافع, رقافع سآفع, جوآفع
infinitive			مُدنڪَا

In the pe'al active participle, an *alaph* is inserted in the masculine singular (as in the hollow verbs) and sometimes in the plural also. Thus:

The ethpe'el is regular except that in forms where the two geminated letters have no full vowel between them, only one of them may be written. Thus:

In the aph'el the first root letter is again doubled as in the pe-nun verbs. Thus:

§25 GEMINATE VERBS

Some geminate verbs have a palpel and an ethpalpal conjugation. For example from we have have 'confuse' and 'be confused'. These are conjugated like other quadriliteral verbs (§16).

Vocabulary

ڪو	plunder, o	هٔد	let down, o	
	touch, o	همعا	aph. reprove;	
-	aph. love		ethp. be reprove	d
	show mercy (to), o	همه	aph. permit1	A.
•	enter, o		suffer, a	- 35 - 35 - 35
شَارَ	be proved true;	حلا	palpel confuse	Ų
,	aph.confirm	حةا	be ashamed, a	33
ئنځت	beloved	تُصمةنًا	temptation	1
شخص	strong	معةحزئز	thing, matter	ż
•	wall	أصفأنا	basket	
	bone	ؤُشھًا	mercy (pl.)	,
•	vessel, garment,	همة الا	Sheol (f.)	
• •	possession			

Exercises

Translate into English:

- I. وُلُه مَّافِكُمْ وَهُنِمُا وَآوُمَهُمْ كُلِكُم شُوه.
- 2. أَسَفُنُا وَالْمُ أَسْدِهُمُونَ ؛ أَف أُيهُونَ أُسِجُونَ عَبِ كُتُبٍ.
- 3. سَفُنَى وَسُفُسِّ مُلا سَهُرُّهُ وَهُلِكُمْ وَسَفُوا مَى أَكْرُهُ اهُزَا هُلاً .

- 4. أُمَّذِ يُمَّةُ مُ مُن مُعَالِم مُؤْمِهِ وَالْمَا كِنَا. لِمُمَّنَا فُهِمْ مُعَمَّا وَكَافُوا مُ
- 5. أسر شكمُه وُمكسُا: ثَغُا لُا هَقَعه كَهُم كَمَمَكُكُ مَنْ يِلًا.
 - 6. أي ك مَدْهُم أيد: أَفْسَم كُر مُدُمَّلًا دُلمًا وِسُنِينًا هُلاً.
 - 7. أَكْمُتِرُا وَمَكْمُا صُعَفُونَا خُلِهِ فَإِلَى الْمُحَوِِّينَ مُعَ مَفُولًا.
 - 8. مَمْ مُنَى كَمِمَهُ الْقُع مُتهُا هَهَتْاً: وهُفَال أَاحِقهِ قَالَ اللهِ عَلَى اللهِ اللهِ عَلَى اللهِ اللهِ عَلَى اللهُ عَلَى اللهُ عَلَى اللهِ عَلَى اللهِ عَلَى اللهِ عَلَى اللهِ عَلَى اللهِ عَلَى اللهِ
- و. أَسَفُلًا /ِلُمَ شَمَفُ وَنَفَى لَكُمَ مَصَمَلًا وَهُالُةَ وَمَا تَحَوَّ أَلُّا لَيَ الْحَوْدِ أَلُّا لَيَ ا لَقُمَرُهِ لَهِمَ أَمِهُ عَلَيْهِ لَيْنِهِ لَيْنِهِ الْمُعَالِّدِ وَمُعَالِّةً وَمِنْ الْمُؤْمِنِ الْمُعَالِّد
- ١٥. قَمْدُم كُم عَخْدَ لُم أَس وَاحْدَدُ كَم كَم مُنْلُم أَلَا وَأَعَا كُم
 ١٥. مُحْدُم كُم مُكْم أَلَا وَكُم .

Translate into Syriac:

1. The prophet reproved the king because he had taken his brother's wife. 2. Love your enemies and be merciful (use) to those who curse you. 3. The apostle said, I do not permit women to teach. 4. If one (use منز) suffers as a Christian let him not be ashamed. 5. The holy vessels cannot be touched. It is not permitted to touch them. 6. God confused all their languages. 7. The emperor sent his soldiers to plunder the city, and to show no mercy. 8. The apostle wrote to confirm the faith of his disciples. 9. Where is it written that the messiah should (use منز) temptation.

¹ Not to be confused with هيمه (§24).

26. LAMAD-YOD VERBS, I: THE PEGAL

This is a large class of verbs, including many common ones. They diverge the furthest from the strong verbs because the weak final letter of the root has interacted with the inflectional endings. These verbs usually appear in dictionaries as if the last root letter were alaph, and so the quoted form is in most cases the 3rd m. singular, e.g. 'he chose'. But in this form the alaph is really only a vowel letter taking the place of an original yod.'

In the pe'al perfect there are the usual two different conjugations originally corresponding to transitive and intransitive verbs; but in lamad-yod verbs these two look more different from each other than usual. In the transitive-type verbs, like the third radical letter yod does not appear at all in the 3rd m. or f. sing. or 3rd m. pl. In the intransitive-type verbs, like the quiet', the yod is a consonant y in the 3rd f. sing. and otherwise a vowel i. The full paradigm is as follows:

_	sing.	pl.	sing.	pl.
3rd m.	سخا	ریکه	مک	مكنه
3rd f.	رکم	ستجس		مكِ
2nd m.	محت	رفلاني		رةمكم
and f.	رکنگی	رگنگی	مكني	مكمأح
ıst		رگ	مكم	مکے

^{&#}x27;The few genuinely lamad-alaph verbs, like 'console' and 'soil', all pa'els, behave like strong verbs with a final guttural.

There are in addition longer forms for the 1st pl., عنف and مكنة, which are common. Longer forms for the 3rd pl. and عثنه are less common.

Notice the 3rd pl. forms, which have differences from all the other classes of verb. In the masc., the ending a- is pronounced:

ghaw and sliw. The fem. pl. is not the same as the 3rd m. sing. and it is written with seyame.

In the imperfect, the transitive and intransitive types come together. The following is the conjugation of but for the forms are just the same: just the same:

	sing.	pl.
3rd masc.	لكني	رفصري
3rd fem.	اً مخا	ئيخ
and masc.	أسخا	رفض أ
and fem.	أرخع	أززد
ıst	آسفا	ثهذا

Notice that the ending on the 2nd and 3rd m. pl. is -on, not -un as in the other classes of verbs.

The imperative is as follows:

masc.	ریکس	رکه
fem.	الك	وكثب

There is also a longer form of the m. pl.:

Among the participles, the m. sing. ends in J^* . In the other forms a yod appears. As with other verbs, the active participle has an invariable vowel \bar{a} on the first syllable. The passive participle differs from the active only in not having this vowel. Thus we have:

active ptc. passive ptc. m.

The most usual contracted forms of active participle + enclitic pronoun (the 'present tense', pp. 46-7) are:

2nd m.	يثثن	رفاتنشن
2nd f.	تحتظ	ولأنتن
ıst m.	لنشن	رئىئن
ıst f.	يُحنُنُا	كخثق

The following are the declined forms of the passive participle مثل 'chosen':

	masc. sing.	pl.	fem. sing.	pl.
abs.	مذا	رثى	يحنا	کقئے
emph.	تحنا	حثا	مخدأ	تخنأ
const.	سقا	رنتن	تحثه	کخند

The active participle has just the same endings, but it has the vowel a on the first syllable throughout. For 'choosing' we therefore have emph. انظر, cstr. المنظر, cstr. المنظر, cstr. المنظر, cstr. المنظر الم emph. نقش , cstr. وخير , etc.

The infinitive of lamad-yod verbs ends in !'-, e.g. المناطقة المن

Usage. The verb los has some idiomatic uses. (1) In dependent clauses, the impf. of any verb can be replaced by the impf. of low followed by the active participle, as in

They commanded them not فَهُوهُ أَنِهُ وَلَا نُوهُ مَنْ مَعَدَّدَ اللهُ عَلَيْهُ مُعَدِّدًا للهُ عَلَيْهُ اللهُ وَلَا يُعُونُ مَعَدُّدًا اللهُ حُمِمُوا وتُمُّونِ to speak in the name of Jesus. (2) The 2nd person pf. of loo before an adjective or partiriple can have the force of a command or wish:

> farewell (lit. be well) ... you should know that ...

Vocabulary

ممأا	see	Jóon	be, become
حئز	build	j 0	rejoice سبِّت
مؤا	call, read	الخرا	choose
حذا	ask for, seek, require	معثا	hate
إكرا	wish, want	حئز	answer
سكمر	pass. ptc. well, whole;	شكفا	fate
	ethp. be made well	مك	be quiet, cease
زُدال	disgrace	نسه	Esau
خمناا	fortress, palace	اةًا	coin
عُده هُ إِ	Judas²	خَولُا	wrong, injustice

Exercises

Translate into English:

لُا /ُكُر كَى شَكْفًا خَعْدَجُ هُثِهِ قَبِ لَا رُضِيعً.

2. مُنهُ وَهُ وَالْمُ مِنْ الْمُعْ رَبِيا سَكُم أَنْ مِنْ الْمُورُ وَمُ مُنْ الْمُ

3. أَمَّة مَكَ لَكُ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ اللَّ يُرِونُوا رُوهًا لُا مُعَمِّعِينِ لِمُا خَمُعِنَا دِوْلًا رَدِيًا. لُمُعَزِكُم مُحَدُّلًا: ودُامِنًا أَدِنًا مُعَمِّعِهِ أَبِي كَشَجِئًا.

² The proper name of Thomas in the Syriac Acts of Thomas.

- المُكتِّ رفهيا حِنْفُو الْمُثَلِّ بِعُمَاءُ رفهيا حِكْنُ الْمُعْ : الْمُفَوَّ اللهُ .4
 - ى أَسِ وَهَمُّت: حَنْمَهُت وْسَعُم مُحَنِّمِهُ هَلُمُ. مُثُلُا تُوكُونَ: وَلَيْمَ مُثُلًا تُوكُونَ الْمُعَادِ
- 8. أَمَنَ تَحَمَّى حَمَّحَكُمْتَ وَمِوْءَ وَهُوْزًا ثَاهُ وَهُ مُحْمَى وَاتِبَعُونَ ثُمُونَ هُ مُعْمَى حَمْدِ مُحْمَدِ مُحْمَدُ مُحْمَدِ مُحْمَدُ مُحْمَدُ مُحْمَدِ مُحْمَدُ مُحْمُونَ مُحْمَدُ مُحْمَدُ مُ مُحْمَدُ مُحْمُ مُحْمَدُ مُحْمَدُ مُحْمُ مُحْمُ مُحْمُ مُحْمُ مُ
- و. هُمُّهُ مُمُّاهِ مُا . وَإِسَرُّنَا كُنَا حَكَنهُ . فَكُنُم فِي نُسَرًا أُمَثِنًا كُنَا كُنا كُنَا اللّهُ عَلَا كُنَا اللّهُ عَلَا كُنَا اللّهُ عَلَا عَلَا اللّهُ عَلَا عَلَا عَلَا عَلَا اللّهُ عَلَا عَلَيْكُ عَلَا عَل
- 10. حتب من أحق أفسعه فعل وتملُّل من شنطًا لمع أكثُّوا شحرًه ووس.

Translate into Syriac:

1. And the word became flesh and we saw its glory. 2. Sir, I ask that you should see my son, who is ill. 3. If you wish to learn, follow (use عنه) a good teacher. 4. He said to the wind, 'Be quiet.' And it was quiet. 5. We cannot see those (things) that are (use منا المعابية) to be. 6. Judas built the king a heavenly palace instead of the one he asked for. 7. When they read the names of the chosen, I rejoiced to hear mine. 8. The judge wanted to call the woman before him, but no one could find her. 9. The faith is built upon the foundation of the gospel. 10. She was made well, and returned to her house (use is) rejoicing.

27. LAMAD-YOD VERBS, 2: OTHER CONJUGATIONS

Lamad-yod verbs have similarities across all the other conjugations (ethpe'el, ethpa'al, aph'el, and ettaph'al). In the perfect, these verbs have the same endings as the pe'al of the intransitive-type verbs (like). In the imperfect and participles, again, all the endings are the same as those of the pe'al. This is also the case with the imperatives except in the m. sing., which ends in '- in the ethpe'el and otherwise in '-. The infinitives all end in '-.

These remarks may be illustrated by the following paradigm for the verb (Only the pa'el is given in full.)

Pa'el perfect	sing.	pl.
3rd m.	يثخبر	(gabiw)
3rd f.	يُحدُ	بنخة
2nd m.	يَحْدَدُ	رفائدتين
2nd f.	أيشك	بكنكن
ıst	يُحْمِدُ	بغيز
imperfect	•	
3rd m.	اعُدُ	رفعني
3rd f.	آيخا	بثقترت
2nd m.	ايخا	رفضززاً
2nd f.	رگزا	<u>ا گختی</u>
Ist	الكيدا	لگنت
imperative	**	, 4
m,	المخزر	يَخُه
f.	تنش	<u>ریک</u> تی

infinitive participles active m. f. passive m. منهنگ f.

Notice that the active and passive participles are indisting guishable except in the masc. singular. The endings for the declined forms of these participles are just the same as those of the pe'al (§26); thus e.g., مَقَانِكُ 'those who are delivered'

Ethpe'el: pf. سغراً, impf. اعرباً, inf. فغرها, imv. m. ستر از أ f. ستر از ptc. اشر المنه.

Ethpa'al: pf. عَدِلَاً, impf. اعْدِها, ptc. اعْدِها, imv. اعْدِها Aph'el: pf. مُنْهُ أَنْ , impf. أَنْهُ , active ptc. مُنْهُ أَنْ , passive . أيكل imv. مُعينك ptc. مُعينك

Ettaph'al: pf. مَدُلُّ اللَّهُ impf. المُراتِّ اللهُ اللهُ etc.

The verb 11 'come' is pe-alaph (§21) as well as lamad-you The pe'al impf. is Ili; imperative m. Il. f. L; inf. Ili aph'el ('bring') pf. مُدَمُّدُ impf. إِنْكُمْ imv. إِذْمُرُ inf. مُدَمُّدُ aph'el ('bring') pf. مُدَمُّدُ أَنْ

The verb "live' also has some irregular forms. The impf. is نشا (less commonly) : ناها or نشا (the imv. m. سنب f. سنب etc.; inf. مُدامًا, ptc. مُدامًا, The aph'el ('give life to save') has the pf. رُسُم رُسُم , وtc.; impf. رُسُم أَسُم أَسُم أَسُمُ or يُلْكُمْ أَسُمُ at j. imy. . مُعَلِمًا , inf. مُعَلِمًا active ptc. ومُعَلِمًا or ومُعَلَم passive ptc. رُمُعُم

The verb in the pa'el means 'begin' (curiously opposite to one meaning of the pe'al, 'come to rest'). It can be

followed by a participle, as in کند معکلا he began to speak', equivalent to خنی وسطاله or کنی وسطاله منا

Vocabulary

y.	IL?	come; aph. bring	12	live; aph. save
	ومدا	be like; pa. liken	هرإ	pa. save, deliver
į.	IJ,	pa. pray	مة	be worthy, equal;
	هزا	loose, settle, come		ethp. be made worthy
		to rest; pa. begin	ساؤ	ethp. appear
	سه	pa. show	ومدا	aph. put, cast, throw
	٠.	aph. confess, thank	حأا	create; کنونا creator
	مەا	pa. remain, last	وخا	or وفّع be pure;
	مدأإ	fill		pa. purify
	إحرا	ethp. be pleased,	شرة	vision, appearance
		consent		saving, life-giving
ήĹά	مقب	joy, rejoicing (f.)	أؤكرا	seed
ĺĹά	ځد	petition (f.)	۵	woe

Exercises

Translate into English:

- ١. مَعُ وَزُهُمُ مِنْ وَلَامًا تَعَمَّدُهُ تَمْ وَنُوجُ وَمَعُ وَمُعْ مُعَمِّدُ مُعَمِّدُ مُعَمَّدُ مُعَمَّدُ مُعَمَّدُ مُعَمِّدُ مُعَمِّدًا مَا مُعَمِّدُ مُعَمِّدًا مُعْمِدًا مُعْمَالًا مُعْمَدًا مُعْمِدًا مُعْمِدًا مُعْمِدًا مُعْمِدًا مُعْمِدًا مُعْمِدًا مُعْمِعًا مُعْمِدًا مُعْمِعُونَ مُعْمِعًا مُعْمِعًا مُعْمِعًا مُعْمِعًا مُعْمِعُودًا مُعْمِعُمُ مُعْمِعُمُ مُعْمِعُمُ مُعْمِعُمُ مُعْمُودًا مُعْمِعُمُ مُعْمِعُ مُعْمِعُ مُعْمِعُمُ مُعْمِعُ مُعْمِعُمُ مُعْمِعُ مُعْمُعُ مُعْمِعُ مُعْمِعُ مُعْمِعُ مُعْمِعُ مُعْمِعُ مُعْمِعُ مُعْمِعُ مُعْمِعُ مُعْمِعُ مُعْمِعُ
- 2. مدة معنائل حسّ أكدة إن أخل أشب قلا: لمُحة وا وقلاة ب أكب ومُحَمَّدُتُهِ مُولًا مُحَمَّدُتُهِ.
 - 3. خسمهُ عَمْمًا حَمْمًا كَنْسُونُ أَلَا فَعَ حَمْمٍ وَخَامِرُهُ الْأَارِ
- 4. عَنِي مِنْهُ إِلَّمُ كَمُعَرَوهِ وَمَدُرِ هِوْ وَلَرُكُ لِأَوْفِهُ كُم وَصَيَّالًا لِلْهُوْهِكُم وهَيَتَلُأَا

- 5 منه لَهُ خِنْا الْمُونِهِ: سَلَ مُعمَّى مُعَمَّلًا مِفِيهِ وَمُعَمَّلًا فُوْفَةٍ: أَسِر وَلُمُقَلُ مِنْ مُعمَّالًا وَكَنْكُم مِعَمَّا وَلُمِمَوْا كَسَتْنَا الْمُونَ وَكَنْكُم مُكَمِّعِي.
 - مَعْكُومُ أَا وَإِلْاهُا وَمِعْا رَوْمَ الْإِنْفِ وَنَوْمُوا آؤِمُوا كَاوْمُوا. وَاوْمُوا مُعَمَّا لِالْفِ وَنَوْمُوا آؤِمُوا كَاوْمُوا.
 كاه حَفَاؤًا.
 - 7. حَمَّىدَهُ أَمِنُ لَكُمُ وَلَوْدًا ونُعَيَىٰهُ لِلْكُوهُ أَوْدَ لَأَكُو كُومُ الْكُوهُ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ اللّ وكذا فُوهُ لَا مُواهَا وَكُونَا وَسُئِنْكُما .
- 8. ألساب لان شاه ا والهَم كَتَلَمَ وَسَلَا كَمُن وَمِلْن وَالْمُكَمَّم اللهُ اللهُ المُكَمَّمُ اللهُ اللهُ المُكَمَّمُ اللهُ اللهُ
 - و. حَاجَ وَسُبِعًا أَوْمُعُمُ قَاْتِ أَحِدُهِ مُنْ اللَّهِ وَمُعَادَ وَمُعَادَ وَهُمَا مِرْأًا وَمُعَادِ وَمُعَادِ وَمُعَادِ وَمُعَادِ وَمُعَادِدُ وَمُعَادِدُ وَمُعَادِدُ وَمُعَادِدُ وَمُعَادُ وَمُعَادِدُ وَمُعَادُ وَمُعَادِدُ وَمُعَادُ وَمُعَادِدُ وَمُعَادُ وَمُعَادِدُ وَمُعَادُ وَمُعَادِدُ وَمُعَادُدُ وَمُعَادُودُ وَمُعَادُودُ وَمُعَادِدُ وَمُعَادِدُ وَمُعَادِدُ وَمُعَادِدُ وَمُعَادِدُ وَمُعَادِدُ وَمُعَادِدُ وَمُعَادِدُ وَالِكُوا وَمُعَادُودُ وَمُعَادُودُ وَمُعَادُودُ وَمُعَادُودُ وَمُعُمُ وَالْمُعُودُ وَمُعَادُودُ وَالْمُعُودُ وَالْمُعُودُ وَالْمُعُمِودُ وَمُعَادِدُودُ وَالْمُعُودُ وَالْمُعُودُ وَالْمُعُودُ وَالِعُمُ مِنْ مُعِلِدُ وَالْمُعُودُ وَالْمُعُودُ وَالْمُعُودُ وَالْمُعُودُ وَالْمُعُودُ وَالْمُعُودُ وَالْمُعُودُ وَالْمُعُودُ وَالِمُعُودُ وَالْمُعُودُ وَالْمُعُودُ وَالْمُعُودُ وَالْمُعُودُ والْمُعُودُ وَالْمُعُودُ وَالْمُعُودُ وَالِعُلُودُ وَالْمُعُودُ والْمُعُودُ وَالْمُعُودُ وَالْمُعُودُ وَالْمُعُودُ وَالْمُعُودُ وا
 - 10. عَم محمَّم /يهن كمرُكمة لُا شهدَه لا محمَّم المعنى مِأَمه الله المُعَالِد الله المُعَالِد الله المُعَالِد ا
 - 11. حلَّه حُمْدًا أُمُنَا مُنْكَفَرْحَقَ كُم مَةَوْدُنَا وَقُتَا أَل لَحُوا حموني.

Translate into Syriac:

1. She began to read. 2. At that time the city had not been built. 3. Remain here and I will come to you. 4. They laid their hands on the apostles and threw them into prison (use the aph. of be; for both verbs). 5. He likened the kingdom to a man who had servants. 6. Bring your petitions before God. 7. The priest prays that he should be made worthy to offer the sacrifice. 8. I have come because I want to ask for a blessing from the saint. 9. It is not required of us that we should read the whole book. 10. Be pleased, sir, to accept this gift.

28. PRONOMINAL SUFFIXES ATTACHED TO LAMAD-YOD VERBS

Suffixes are attached in the ordinary way to forms of these verbs that end in consonants. With forms that end in vowels, however, there are some variations. It will be easiest to show these by examples, taking each case in turn.

form	method of attachment; examples		
any form ending	The connecting vowel is as usual.		
in a consonant	we saw him		
	she chose him		
\$	let them choose me.		
pf. ending in 1'-	The alaph is dropped and the \bar{a} becomes the connecting yowel		

he called him مأمون he saw you (m.) he saw you (f.).

pf. ending in e^r - An alaph is inserted and the connecting vowel is u.

they saw you (m. sing.)
داهٔ هِ (gba³u) they chose him
they saw you (f. pl.).

pf. ending in w- The yod becomes a consonant and the suffixes are attached as usual.

ربية (ḥawyan) he showed me منه (damyeh) he likened it

مكاثم (aytyeh) he brought him except for the 2nd pls., which are: مُعَمَّدٌ, حِمَّمُةُ he showed you.

pf. ending in 4-

The connecting vowel ā is added.

(ḥzayān) they (f.) saw us

(ḥzayāy) they (f.) saw him

مانيون (ḥzayāy) they (f.) showed it.

pf. ending in a --

The yod becomes a consonant and the connecting vowel is u.

رُهُ (hawyu) they showed it (aytyun) they brought us.

impf. ending in \$7-

The *alaph* is dropped and *e* becomes the connecting vowel, written ...

he will call you
(neglew) let us reveal it
خدمه she will show it (f.).

imperative

The attachment resembles that for the perfect, but there are some differences. This is the paradigm:

infinitive

In the pe'al, the yod of the root appears as a consonant, to which suffixes are attached as usual:

to see him مُسائِّه to call me.

In other conjugations, the attachment is to the 1/1.6- form as usual:

to put it.

Usage. Syriac does not always distinguish what in English are direct and indirect objects of verbs. (Notice how -\(\sigma\) can indicate either of these.) Accordingly, the objective pronominal suffixes are sometimes used for indirect objects, as in:

teach us to pray لَكُفَ كَمَرُكُمُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهِ

Vocabulary

حصا	pa. hide, cover	حوا	pa. accompany
1	reveal, make clear	مدشار	strike, beat
ژحئئا	will, wish	مبم	pa. sanctify
1115	mystery	خُزمُدا	vineyard
éုလ ထ ်	martyr (m.)	مكنأز	crown
عُوجُا	debt, sin	لثمنقص	need
شئب	indebted, guilty	حمكزا	(male) donkey
لمُّةُ قَا	happy are	محمَّمحمُنا	minister, deacon
	$(+ sfx.+ -\Delta)$	؋ ؾؙۿڡؙٳ	testament (f.)

www.malankaralibrarv.com

Exercises

Translate into English:

- و مُدَمِّلًا وَسَامَلُ وَمُصْلِم: لِمُحْتِده فِي لَا سَالُهُ وَالْ سَالُهُ فِي وَالْ سَالُهُ فِي وَا
 - ي رَجْ عَدَا أَهُ كُمِكُونُهُ أَهُ . وَمَ وَج أَهِمُ الْكُم وَالرَّا ؛ لَا أَلَا مِحْهُ مُن وَازُلًا حُلْسَةً وَمِي.
 - و معنزا فَزَعُدا هَرَو دُدرِة بون فام وَعشاهُ بون مأم وهم حقون . وهَيْ لاهِ مُ كَدِّرُه : وقر سَالَةُ بوع أَوْمِعَ مُومِعَ بِكُون مُع عَزِمُوا .
 - إِلَّا يَحْدَمُونُكُ أَلَا أَنَّا يَحْدَدُنُ وِأَوْهُ وَمُعَمَّ فُولُوا .
 - ي دُلا اهْلَا وْإِذَا وَمِدْفَعُ مِنْ فُكِنْدًا أُمِو وْامَّدَ هَكُمْمًا: هَمَّا ومُحمَّس /نُا أُفُحمُو.
 - 6. فعر هُدهؤا ههُ قُلُا رُك، وهُد كُ مُدِّنَ حَكُملًا هُلًا فَعُلا مُحَمَّلًا ويُكِنُوا بِي كُم وَإِنَّا حَنَّمُهُ مُنْكُمٌ وَوَشَعِكُم حَفَّكُهُ تُعِمَّا مئت أأسأم أسترا.
- رُ. سُوْس / و مُحَكُفُلُو مُحَلَّ مُوهَ مُن اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ عَمْدُا وَسَعْم اللهُ اللهُ عَالَى اللهُ اللهُ ع رُبِهِأَا وَامِكُ حَتْنًا.
 - 8. مَنْكُم مُن فَكُم كُم مُنائل دُنُسَ وَالَّهُ فَقُونُسِ.
- و. مَدهُمتُ لُلِكُهُ وَاحدتَى ونُعهُ المحتَدَمُ المُعَدَّمُ وَتَكُمُ اسْتَأَاد لُا حُحمُدًا أَلُو حَادَمُمُ اللَّهُ مُكُولًا يُسَا فُكُلًا: وَدُمُا وْمِ مُسَمَّلًا.
- 10. اهُ قُلُا اهُ فَسِلا رَكِه رُيهِ فِي أَحَقُ وِحَمِعَنُا. لَهُ فَرَم معرب اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ مُلِعَةَ أُمِ. آمَةُ أَرْدَئُمُ: أُمِقَالُ وجُمعَمُ أُكُ دُاؤِذًا. رَقَدَ كُم كسفرا وهؤنفتر عُومُنار. وُهِدُون كُم سُودُي: أَمُفَازُ وَاف سُبِّي محُم حَمُتُحُب وَلَا يُحِكُ حَنْسِونُلُ: ﴿لَا قُنُ مُع خُنْمًا. مُنْكُلًا وَوْكُم مُن مُنْكُونًا وَسُمَالُ وَأَعْدَوْمُ لَا كُنُعُم مُنْكُم .

Translate into Syriac:

You (sing.) have come into the light and the light has revealed you. 2. Unto what shall I liken you, o daughter of Jerusalem? 3. God chose you out of all the nations. 4. The priest brought the book before the king and read it to him. 5. He who has seen me has seen the Father, and how can you say, 'Reveal him to me'? 6. She took the coin, looked at it, and threw it on the ground. 7. When you find the donkey, loose () it and bring it to me. 8. No one knew this mystery. God hid it from human beings. 9. Moses was commanded to strike the rock, and he struck it. 10. He left the city with his friend who accompanied him on his way.

- 4. أَمَفُلُا شَمِفَ وَثَمُكُم رَحَاً صُحًا. وَكَمُلَ شَمِفَ الْأَف كَفَاضًا وَإِنْ وَلَا مُنْفَالًا مُنْفَالًا وَلَمُكُم اللَّهِ وَلَا مُنْفَالًا وَلَمُكُم اللَّهِ وَلَا اللَّهُ اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ اللّلَهُ اللَّهُ اللَّا اللَّهُ اللَّالِمُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّاللَّا اللَّلَّا اللَّهُ اللّ
 - 5. هُزُهُوهِ هَرُو فَكُل لَمُل لَمُنا قَدَه وَحُم كَمْم هُع كَهُ أَوْلُعِ
 متن مُحَمِّم هُم.
 - خلامن كامورا والمكلم حتوما من أسمَسن حقيقًا أسر ماا
 أوحلي.
- 8. مدة معنى / إِنَّا كَمْ حُمْكُمُ مَا أَ مَبْهِمُا: وَنَه فِي حَمْر أَكُوا أَخَا وَدَا وَوَمْمُا وَمَوْمُوا بِلْكُوا مِتَوْمُوا مِقْتُوا: وِجُمْنُوا مَنْ أَنِي .
 كمتوفُوا في الكمال .
 - و. مَحَوُّا وَمَالِيمُا أَلَمُ كُنُ مُمُّاشًا أَوَا تُصَوَّا. وَمَكَانُ عَالَمُ الْمَحَانُ وَمَالِكُمُ الْمُحَالُ مَحْدُوا وَحَالًا. مَحْدُوا وَحَالًا.

Translate into Syriac:

1. 3,428 men. 2. There are two ways from which one shall choose; one is good and the other is bad. 3. On the fifteenth day of the month the city fell. 4. The three of them went into the house. 5. The number of the elect (lit, chosen) was 144,000. 6. All the days of Adam were 930 years. 7. Enoch was the seventh from Adam. 8. The apostles took 153 fish from the sea. 9. He chose twelve that they should be with him. 10. Moses appointed seventy-two elders that they should judge the people.

APPENDIX A PRONUNCIATION OF THE BGDKPT LETTERS

The rule given on p. 11 takes care of most circumstances: a bgdkpt letter is pronounced hard (that is, with qushaya) after a consonant, and soft (with rukaka) after a vowel. The most important exceptions and special cases are covered by the following rules. These rules are not always precise, however, and sometimes the authorities differ.

- I. When a bgdkpt letter is doubled, it is pronounced hard. Doubling is not shown in the script; it belongs to the underlying form of a word. The second radical letter is doubled in forms of the pa'el and ethpa'al, e.g. مُحَدُّمُ qabbel, and in nouns derived from these conjugations, e.g. المُحَدِّدُةُ وَاللّٰهُ وَل
- 2. A bgdkpt letter following a diphthong (ay, aw) is pronounced hard, as in مُعَدُّلُ أَرْجُكُمُّا (مُعَدُّمُ أَلْمُ عُمْلًا اللهُ عَلَيْكُمُ اللهُ اللهُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ اللهُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ اللهُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ اللهُ عَلَيْكُمُ اللهُ عَلَيْكُمُ اللهُ عَلَيْكُمُ اللهُ عَلَيْكُمُ اللهُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ اللهُ عَلَيْكُمُ اللهُ عَلَيْكُمُ اللهُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ اللّهُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُوالِكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلِي عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُ عَلِيكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلِيكُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلِيكُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلِيكُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلِيكُمُ عَلِيكُمُ عَلِيكُ عَلَيْكُمُ عَلِيكُ عَلِيكُ عَلِ
- 3. A bgdkpt letter following an indistinct vowel (shewa) is pronounced soft. These indistinct vowels are not shown in the script. Sometimes it is easy to see that they are present, as in Aid k'tab, had it dehl'ta, and after a doubled letter, as in Aid l'etlabb'bet 'I was encouraged' or mell'ta

(from کے). In other cases, they cannot be detected except by reference to etymology, the shewa being the remnant of a full vowel in an older form of the word. Sometimes it is not clear whether even a shewa remains, but rukaka still applies. Examples are اِجُوْمَةُ 'gold', اِحُمَّدُ 'anger', 'boat'. Such words have to be remembered when they are met. See also 7. below.

- 4. Words having a shewa after the first letter, like مِهُمْ or بهره، keep it when one of the inseparable prefixes is attached. This means that if the second letter is a bgdkpt, it remains soft: thus مَهُمْ and مُهُمْ .
- 5. The L of the 2nd person perfect of the verb is hard even after a vowel, as in هَكُمْ مُكُمْ بُون وَهُمُ 'you were silent'. The L of the 3rd feminine is soft even when there is no vowel before it, as in مَهُمُ 'she killed him'. The suffixes مُعُم are pronounced soft, but hard after the ay of the 'plural' forms; thus مُعُمُعُهُ but مُعُمُعُهُ .
- 6. The L of feminine nouns is sometimes pronounced with rukaka after a consonant (that is, against the general rule). This happens most often when the preceding syllable has a short a or e vowel, as in الْمُعَمَّمُ (and other f. emph. ptcs.), الْمُعَمَّمُ 'sleep'; or after w, as in الْمُعُمَّمُ 'hour'. But there are many exceptions, e.g. الْمُعُمَّمُ 'service'; and some words are attested both ways, e.g. الْمُحُمَّمُ ﴿ الْمُحُمَّمُ.
- 7. Some pairs of homographs are more or less artificially distinguished by qushaya and rukaka, including: الْمُعَاِّهُ 'bow'/ الْمُعَامُّ 'stubble'; الْمُعَارِّ 'leprosy'/ الْمُعَارِّ 'leper'; المُعَارِّ 'mercy'/ المُعَارِّ 'shame'.

APPENDIX B THE ESTRANGELA SCRIPT. DIACRITICAL POINTS

The estrangela script is the earliest form of Syriac writing, being found in all manuscripts before the seventh century, and in many later ones. It is the script in which most scholarly editions are now printed. The following are the usual printed forms of the letters:

These are the stand-alone forms, except for the letters that have final forms: kaph: $\[\searrow \]$ mem: $\[\searrow \]$ nun: $\[\searrow \]$. Final shin may also be cropped on the left: $\[\searrow \]$. The letters connect in the same way as their serto counterparts, except for teth which connects only at the base-line (i.e., $\[\searrow \]$) and semkath which, at least in early manuscripts, does not connect to a following letter (so that we find e.g. $\[\searrow \]$ not $\[\searrow \]$). There is no contracted form of $\[\swarrow \]$. The estrangela script generally presents no special problems to the West Syriac reader, except that it is usually printed without vowel-signs.

Diacritical points. Various kinds of points are found in an unvocalized text to help the reader distinguish among possible readings from a particular spelling. Of these, seyame (plural points) and the point on the feminine suffix in-1 are familiar from their use throughout this book. Of the other

¹ The estrangela script will be used for examples here, but these points are found with all three scripts even alongside vowel-signs.

www.malankaralibrary.com

Two manuscript colophons will serve as further examples of Syriac dates and their conversion.

معملاحه فيميدهم سيء حين معنى سيء عده عددته محصوب مهله عموني مدينه دديه لمة م

This volume was completed in the month Teshri II in the year seven hundred and twenty-three at Edessa. a city of Mesopotamia.

Since the month is Teshri II (November), the calculation is 723 - 312 = 411 CE.

The same calculation may be applied to this modern manuscript colophon:2

ملع حدوق من والمام عمدا الا واحتما حنسا حندا المن اسن حدم سعمجمح برحه حمله المعلا لموتا حتما .

This book of stories was finished, by the help of our Lord and God, in the blessed month Teshri II, on Thursday the fourteenth [day] in it, in the year 2147 of the blessed Greeks.

This date works out to be 14 November 1835.

SYRIAC - ENGLISH GLOSSARY

In this glossary, nouns are quoted in the emphatic state, adjectives in the masculine absolute. Verbs are quoted in the pe'al perefect when this is actually used (except for hollow verbs where the full root is given). This form shows the correct stem vowel (or ?) in the perfect. The English letter a, e, or o following indicates the vowel of the imperfect. Verbs not used in the pe'al are quoted without vowels on the root letters. References to the grammar indicate that more details about inflection or usage may be found there.

₹ āla <u>p</u>	•/ or
مُ August	o' o (vocative)
片 father; §12	رفىڭ ئۇڭ gospel
perish, be lost, a; aph. destroy, lose; §21	اَوْمُوْمُ road, way (f.); pl.
اجُما pass. ptc. المِثَا	دهٔ وَهُ Edessa
mourning; ethp.	اةنمكم Jerusalem
mourn; §21	₩1 go, a; §21
Abraham کے اُم	المرا brother; §12
Adam Adam	الممر hold, seize, close, o;
roof	§2I
wages wages	نسا aph. delay; §21
ltical letter	last, latter; §12 /مسأما
March	منياً other, another; §12

¹ MS British Library Add. 12150, the earliest surviving Syriac manuscript that is dated.

² MS Selly Oak Colleges Library Mingana Syr. 502.

³ Or 25 November 1835 in the Western (Gregorian) calendar.

البارَ hand (f.), cstr. بَدْ; بَدَ by means of; §12 البارَ (f. of البارَ) which, who البارِد emissary

المبر like, as, approximately المبر where

الْكُمْرُ how, as, in order that (pl.) which, who; §4

tree أحكنا

daytime أمككرا

which, who (m.)

المال المعالم المال الم

المُمْرُ honour

⊭⁄ May

A-/ there is, there are; §7

-الْمَهُ like (+ suffixes); §7

مُلا مُنزا accuse, slander

كَمْنَوُا Satan

stranger أحصننا

but; unless

امْكُمُ God

≦∆) if (contrary to fact)

الكيّا September

مُدُّ one thousand; §29

teach; §21 أكف

ركر pe. (o), pa. press, compel, oppress; §21

المُمْرُ mother; §12

amen آهي

مُنا say, a; §21

lamb; §11 أمدأا

when?, sometimes أهُكات

when أمكنا و-

) if

μ̈́2, μ<u>̈́2</u> Ι

(enclitic form of فَافُّ) they (m.)

(enclitic form of مُثْمَ they (f.)

ال مِنْم someone, one; الله مِنْم no one; من مُنْم everyone: §12

مُنْمَا people (pl.); §12

(adj.) human اِيْمُت

you (m.) آيط

you (m. pl.) أيكاف

you (f.) آيک

بِيْمَ you (f. pl.)

الِهَالُّ woman, wife (f.); pl. الْعَالُّ \$12

Haifipa soldier

basket (صعائم

كَشَرُ bind, o; §21 also, even أه

also, even مف

bishop أُفَيهِمَهُوُا

Ephrem /ُفرْعر four; §29

widow (f.) آؤمکناً

اَ ذَكُمُ اللهِ اللهِ إلى اللهِ ا

find, be able; §17

5) pour out, 0; §21

12 come; aph. bring; §27

11/ place (m.); pl. 1651/

⇔ be<u>t</u>

-a in, by, with; §7

be bad, a; aph. do evil; §23

Babylon حُڪْلا

be ashamed, a

blessing (f.) حَوْزِهُمُا

ာ် plunder, 0; §25

between, گنگ between, among; §7

fortress, palace (f.)

evil ڪيم

مَدُ (prep.) between, among (= مُنْدُ)

اَتُهُمُّ مُنَّا (in) prison

Mesopotamia کے اُس تُن

house; §12 حُمْاً

> palpel confuse; §25

alone; §11 كلسة،

without; §11 څکئې

build حُلُا

flesh, meat

ask for, seek, require; §26

petition (f.) کنهٔ اُل

enemy حثد ککا

خد cstr. of إخا; see also خد

person; §12 حَزَنُمُا or كَنْ الْمُوا

son; §12 حنا

create; §27

creator کنونا

blessed حأسر

pa. bless حنر

in the beginning; Genesis
النام daughter; §12

gāmal

after: §11 کُمُ

form, fashion, o

form, fashi

• dāļa<u>t</u>

- ب of, which, who; §7
- ب pa. sacrifice
الْمُحَابُ sacrifice (f.)
نَّهُ العَمْرُ gold

lo, act. part. |6; wretched David وَهُم way of life (pl.) رَهُ (m.) or أَوْمُكُمُّا (f.); pl.place وقَصْمُا , judge; §24 شع, fear, be afraid (+ ه of), afear (f.) وَسَكِمُوا -\(\sigma\); of, belonging to; \(\xi\)7 روم (conj.) but, however (like Greek $\delta \epsilon$) judgement وُسُلُا judge وَمُثَارُ monastery (f.); pl. Lis monk ومأمل testament (f.) وُمُكُمُّا be pure; pa. purify; §28 **1**, without lest, perhaps وَكَمُوا blood; abs., cstr. »، be like; pa. liken; §27 tear (of the eye; f.); pl. وُمَدُن

on he

lo behold 136 (f. of 166) this ethpa. meditate ம்கூறி governor in he; enclitic on; §4 on that (m.); §4 lon be, become; §26 ion (enclitic) was; §14 ason it is (m.) un she; enclitic un; §4 رُم، that (f.); §4 -, won the fact that then الأستراب temple, palace أمحالاً believe; §16 أُمُعُدُ faith (f.) هُمِعُنِهُ أَا thus, so مُحُنّا An pa. walk ប់តំ this (m.); §4 வ்ள they (m.); §4 வ்ள் those (m.); §4 شْ they (f.); §4 شْ those (f.); §4

ှင်းက return, go back, oမြင်းမြို့ကို heretic မြန်တို့ here မြန်တို့ now

• waw

- and; §4 ده woe الله act. ptcs. الله be fitting; §14

1 zayn

seed أَوْذُا

het and

aph. love; §25 beloved مُخبد سدّناً companion; f. اعدال مدر one, a; f. اشم rejoicing (f.) or إنت rejoice; §26 سيّا المنظر new; emph. المنظر; f. emph. Jan pa. show; §27 Eve شه owe, be wrong; pa. convict love سةكا debt, sin محدا look (+-عه at) white شؤة see; §26; ethp. appear vision, appearance June; §29 سأسل sinner شکیا املاً sin

sin (f.; abstract)

living شب live; aph. save; §27 life, salvation (pl.) indebted, guilty مئت animal(s) (f. sing.) مَعَقَالًا **\undersigned** pa. strengthen strength, force, مَمْلًا mighty work wise شخمه wisdom (f.) pe, pass, ptc. well, whole; ethp. be made well shaph. change for, instead of; §11 fate شكفا (male) donkey five; §29 شفع show mercy to, o; §25 الْمِينَةُ groan; pl. الْمُرْتَةُ we: §4 سَدُ سَدُ far be it! strong شهب dispute, contention شنئلا field (f.) عُملًا

suffer, a; §25 کیما reckon, o سقم sister (f.); §12 te<u>t</u> be good; aph. do good; §23 news لَخُوا or لَاحُا لَّم (adj.) good; (adv.)very, very much إِخْطُ good; §28 لَّهُ happy are (+sfx.+ -ك) لَهُ اللهِ blessed one (m.); الْمُسْخُمُّلِ (f.) إذا mountain grace, favour (f.) price (pl.) child; pl. usu. إِذَا يَا child; $f. | \Delta \Delta L, f. pl. | \Delta \Delta L$ childhood (f.) لَكُمُهُأَا taste, a المتع leaf لَمَنْفُوا wod. aph. bring, carry; pa.

transmit; §22

l aph. confess, thank; §27 **%** know; §22; aph. inform, make known give; §22 مُوت Liconi Jew 14601 Judas John حَمَّلُ doctrine مفحفنا day (m.); abs., cstr. عَوْمُ ا . pl. usu الْمُعَادِّ عُوْمُ today توكنا adj.) Greek تەنى give birth to, a; ethp. be born; aph. beget; **§22** learn, a; §22 sea مُعْدا right, right hand (f.) aph. مثم suckle; §22 Jacob, James تعمفت be anxious, take care, a; §22 burn, a (intransitive); aph. burn (trans.); §22

honour; §22

Lii month

Lii inherit, a; §22

Lii Jesus, Joshua

Lii sit, dwell; §22

Lii gain, abound, remain over; §22

Lii more (+ Li than)

Liik especially

ka<u>p</u> ا

الْمُ just, righteous
الْمُ justly
الْمُالُمُ justice
الْمُالُمُ justice
الْمُلُمُ stone (f.)
الْمُ when, while; §10
الْمُمُ priest
الْمُمُ nature
الْمُمُ all, every; §7
الْمُمُ ethpa. be crowned, be martyred

This is the usual way of writing the letter kaph alone. Cf. nun (4) and mem (202).

crown حکاا everything کیا تحریر whoever هُلائِي وeveryone کُلی how much, how many next څـ January فلق استا December كُنة مرسع synagogue (f,) gather, o عثم crowd قَدَمًا aph. reprove; ethp. be reproved; §25 pe., pa. hide, cover; **§28** on ethp. be ill; pe. pass. ptc. onia ill, sick aph. preach; ethp. be preached (adj.) Christian ethp. go around هزر vineyard گزشا womb (f.) فنها write, o book, Scripture مُكُمُا

W lāmad

A to, for; sign of a definite direct object; §8 i not. no. 1 without heart کخا pa. encourage کشی clothing, garment لحذيا be dressed, a; aph. clothe outside; §11 کک (مد) inside; §11 کیے اشعا not (لًا وه =) کے ba, accompany; §28 **4** curse; §24 against: ﴿١١ كُوحُكُ (adv.) first, heforehand toward, around; §7 bread کیما (=) there is not night (f.) x particle indicating direct speech why Lail robber کھکتا

(مَّه) مُنْ above; §11 المَّلُمُ language المُنْ below; §11

xxx mem

what مُدا when مُكا وone hundred; §29 food (f.); pl. ماقكما memra, treatise; §10 be wearisome, a; §23 vessel, garment, possession altar مُرحسًا city (f.) مدمنداً something, what. nothing مُدور لُو or مُدور gift (f.) مُدهُمُ promise مدة لاغنا Moses مدهٔ شا pa. mock Low die; §24; aph. put to death death (m.)

seat مُداخًا strike, beat مشا at once مدسيرا saving, life-giving مُسئ because of, on account of, concerning. -• کیک because; §7 psalm مُدرمدة وَا water (pl.) Aux of Los speak مُكُلًا pa. كله speak fill; §27 مدلا angel مَكْلَاحُا aph. reign king مُحَمَّل kingdom (f.) مُحْمَدُاً speak مُكلا queen مُكِمُا teacher (m.); مُحَدُّفُ أَنْ أَ مُحَلِّل word (f.); pl. مُحَكِمُا from; §7 مُح who; §4 what: §4 مُثلًا who? §4 (مُح روة =) مُعنة

what? §4 (مُدِيَّا ٥٥ =) مُدِيَّة number, numeration منائلاً punishment معمع دأحما (f.) baptism فكمعة وُحِمُّا (f.) cave مدّناً expositor مخممنا اهنا lord, master; abs. اهنا مُدنا .cstr (my) lord, sir (vocative), Mar; f. فرزات , §10 the Lord مُحنيًا Mary مُدامّع measure, age (f.) anoint, o مدهّب oil محمدا Christ, messiah tent, tabernacle مُعمينا minister, deacon محمدهنا army (f.) مُحَمَّمُ ا parable مُحَمَلُا ⊌ nun prophet کیا draw, e

ါ်စေသ် light

fish نؤرًا fire (f.) go down, o; §20 keep, a; §20 April ئىش law نُمدهُ هُما take, a; \$20 temptation نصفاا pour, o; §20 fall, e; §20 نفلا go out, o; aph, expel: **§20** soul, self (f.); pl. نقمما adhere, follow, a; §20 plant (f.) بُحِمُا أيكاراً pl. of الماراً be. (o, a), pa. kiss نقه Www impf. Whi give; \$20 wither and fall, a semkat be, grow old, a; §23

old کمت

pe. (a), aph. think, suppose hope مُعدَا worship, bow down, o (adj.) much, many; pl. مينائي emph. المنهض, pl. التنهض, f. pl. (adv.) much, greatly one pe. (a), aph. testify bood martyr (m.); f. 11.000 put coe ျှိုယ်ရှိတာ (n.) need thing, matter مؤدزًا (adj.) Syriac aside from: §11 شمّه go up; impf. همكُه: **§20** left, left hand (f.) hate; §26 do, perform, visit, o صدنا be enough, a ممكم imv. of مكمه

₩ 'e

festival کَاهُا

тбт

do, make, e; shaph. subjugate servant, slave thing, deed دگرا دخة cross, pass, transgress, heifer (f.) before کُ لًا while still. کُ until (prep. +- \ or conj. +- 9) time, moment, season pe., pa. help شَارُ church (f.); pl. الْمُثَارُ ecclesiastical خُتُانَا help حَمْوِوْلُا wrong, injustice كَمْلًا iniquitous one کَهُلًا خُتُنُا .eye (f.), pl. usu خَملُا Esau **** enter, 0; §25 upon, concerning, unto; §7 لنكم world, age. كنكم

forever

reason, cause, explanation (f.)with; §7 کمر بَعْدا people, nation; pl. كقنقيا بمكر pe. (a), ethp. be baptized: aph. baptize dwell, a دمکن ம் answer dust دُهاُا Friday دُوْدِهُا naked دَلْك flee, o دنو يمًا going to; §23 old خُمُم

9 pe

افْرُاغُ fruit الْمُخُوفُ body الْمُفَعُ mouth الْمُفَعُ commandment الْمُهُوفُ salvation سع persuade, ask; ettaph. obey; §24 isa bind, o

الكناء work, till, serve, o

الكناء soldier

البادة مناء مناء volume (f.)

البادة عمله permit; §25

البادة ولا البادة

şāde

wish, want; ethp. be
pleased, consent
الفي thing, matter (f.)
الفي wish, will
ال pa. pray; §27
مكل crucify, ه
الفي prayer (f.); pl. المقررة في المناطقة في المناط

A gop

Cain مُأس was pa. receive, accept; aph. confront bury, o = holy فُرْسِم before at pa. do beforehand; §16 first, former; §29 هُرهُك pa. sanctify pa. remain, last; §27 holiness, holy things مدُوهًا rise, stand; pa., aph. establish; aph. raise up, set up; §24 offering, eucharist مَهُوْخُنُا truth (m.) kill, o مکا accuse مُكِنْي covenant منخز voice مُلُا

a little, a few هکده

(indeclinable)

SYRIAC - ENGLISH GLOSSARY

المنف person, hypostasis الله call, read, summon; §26 منه draw near, touch, o;

pa. offer; aph. fight

(حُوْمِدُلا or كُم +)

اخنه battle, war عنه near اخنه village (f.); §12 اخنه elder, priest

o reš

بِمَهُو اللهُ بِمَهُ Holy Spirit (usu. m.)

no; be high; aph. exalt; §24
na; love, a; pa., ethpa.
have mercy

mercy (pl.) ؤننمُوا

أشعداً friend (m.); f. أسعداً

head, chief

مدان aph. put, cast, throw فعان way of thinking

Sin

demon خازا

المَاهُ ask, a; pa. interrogate; ethp. decline (+ مُنْهُ); §23; المُنْهُ (غُالِهُ اللهُ greet

let down, o; §25 کم

pa. glorify

February مدی

seven; §29 مک

leave, dismiss, allow, forgive, o

week; sabbath; عُمْمُ اللهِ Saturday (f.)

pa. send

be equal, worthy; pass.

ptc. lae equal; aph.

make worthy; ethp. be

made worthy

glory, praise هدُمار

wall هَوُ

Sheol (f.)

Shiloh منك

see was/

rule (+-عکم over), *a*

be quiet, cease

غنی غلاط silence. غلاط suddenly

apostle مكسنا

lawful مَكْمه

Solomon مكتمني

be finished, a; pa. finish, complete; aph. hand over, commit

peace مكما

امُمْد name; pl. اَمْنِهُ or الْمُرْدِينَةِ إِلَا الْمُرْدِينَةِ إِلَا الْمُرْدِينَةِ إِلَا الْمُرْدِينَةِ إِلَا الْمُرْدِينَةِ إِلَا الْمُرْدِينَةِ الْمُرْدِينَاءِ الْمُرْدِينَةِ الْمُرْدِينَةِ الْمُرْدِينَةِ الْمُرْدِينَاءِ الْمُرْدِينَةِ الْمُرْدِينَةِ الْمُرْدِينَاءِ الْمُرْدِي

heaven; §12 معنا

heavenly حمكني

hear, a.; ethp. obey

pa. serve; ethpa. be done, take place

year (f.); §12

sleep (f.)

beautiful, fine; (adv.) well

be pleasing, a

ا ممّل take, take away, o

be proved true; aph. confirm, believe; §25

loose, settle, come to rest; pa. begin; §27

truly هُنْاً دُالِهِ true. كَأَنْا

truth

Åå six;§29

الْمُهَارِّمُ foundation (f.); pl. اِنْمَارُمُ

silent هُكُمو

be silent. o

Ltaw

merchant

161 breast (m.); §12

col repent; §24 عة again, next. عالم no

longer

Aul see Aul

under: \$7 المناء المناء المناء penitence (f.) انحفأا

Trinity (f.)

evangelize; §16 أكثر disciple أكمنوا

∆1 three; §29

wonder, a امده

July أمدة،

there أُهُد

eight; §29 امْثْلًا

stream أَهُا

لۋے two; §29

second; §29 اؤكي

gate, door أَوْدُا

mind, opinion (f.) أمحف ألم praise, hymn (f.):

pl. اُمحتمُا

nine; §29 المَّ

November أهنا /سأنا

October أهزب هزيع

story, history (f.) أُهنُدُأًا

ENGLISH - SYRIAC GLOSSARY

In this glossary inflected forms are not usually given. For these, and for references to the grammar, look up the Syriac word, once found here, in the Syriac-English glossary.

Α

able, be سمُّم

abound كُمُون

مناشر بنا above

أحزاؤه Abraham

accept has pa. accompany | pa.

according to -1, Ni

مُحُلا هُنزا accuse Adam 🍀 🗀

adhere مقعه

خُمُون after

afraid, be گئو again اهٔ ا

against گھک age (aeon) نكفا

age (of someone) أ

alive مثمه

all -غد + suffix مکم allow

مُكسةو alone

altar مُدردشا

also عُدُ

مُنب amen

مُكلَّاهُا angel anger 1 6;

angry, be 🛶 animals المنطقاً (f)

anoint مدمّس another /

answer مئا anxious, be عُرْف

مناه anything apart from مُمْنَ مُنَّى apostle المكشا

appear | ethp. approximately ... 164

SYRIAC - ENGLISH GLOSSARY

silent هُمُم

be silent, o

Ltaw

col repent; §24

مة الماقت again, next. الماقت longer

ملًا see ملك

الْحَمْدُ penitence (f.)

evangelize; §16 أكثب

المُعَالِ disciple مُكَا three; §29

wonder, a امکده

July أَمْدَةُ ا

there أمكن

اکْدُا eight; §29 اکْدُا stream

two; §29 اۋىج

الله second; §29

gate, door أَوْمُا

mind, opinion (f.)

الْمُحَمَّدُ praise, hymn (f.);

سفا nine; §29 سفا المفاد November

November

من من المنا المنا

ENGLISH-SYRIAC GLOSSARY

In this glossary inflected forms are not usually given. For these, and for references to the grammar, look up the Syriac word, once found here, in the Syriac-English glossary.

A able, be مقت

abound مُكَوَّة above كَنْلَاثْنِي بِنُلاً

أحراثه Abraham

accept 🌭 pa.

accompany | pa.
according to 1, 11

accuse الْمُعَالِيُّ Adam أَوْمِ

ىقە adhere

after خُمُّوٰ afraid, be

against گذه against گذه ک

age (aeon) نُكْمُا age (of someone) مُحَمَّدُهُمُ

alive شب

all - فد + suffix allow مکم

مُكسةً؛ alone

also الم

مُبحشا altar رُمُنہ amen

مُلَّافُوا angel

anger (6; angry, be 12;

animals مُسَمُّدًا (f.) anoint مدهّب

another عنا answer

anxious, be مُرْه anything

apart from apostle

appear | ethp.

cease 🕹

ENGLISH - SYRIAC GLOSSARY

arise معه army الْمَنْهُ (f.)
around, go منه ethp.
as مَارُ الْمُعَارُ الْمُعَارُ الْمُعَارُ الْمُعَارِ الْمُعَارِ الْمُعَارِ الْمُعَارِ الْمُعَارِ الْمُعَارِ الْمُعَامِ الْمُعَمِي الْمُعَامِ الْمُعَمِي الْمُعَامِ الْمُ

В

Babylon عَمْ bad, be هَا مُعْمَدُ baptize بعد aph.; be baptized, ethp.
baptism الْمُعَمَّدُ (f.)
basket الْمُعَمَّدُ (f.)
be so beautiful المُعَمَّدُ because والمُعَمَّدُ because والمُعَمَّدُ because of المُعَمَّرُ مِعْمَرُهُ وَالمُعَمَّدُ because of المُعَمَّرُ مِعْمَرُهُ وَالمُعَمَّدُ وَالمُعَمِّدُ وَالمُعَمَّدُ وَالمُعَلِّمُ وَالمُعَلِمُ وَالمُعَمَّدُ وَالمُعَمِّدُ وَالمُعَمَّدُ وَالمُعَمَّدُ وَالمُعَمَّدُ وَالمُعَلِمُ وَالمُعَمَّدُ وَالمُعَمَّدُ وَالمُعَامِدُ وَالمُعَامِلُونُ وَالمُعَلِمُ وَالمُعَمَّدُ وَالمُعَلِمُ وَالمُعَامِلُونُ وَالمُعَلِمُ وَالْمُعُلِمُ وَالْمُعَلِمُ وَالمُعَلِمُ وَالمُعِلَمُ وَالمُعَلِمُ وَالْمُعُمِّ وَالْمُعُلِمُ وَالمُعُلِمُ وَالمُعُلِمُ وَالمُعُلِمُ وَالمُعِلِمُ وَالمُعِلِمُ وَالمُعِلِمُ وَالمُعُلِمُ وَالمُعِلَّمُ وَالمُعُلِمُ وَالمُعِلِمُ وَالمُعُلِمُ وَالمُعُلِمُ وَالمُعُلِمُ وَالمُعُلِمُ وَالْمُعُلِمُ وَالمُعُلِمُ وَالْمُعُلِمُ وَالمُعُلِمُ وَالمُعُلِمُ وَالْمُعُلِمُ وَالمُعُلِمُ وَالْمُعُلِمُ وَالْمُعُلِمُ وَالمُعُلِمُ وَالْمُعُلِمُ وَالْمُعُلِمُ وَال

become lón
before mia, lí is
beforehand miais; do
beforehand mia pa.
beget is pa.
behind in pa.
behind in behind in believe in beloved in beloved in below, beneath - line,
And, in Annis, and
beside in between Alia, And, in the between Alia, And, in the

bind ¡śɔ², ¡śa
bird(s) ¡śaṣ
bishop ¡śaṣaṃś²
blaspheme a; pa.
blasphemy ¡śṣśa;
bless ¡¡ɔ pa.
blessed one ¡¡śáţ (m.),
¡śaṣaʿáţ (f.)
blessing ¡śaṣaʿ(f.)
blood ¡śoṣ

body المعمر, انرق

bone المنافط مُمُدُا book born, be \sime ethp. كسكا bread breast 16L bring IL/ aph., \aph. hrother 147 huild La burn من intransitive; transitive aph. محة bury في , (لا but الأ اک buy صر می ح- by \mathbf{C} مُأْمِ Cain

Cain حَالُهُ

call الْهُ

can see able

care, take jou ethp., عَنْدُ

carry عمل aph.

cast الْهُ aph.

cause الْهُ (f.)

cave الْهُ (f.)

change (v. trans.) shaph. أحمًا chief child المكلِّف (m.), المكلِّف (f.)childhood المحفية (f.) choose 1 محميدا Christ Christian (adj.) حَنْمُ اللهُ church النبأ (f.) (f.) مذيكاً city cleave شف ىقە cling close 🚣 clothe Laph. clothing المقمل coin liét come 112 ىشىد come down command pe., pa. عةمالًا commandment commit aph. companion مندأ (m.) (f.) حدّناً ا

compare pa. pa.
compassion, have pa., ethpa.
compel // pe., pa.

compel الحر pe., pa
concerning
confess | aph.
confirm aph.

confront aph.
confuse palpel

consent الجار ethp.

consume من أحَدُمُ

convict معمد pa.

correct, be الله

counsel المنافة

covenant منعدا cover مصما pa.

create الما creator الما دروا

cross (n.) دکن cross (v.) دکن crowd المنا

crown مكلًا

crowned, be 🛰 ethpa.

crucify کی

curse (v.) 4a cut, cut off

daughter المنظ (f.) David منة

D

day المُعدّ deacon المُعددُة death المُعددُة (m.)

debt غمة decline ملاقب ethp. deed خدًا

delay نسا aph. deliver (set free) وما pa.;

(hand over) مكم aph. demon المُمَّانِّة destroy عام aph.

die محمد (pf. محمد)

(f.) أحمّراً (

difficult مشم disciple لَمُعَمَّلُ (m.),

disgrace إِذِنَا dismiss محمد displeasing, be هائم dispute الثانية do بضر بنه doctrine المفلف doctrine المفلف donkey المهند (m.), المألم (f.) door المؤلف down, go هما draw بالمها draw near عائم dressed, be هما dust الها

ear الْبُوْرُ (f.)
earth الْمُوْرُ (f.)
eat الْمُوْرُ (f.)
eden الْمُوْرُ (f.)

encourage على pa. كنْحُد

ئمُّت ,دمَّد: dwell

endure محن pay'el محنة حثد حُدًا enemy enter " enough, be ههٔ ه Ephrem مُدُم الله equal اهم equal, be las especially مُنْمُنُولُو اللهِ establish pa., aph. خکما eternity مەنچىزا eucharist أكثر evangelize ينه Eve even (adv.) هُا فلا every فلا انما: everyone

every الفُّ everyone عَالِمُا فَا الْمَانِ الْمَانِ الْمَانِ الْمَانِ الْمَانِ الْمَانِ الْمَانِ الْمَانِ الْمَانِي الْمَانِي الْمَانِي الْمَانِي الْمَانِ الْمَانِي الْمِنْيِي الْمَانِي الْمَان 170

explanation (f.) expound as pa. eye نَـنُا (f.)

F

face القرا (f. pl.) fair : faith أُممُدِيةُ أَا faith far be it! wa. نقلا fall fashion (v.) fate اشكفا father 147 favour (n.) المحقال fear (v.) 12, fear (n.) (f.)fearsome win خاؤا festival a كنا few. a field معملًا (f.) fight a;a aph. مللًا fill أهميًا find

fine à

finished, be fire 164 (f.) first (adj.) قُبِمُن (adv.) کفور (fish المُنا fitting, is på شقم five قصاً flesh tlee دئو follow مقع food 122 (f.) foot $\downarrow \downarrow \downarrow \downarrow (f.)$ for (conj.) for (prep.) -\(\sime\) force (n.) مُعَالُ forgive محم form (v.) 15, fortress (f.) foundation làmba (f.) أوفية four friend المعدد (m.) أحددا (f.)مُخ from فَاؤًا fruit

grace المُحمَّلِ (f.) G ؤحا great يَكُوْ gain Greek (adj.) مُوكُ oarden line (f.) شالا (د)مكنا oreet مُعَانًا ,كحة هُا garment مُعَانًا groan A (f.) أوذا gate (f.) /وذا ground Genesis Ai guard ; in ethp. oift منه (f.) auilty مئثم give مُوم, impf. المُكُلُّ give birth to L: Η glad, be سئا hand $H_{\bullet}(f_{\bullet})$ glorify and pa. hand over aph. glory المحقمة الأسفمة (f.) hasten and saph'el anis go Wil ممنز hate وم down کشم he son يقُم go out head أفسفا go up alam hear معکده God lá兰 کخا heart دام going to heat اشعداً (f.) وold ومخر heaven همکنا لمحت good help (v.) , pe., pa. good, be علم حة وؤنا (n.) help good, do Japh. here مُؤْمُرُ gospel مُكِينَةُ heretic الْمُؤْمِلُهُمُّةُ governor மீவ்வூல்

محُم , مزا (loose (v.)

فارسه ill hide Las pa. ill, be on ethp. high, be >00 شسيا immediately history المنكرة (f.) ، (مُنا هـ- hold in -> holiness المُنْمَةُ (f.), indebted مئت مةوها inform we aph. holy هُنرُمها inherit Li وَهُمُوا وَهُوهُمُ Holy Spirit نەلا injustice (usu. m.)inside (n.) (adv.,honour $(v.) \mapsto pa$. prep.) (متم) ميك أَعْدُا (honour (n.) instead of ... hope (n.)interrogate \ pa. أحطأك Israel house کیکا (m.) أُحِيَّا , أُسِب how

however -3 أنمون James عنمان human (adj.) المناه افزمكم Jerusalem مُدا hundred Jesus مقد hymn المحفيظًا (f.)Jew ئۇۋەر ئەرۇۋىل Jew مەنشىك John I (f.) شَرِهُ أَا joy /ئا ,(ئا I Judas 15001 فأهرًا idol judge (v.) if ﴿ کُمْ ہُرُ judge (n.) وُمُنَا (

مودا how much, many

أمدة كما law

مَكُمْ lawful judgement ومنا مِعِهُوْمِم Judith lav معود اوڪز (v.) lead سأمن June just (adj.) مُل ; justly العرّدأيّا leader خانأح ئگف learn justice الفَالُ (f.) leave هڅم left (hand) مُعَمُّلًا (f.) K أولك lest وألا let down هم keep 💫 letter 1 kill Who life عثا (ρl.) kind (n.) μ مُسِنِّ life-giving مُنكفًا king مُلحة أا kingdom lift up so; aph. light hona kiss va pe., pa. know 🐃 ومُدا like, be aph. ومدا likeness المحققة (f.) امکنات (lady (title) مکنات listen to was أمدرًا lamb مُكُملًا little land أُؤِكُما (f.) live (v.) الم language لَكُمُنا منت living استاب last سةَوْ (ح-) look (at) last (v.) | a pa.

lord إِنْهُ Lord, the المنه المعرف المعرف

M سقد make make known was aph. man jak many حام martyr hous (m.); (f.) هُهُ وِأَا master زُحُل مُعْزُا مُدزمُور Mary (f.) رحِمَّاً (matter بِحَمَّاً (matter measure المحقيدة (f.) شهرًا meat مدامداً memra merchant أشها mercy mercy, show فسعر ; من علم pa.,

ethpa.

محفیدا messiah mighty work mind $|\hat{f}(f)|$ شيئا moment monastery 145 (f.) monk وَأَمْا إِ month کند more (than) (مُنَّى أَنْهُ أَنْهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّ مدة ها Moses mother مُدا (f.)mountain | mourn \alpha/ethp. عةمدا mouth move (v. trans.) was aph. movement ង់ចាំ much 👡 🚓 mystery III

N naked كَنْهُ name معد nation كنا nature مثا

مُنْح near

O

o! i/, i/
obey هم ethp.

of
offer عنه pa.

offering الْكُنْهُ

oil الْمُعَمُّ

old عمد عندُنُ

P

palace الْعَنَّةُ; الْنَتُ (f.)

parable الْمُنْهُ

peace الْعُلُم

penitence الْمُحِنَّا (f.)

people الْمُنْرُ سِتَّةً الْمُنَّةُ

perform نَصَّةً

perhaps الْمُكِنُ

perish بِحُرُ

permit هم aph.

person (of the Trinity)

الْمُعُنّة

petition الْمُحُدُ (f.)

place اَوْمُ أَرِّا , اَوْمُوْمُ (f.) plant (v.) مؤها plant (n.) نُرحمُا (f.)معَة: pleasing, be pleased, be ethp. plunder 5 لکم pour pour out 🛋 مصلًا power مؤحشا praise المحفسلا (f.)pray | pa. prayer المفأا preach عنه aph. preserve press \\\ pe., pa. لتموا price priest لأوفا فيما في في في المناطقة ال prison المُعَدِّلُ مُعَالِّ promise (v.) مدلم مدة كفيًا (n.) مدة كفيًا بخيًا prophet مُدامدة وا psalm معشم حزيمًا punishment

pure اَوْمِهُمْ بَرِهُمْ pure, be اِهْمُ or مُعْمَّ purify اِهْمُ pa.

put معمر بعد aph.

queen المحمدة (f.) quiet, be محمد

R

raise was aph., we; aph., aph.

read إنه reason المُكنَّ (f.)
receive همه pa.
reckon منه reckon refuse همه aph.
reign معلى aph.
rejoice ابسه rejoicing (n.) المُعَنِّ (f.)
remain اهم pa.
remain over المُكنَّة repent عمل

aph. فحص

حدًا require ەقىر return reveal L right if right (hand) مُعْمِنُا (f.) righteous رَقُل , أَوْسِهِ righteousness اُوْمِهُمُا (f.) rise saa rise (of the sun) ونَّب river أناه road المُؤمِّد (f.) robber کمکنا وَوِهُ مُكِّ Rome Roman (adj.) نوهوه roof run ഺ഻ഩഀൎ

S
sabbath الْمَحْمُ
sacrifice (v.) عب pe., pa.
sacrifice (n.) الْمَحَمُّ (f.)
saint الْمُحَمَّةُ (m.); الْمُحَمَّةُ
(f.)
sake of, for the

فَوْوْمُنُا مِنْنَا salvation sanctify هره pa. save __aph. e:a مُدمت saving فَوْهُا saviour sav المكنا sea نما see lim أَوْدُا seed حدًا seek seize -مراكب هد self يُهمُا (f.) sell 😝 þa. send ; pa. separate (v.) مُحرِّ servant serve عمد pa., عكت service lasal (f.) set was set up aph. settle | seven سکم shake (intransitive) wor: (transitive) aph.

she 🛶 son احرا shed (blood) هُمُ soul نُعمُا (f.) Sheol Wana speak w pa. Wis show | pa. مُوامِدُا speech shut ہے۔ spirit 126; (f.); see also Holy Spirit sick منع stand as sick, be on ethp. stay | o pa. side | A stone (n.) فَافُا (f.) مُذَمنه silent story |أهندأ (f.) silent, be ala أحصننا stranger $\sin(n.)$ | f. no pl.), عَمْلُا strength املام strengthen __ pa. sing in pe., pa. مُدن sir stretch out aph. شماً sister سُخْمہ strong ئڭد sit subjugate ... shaph. six 🕰 suppose := pe., aph. sleep المُنكُ (f.) suckle an aph. مُكُمالا slightly شی شکیا suddenly احدة small suffice مفقه مكنعني Solomon مندها suffer soldier المُعَلِّمُ بِهُمَارُ , الشكفُ غسمًا sun /نما someone synagogue منهٔ عنه (f.) Syriac (adj.) حمة وناس منزه something (n.) معة وغفا

T these کے they فَاهُ, فَا(m.)) أَنْهُ, أَقْلُمُ أَنْهُ rake صغر اللهم (f.) /ثب rake place and ethpa. thing احدًا (f.), taste (v.) علم مهمئنا teach گگ think sam; ; sam pe., aph. teacher مكلفنا (m.) this $|\mathbf{j}_{0}(m.)|$, $|\mathbf{j}_{0}(f.)|$ (f.) مُكِفِينُهُا those ရဲဖော် (m.), ရုပ်စုံ (f.)مة كفنا , مُحكفة أا teaching thousand \\\\/ tear (of the eye) ومديدًا (f.) three WL . aph مبد الأمكن tell مبد throw ومدا aph. المُحَالُ temple thus أُفْتُا تصمهٔ را temptation دك (v.) till دکھے: ten time يُمْنُا ,أَحْنُا ten thousand وُحهُ (f.) to -2. Lá2 تحميل tent تومُنا today testify , on pe., aph. مُحزّا tomb thank | aph. touch 👞 that of (m.), where (f.)towards Las that (conj.) -9 دگه transgress then جُمْني, مُمْني transmit _ pa. اًمُح there tree /ـكنا there is A. Trinity الكلمُونُا (f.) there is not & true ننه شَكِيلًا وُلُو therefore true, be proved :...

truth lie, las (m.)two $-\frac{1}{2}$ (m.), $-\frac{1}{2}$ $\frac{1}{2}$ (f.)

U

under منه المنها بالمنها بالمنها بالمنها unless بالمنها (+ -ک or -ه) بالمنها بالمنها

 \mathbf{v}

W

wail \(\square aph.\)

wages \(\sqrt{1} \)

walk \(\sqrt{2} op a.\)

wall \(\sqrt{3} \)

want \(\sqrt{3} \)

war \(\sqrt{3} \)

water \(\sqrt{3} \)

water \(\sqrt{3} \)

way 466/ (f.) way of life افحة (pl.) we بِسُلِّے, مِسْلِّے wearisome, be مثل week | (f.) well (adv.) عقد ا سكمر (well (in health) سكمر well, be made ... ethp what مُحْرُم مُحُل مُحُلُّ مُحُدُّ بِهُ مُحَالِي مُحُلِّ بِهُ اللهِ عَلَيْ اللهِ عَلَيْ اللهِ عَلَيْ اللهِ عَل شهر (و-) زمُعل و- زهر when where Lá / which $\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{m}$, $\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{f}$ (pl.) آسکت پ کے کہ while شهٔو white مُد who whole -غذ + suffix why لكنا widow أَوْمُكِكُمُّا (f.) wife المُعارِّ (f.) will (n.) إُحمُنُا wind نَوْمُنُا (f.)

wisdom (f.) شعمدگار (f.)

wise with

wish (v.) اخن wish (n.) اخن with -ع, مث within (حَمُّ) مَنِّ without الْمُؤ word الْمُؤَ word الْمُمُنَّ word الْمُمُنَّ word الْمُمُنْ (f.) world المُكنّف worship (v.) برخم worthy, be المُم wrath المُرَّخُ wretched المُؤْخُ write مُكُم wrong (n.) المُكْ

Y year الْمَيْفِ you sing. هَيْرٌ (m.), مَدِيْرٌ (f.); pl. رُبُيْنِ (m.), مِثْدِيْرٌ (f.)